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                OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA & SUBSIDIARIES 

                         CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

                          (IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS) 

                                  (UNAUDITED) 

 

 

 

                                              ---------------------------------- 

                                                 JANUARY 31        JULY 31 

ASSETS                                              1999             1998 

                                              ---------------------------------- 

                                                              

CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and Cash Equivalents                         $  7,399         $  9,410 

Investment Securities                                1,225            1,173 

Accounts Receivable                                 28,341           24,561 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts                       (387)            (351) 

Inventories                                         13,025           13,258 

Prepaid Expenses and Taxes                           6,102            5,558 

                                                  --------         -------- 

            TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS                    55,705           53,609 

                                                  --------         -------- 

 

 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - AT COST 

Cost                                               129,853          126,378 

Less Accumulated Depreciation and 



  Amortization                                     (67,447)         (63,493) 

                                                  --------         -------- 

            TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT 

            AND EQUIPMENT, NET                      62,406           62,885 

                                                  --------         -------- 

 

 

OTHER ASSETS 

Goodwill & Intangibles (Net of 

  Accumulated Amortization)                          9,571            8,963 

7Deferred Income Taxes                                3,740            3,697 

Other                                                4,783            5,061 

                                                  --------         -------- 

             TOTAL OTHER ASSETS                     18,094           17,721 

                                                  --------         -------- 

 

TOTAL ASSETS                                      $136,205         $134,215 

                                                  ========         ======== 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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                OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA & SUBSIDIARIES 

                         CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

                          (IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS) 

                                  (UNAUDITED) 

 

 

 

                                            --------------------------------- 

                                              JANUARY 31        JULY 31 

LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY               1999             1998 

                                            --------------------------------- 

                                                          

CURRENT LIABILITIES                                           

- ------------------- 

Current Maturities of Notes Payable            $   3,280       $   2,084 

Accounts Payable                                   4,093           4,416 

Dividends Payable                                    492             444 

Accrued Expenses                                   9,621          10,024 

Special Charge Reserve                               296             358 

                                               ---------       --------- 

            TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES             17,782          17,326 

                                               ---------       --------- 

 

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 

Notes Payable                                     39,130          39,976 

Deferred Compensation                              3,048           3,174 

Other                                              2,213           1,931 

                                               ---------       --------- 

            TOTAL NONCURRENT LIABILITIES          44,391          45,081 

                                               ---------       --------- 

            TOTAL LIABILITIES                     62,173          62,407 

                                               ---------       --------- 

 

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Common and Class B Stock                             724             724 

Paid-In Capital in Excess of Par Value             7,702           7,702 

Restricted Unearned Stock Compensation               (29)            (51) 

Retained Earnings                                 88,531          85,158 

Cumulative Translation Adjustment                 (1,191)         (1,151) 

                                               ---------       --------- 

                                                  95,737          92,382 

Less Treasury Stock, At Cost                     (21,705)        (20,574) 

                                               ---------       --------- 

            TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY            74,032          71,808 

                                               ---------       --------- 

 

TOTAL LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY       $ 136,205       $ 134,215 

                                               =========       ========= 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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                      OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA & SUBSIDIARIES 

                 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS 

                       (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 

                                       (UNAUDITED) 

 

 

 

 

                                                               ----------------------------------- 

                                                                    FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 

                                                                           JANUARY 31 

                                                               ----------------------------------- 

                                                               ----------------- ----------------- 

                                                                                   

                                                                     1999              1998 

 

                                                               ----------------- ----------------- 

 

NET SALES                                                           $   91,105        $   80,661 

Cost Of Sales                                                           61,812            55,467 

                                                                    ----------        ---------- 

GROSS PROFIT                                                            29,293            25,194 

Selling, General And Administrative Expenses                            21,961            18,700 

Special Charge                                                              --             3,129 

                                                                    ----------        ---------- 

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS                                                   7,332             3,365 

 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) 

    Interest Expense                                                    (1,594)             (801) 

    Interest Income                                                        260               217 

    Other, Net                                                              21              (297) 

                                                                    ----------        ---------- 

        TOTAL OTHER EXPENSE, NET                                        (1,313)             (881) 

                                                                    ----------        ----------  

 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES                                               6,019             2,484 

Income Taxes                                                             1,715               708 

                                                                    ----------        ---------- 

NET INCOME                                                               4,304             1,776 

 

RETAINED EARNINGS 

    Balance at Beginning of Year                                        85,158            82,243 

    Less Cash Dividends Declared                                           948               920 

                                                                    ----------        ---------- 

 

RETAINED EARNINGS - JANUARY 31                                      $   88,514        $   83,099 

                                                                    ==========        ========== 

NET INCOME PER SHARE: 

  BASIC                                                             $     0.73        $     0.28 

                                                                    ==========        ========== 

  DILUTIVE                                                          $     0.72        $     0.28 

                                                                    ==========        ========== 

AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING: 

  BASIC                                                                  5,862             6,267 

                                                                    ==========        ========== 

  DILUTIVE                                                              5,979             6,308 

                                                                    ==========        ========== 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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                      OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA & SUBSIDIARIES 

                 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS 

                       (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 

                                       (UNAUDITED) 

 

 

 

 

                                                               ----------------------------------- 

                                                                   FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED 

                                                                           JANUARY 31 

                                                               ----------------------------------- 

                                                               ----------------- ----------------- 

                                                                                   

                                                                     1999              1998 

 

                                                               ----------------- ----------------- 

 

NET SALES                                                           $   47,435        $   40,912 

Cost Of Sales                                                           32,227            27,616 

                                                                    ----------        ---------- 

GROSS PROFIT                                                            15,208            13,296 

Selling, General And Administrative Expenses                            11,385             9,875 

Special Charge                                                              --             3,129 

                                                                    ----------        ---------- 

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS                                                   3,823               292 

 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) 

    Interest Expense                                                      (802)             (362) 

    Interest Income                                                        116               105 

    Other, Net                                                              46              (152) 

                                                                    ----------        ---------- 

        TOTAL OTHER EXPENSE, NET                                          (640)             (409) 

                                                                    ----------        ----------  

 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES                                               3,183              (117) 

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)                                               907               (20) 

                                                                    ----------        ---------- 

NET INCOME (LOSS)                                                        2,276               (97) 

 

NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE: 

  BASIC                                                             $     0.39        $    (0.02) 

                                                                    ==========        ========== 

  DILUTIVE                                                          $     0.38        $    (0.02) 

                                                                    ==========        ========== 

AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING: 

  BASIC                                                                  5,843             6,259 

                                                                    ==========        ========== 

  DILUTIVE                                                               6,055             6,286 

                                                                    ==========        ========== 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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                       OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA & SUBSIDIARIES 

                           CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

                                  (IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS) 

                                        (UNAUDITED) 

 

 

                                                                     --------------------------------- 

                                                                         FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 

                                                                                JANUARY 31 

                                                                     --------------------------------- 

                                                                     --------------------------------- 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES                                      1999             1998 

- ------------------------------------                                                            

                                                                     ---------------- ---------------- 

                                                                                       

NET INCOME                                                                 $   4,304        $   1,776 

 

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash 

  Provided by Operating Activities: 

    Depreciation and Amortization                                              4,261            3,844 

    Non-cash special charges                                                      --            2,389 

    Provision for bad debts                                                       39               34 

    (Increase) Decrease in: 

        Accounts Receivable                                                   (3,783)          (3,433) 

        Inventories                                                              233             (896) 

        Prepaid Expenses and Taxes                                              (544)          (1,501) 

        Deferred Income Taxes                                                    (43)              12 

        Other Assets                                                            (556)             (25) 

    Increase (Decrease) in: 

        Accounts Payable                                                        (322)             813 

        Accrued Expenses                                                        (402)             898 

        Deferred Compensation                                                   (126)              15 

        Special Charge Reserve                                                   (62)              -- 

        Other                                                                    281              202 

                                                                           ---------        --------- 

             TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS                                                (1,024)           2,352 

                                                                           ---------        --------- 

    NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES                                  3,280            4,128 

                                                                           ---------        --------- 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

    Capital Expenditures                                                      (3,565)          (2,898) 

    Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment                           22                4 

    Purchases of Investment Securities                                        (1,225)            (190) 

    Dispositions of Investment Securities                                      1,173              181 

    Proceeds from sale of Investments                                             --              709 

    Other                                                                        (14)             (18) 

                                                                           ---------        --------- 

    NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES                                     (3,609)          (2,212) 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

    Principal Payments on Long-Term Debt                                         (51)          (1,851) 

    Proceeds from Issuance of Long-Term Debt                                     400               -- 

    Dividends Paid                                                              (883)            (931) 

    Purchases of Treasury Stock                                               (1,131)          (3,053) 

    Other                                                                        (17)             (29) 

                                                                           ---------        --------- 

    NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES                                     (1,682)          (5,864) 

                                                                           ---------        --------- 

 

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS                                     (2,011)          (3,948) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR                                   9,410            9,997 

                                                                           ---------        --------- 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, JANUARY 31                                      $   7,399        $   6,049 

                                                                           =========        ========= 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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                OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA & SUBSIDIARIES 

                  NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

                                 (UNAUDITED) 

 

 

 

1. BASIS OF STATEMENT PRESENTATION 

 

The financial statements and the related notes are condensed and should be read 

in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes for 

the year ended July 31, 1998, included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 

10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and 

its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions are eliminated. 

 

The unaudited financial information reflects all adjustments which are, in the 

opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the statements 

contained herein. 

 

2. INVENTORIES 

 

The composition of inventories is as follows (in thousands): 

 

 

                                         ----------------------------- 

                                           JANUARY 31      JULY 31 

                                          (UNAUDITED)    (UNAUDITED) 

                                         ----------------------------- 

                                              1999          1998 

                                         ----------------------------- 

                                                       

          Finished goods                     $  7,568       $  7,935 

          Packaging                             4,149          4,220 

          Other                                 1,308          1,103 

                                             --------       -------- 

                                             $ 13,025       $ 13,258 

                                             ========       ======== 

 

 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the 

first-in, first-out method. 
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3.    SPECIAL CHARGE 

 

The Company recorded a pre-tax special charge of $3,129,000 during the second 

quarter of last year to cover the cost of exiting the transportation business 

($1,508,000), to write off certain other non-performing assets ($932,000), and 

to cover other exit costs ($689,000). The transportation business exit costs 

consisted primarily of trailer rehabilitation, employee severance, and 

professional fees. None of these items was individually significant. At January 

31, 1999, $296,000 of the special charges remained in current liabilities. A 

summary of the balance sheet activity for both years is presented below (in 

thousands): 

 

 

                                                            

 

          Reserve Balance at January 31, 1998                 $ 3,129 

          Fiscal year 1998 activity: 

            Transportation business exit costs                  1,440 

            Write-off of non-performing assets                    808 

            Other exit costs                                      523 

                                                             -------- 

          Balance at July 31, 1998                                358 

 

          Fiscal Year 1999 activity: 

            Transportation and business exit costs                 74 

            Write-off of non-performing assets                    (12) 

            Other exit costs                                        0 

                                                             -------- 

          Balance at January 31, 1999                         $   296 

                                                             ======== 

 

 

4.  NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

 

The company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 128, 

"Earnings Per Share" during the second quarter of 1998. This standard prescribes 

the methods of calculating basic and diluted earnings per share and requires 

dual presentation of these amounts on the face of the income statement. 

 

In June 1997, SFAS No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income" and SFAS No. 131, 

"Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information" were 

issued. SFAS No. 130 establishes standards for the reporting of comprehensive 

income and its components in a financial statement presentation. SFAS No. 130 

separates comprehensive income into net income and other comprehensive income, 

but does not change the measurement and presentation of net income. Other 

comprehensive income includes certain changes in the equity of the Company which 

are currently recognized and presented separately in the Consolidated Statements 

of Stockholders' Equity, such as the change in the Cumulative Translation 

Adjustment account. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 130 in the fourth quarter of 

fiscal 1999. 

 

SFAS No. 131 establishes new standards for the way companies report information 

about operating segments and requires that those enterprises report selected 

information about operating segments in the financial reports issued to 

shareholders. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 131 in the fourth quarter of 

fiscal 1999. 

 

 

 



 9 

 

 

5.  ACQUISITION 

 

On April 20, 1998, the Company completed the purchase of the Fuller's Earth 

absorbent business of American Colloid Co., a wholly owned subsidiary of Amcol 

International, for $14,657,000 including transaction expenses. The purchase 

includes a production plant and mineral reserves in Mounds, Illinois (Oil-Dri 

Mounds Production Company), and mineral reserves located in Paris, Tennessee, 

and Silver Springs, Nevada. The business has annual sales approximating 

$15,000,000. The Company financed the acquisition through a fixed-rate private 

debt placement. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase, with the excess 

purchase price over fair market value of the underlying assets allocated to 

intangibles, including supply contracts and non-compete covenants. These 

intangibles are being amortized over 15 years. 

 

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

SIX MONTHS ENDED JANUARY 31, 1999 COMPARED TO 

SIX MONTHS ENDED JANUARY 31, 1998 

 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

Consolidated net sales for the six months ended January 31, 1999 were 

$91,105,000, an increase of $10,444,444 or 12.9%, over net sales of $80,661,000 

in the first six months of fiscal 1998. Excluding the $2,373,000 of fiscal 1998 

sales from the transportation business, which was divested last year, sales 

increased 16.4% in the first six months of fiscal 1999 versus fiscal 1998. Net 

income for the six months ended January 31, 1999 was $4,304,000, an increase of 

$2,528,000 or 142.3% from $1,776,000 earned in last year's first six months. 

Basic net income per share for the six months ended January 31, 1999 was $0.73 

and diluted net income per share was $0.72, versus $0.28 per share (basic and 

diluted) earned in the same period last year. A significant portion of the 

year-to-year increase in earnings and earnings per share was due to a special 

charge recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 1998 to cover the costs of 

exiting the transportation business and writing off certain non-performing 

assets. This charge reduced income before taxes by $3,129,000, net income by 

$2,237,000 and earnings per share by $0.36 for the six months ended January 31, 

1998. 

 

Net sales of pet products increased $9,229,000 or 18.8% from prior year amounts, 

primarily due to incremental sales from Oil-Dri Mounds Production Company, 

partially offset by the loss of sales to Sam's Club, which decided to 

discontinue carrying the Company's cat litter products in fiscal 1998. Net sales 

of agricultural and fluids purification products increased $1,654,000 or 8.5% 

from the comparable period in fiscal 1998. The higher sales resulted from 

increased demand for the family of animal health and nutrition products, as well 

as increased demand for PURE-FLO(R) products in the United Kingdom. Net sales of 

industrial and environmental sorbents increased $1,994,000 or 20.6% from last 

year's first six months due to incremental sales from last year's acquisition of 

Oil-Dri Mounds Production Company. 

 

Consolidated gross profit as a percentage of net sales for the six months ended 

January 31, 1999 increased to 32.2% from 31.2% in the comparable period  

 



 10 

 

of fiscal 1998. Changes in sales mix, a Company-wide effort to reduce costs and 

exiting the transportation business contributed to this increase. 

 

Operating expenses as a percentage of net sales decreased to 24.1% in the first 

six months of fiscal 1999 from 27.1% in the same period of the prior year due to 

the pre-tax special charge of $3,129,000 recorded in the second quarter of 

fiscal 1998. 

 

Interest expense increased $793,000 due to the fixed-rate financing secured 

during the third quarter of fiscal 1998, which was used to fund the purchase of 

Oil-Dri Mounds Production Company. 

 

The Company's effective tax rate was 28.5% of pre-tax income in the first six 

months of fiscal 1999 and fiscal 1998. 

 

The assets of the Company increased $1,990,000 or 1.5% during the first six 

months of fiscal 1999. Current assets increased $2,096,000 or 3.9% from fiscal 

1998 year end balances primarily due to increased accounts receivable. Property, 

plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, decreased $479,000 or 0.8% 

during the first six months due to depreciation expense exceeding capital 

expenditures. 

 

Total liabilities in the six months ended January 31, 1999 decreased $234,000 or 

0.4% primarily due to decreases in accounts payable and advertising related 

accruals, partially offset by the acquisition of $400,000 of new long-term debt. 

Current liabilities increased $456,000 or 2.6% from July 31, 1998 balances, due 

to increased current maturities of notes payable, partially offset by the 

decrease in accounts payable and advertising related accruals. 

 

EXPECTATIONS 

 

The Company anticipates sales during the remainder of fiscal 1999 will be higher 

than sales in the comparable period of fiscal 1998. Sales of branded cat box 

absorbents are expected to increase moderately as existing products and new 

product introductions gain incremental distribution. Sales of private label cat 

box absorbents, agricultural carriers, and industrial sorbents in the rest of 

fiscal 1999 are also expected to be at higher levels than the comparable period 

of fiscal 1998 due to incremental sales resulting from the April 20, 1998 

acquisition of Oil-Dri Mounds Production Company. However, sales growth of cat 

box absorbents is subject to continuing competition for shelf space in the 

grocery, mass merchandiser and club markets. Sales of the Company's fluids 

purification products are also expected to increase moderately throughout the 

remainder of the fiscal year. 

 

The foregoing statements under this heading are "forward-looking statements" 

within the meaning of that term in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended. Actual results may be lower than those reflected in these 

forward-looking statements, due primarily to: continued vigorous competition in 

the grocery, mass merchandiser and club markets; the level of success of new 

products; and the cost of new product introductions and promotions in consumer 

markets. These forward-looking statements also involve the risk of changes in 

market conditions in the overall economy and, for the agricultural and fluids 

purification division, in the planting activity, crop quality and overall 

agricultural demand, including export demand. 
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 

The current ratio was 3.1 at January 31, 1999 and July 31, 1998. Working capital 

increased $1,640,000 during the six months ended January 31, 1999 to 

$37,923,000. Cash provided by operations continues to be the Company's primary 

source of funds to finance ordinary investing needs and financing activities. 

During the six months ended January 31, 1999 the balances of cash, cash 

equivalents and other investments decreased $1,959,000. Cash provided by 

operating activities of $3,280,000 and $400,000 of newly acquired long-term debt 

were used to fund capital expenditures ($3,565,000), purchases of the Company's 

common stock ($1,131,000), and payment of dividends ($883,000). Total cash and 

investment balances held by the Company's foreign subsidiaries at January 31, 

1999 and July 31, 1998 were $2,493,000 and $3,350,000 respectively. 

 

 

THREE MONTHS ENDED JANUARY 31, 1999 COMPARED TO 

THREE MONTHS ENDED JANUARY 31, 1998 

 

Consolidated net sales for the three months ended January 31, 1999 were 

$47,435,000, an increase of $6,523,000 or 15.9%, over net sales of 

$40,912,000 in the second quarter of fiscal 1998.  Excluding transportation 

sales of $447,000 in the second quarter of fiscal 1998, sales increased 17.2% 

for fiscal 1999 versus fiscal 1998.  Net income for the three months ended 

January 31, 1999 was $2,276,000, an increase of $2,373,000 from ($97,000) 

earned in last year's quarter.  Basic net income per share for the three 

months ended January 31, 1999 was $0.39 and diluted net income per share was 

$0.38, versus ($0.02) per share (basic and diluted) earned in the same period 

last year.  A significant portion of the year-to-year increase in earnings 

and earnings per share was due to a special charge recorded in the second 

quarter of fiscal 1998 to cover the costs of exiting the transportation 

business and writing off certain non-performing assets.  This charge reduced 

income before income taxes by $3,129,000, net income by $2,237,000 and 

earnings per share by $0.36 for the three months ended January 31, 1998. 

 

Net sales of pet products increased $6,053,000 or 24.0% from prior year 

amounts, for the same reasons previously discussed in the six-month 

comparison of results.  Net sales of agricultural and fluids purification 

products decreased $31,000 or 0.3% from the comparable period in fiscal 

1998.  The lower sales resulted from decreased demand in the quarter for the 

family of animal health and nutrition products, partially offset by increased 

demand for PURE-FLO(R) and ULTRA CLEAR(R) products.  Net sales of industrial and 

environmental sorbents increased $930,000 or 19.4% from last year's second 

quarter for the same reasons discussed previously in the six-month comparison 

of results. 

 

Consolidated gross profit as a percentage of net sales for the three months 

ended January 31, 1999 decreased to 32.1% from 32.5% in the comparable period 

of fiscal 1998 due to differences in the sales mix for the second quarter of 

fiscal 1999 versus 1998. 

 

Operating expenses as a percentage of net sales decreased to 24.0% in the 

second quarter of fiscal 1999 from 31.8% in the same quarter of the prior 

year.  This decrease is due to the pre-tax special charge of $3,129,000 

recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 1998. 
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Interest expense increased $440,000, primarily due to the fixed-rate 

financing secured during the third quarter of fiscal 1998. 

 

The Company's effective tax benefit rate was 28.5% of pre-tax income in the 

second quarter of 1999 as compared to an effective tax rate of 17.1% for the 

second quarter of fiscal 1998. 

 

FOREIGN OPERATIONS 

 

Net sales by the Company's foreign subsidiaries for the six months ended January 

31, 1999 were $7,697,000, or 8.4% of total Company sales. This represents an 

increase of $1,216,000 or 18.8% from the same period of fiscal 1998, in which 

foreign subsidiary sales were $6,481,000, or 8.0% of total Company sales. This 

increase is due primarily to an increased demand for PURE-FLO(R) products in the 

United Kingdom. Net income of the foreign subsidiaries for the first six months 

of fiscal 1999 was $280,000, a decrease of $41,000 or 12.8% from $321,000 earned 

in the same period of fiscal 1998. This decrease was primarily due to 

unfavorable changes in sales mix. Identifiable assets of the Company's foreign 

subsidiaries as of January 31, 1999 were $11,129,000, a decrease of $539,000 

from $11,668,000 as of January 31, 1998, due primarily to decreased levels of 

cash and investment balances. 

 

Net sales by the Company's foreign subsidiaries for the quarter ended January 

31, 1999 were $3,641,000 or 7.7% of total Company sales. This represents an 

increase of $224,000, or 6.5% from the same quarter in fiscal 1998, in which 

foreign subsidiary sales were $3,417,000 or 8.4% of total Company sales. Net 

income of the foreign subsidiaries for the second quarter of fiscal 1999 was 

$73,000, a decrease of $62,000 or 45.9% from $135,000 earned in the same period 

of fiscal 1998, for the same reason discussed above. 

 

YEAR 2000 

 

The Year 2000 (Y2K) issue is the result of computer programs using a two-digit 

format, as opposed to four digits, to indicate the year. Such computer systems 

will be unable to interpret dates beyond 1999, which could cause a system 

failure or application errors, leading to disruptions in operations. The Company 

has completed an internal review of all systems to determine major areas of 

exposure to Y2K issues, and most of these issues have been resolved. In 

addition, third parties with whom there are systems interaction are being 

surveyed to assess Y2K compliance, or if contingency plans will become 

necessary. The cost of Y2K issue resolution will not have a material adverse 

impact on the Company's financial statements, and it is anticipated that the 

Company's computer systems will be Y2K-compliant by July 31, 1999. 
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PART II - Other Information 

 

ITEM 4.  (a)  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS:  On 

              December 8, 1998, the 1998 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of 

              Oil-Dri Corporation of America was held for the purpose of 

              considering and voting on: 

 

              1.   The election of ten directors. 

 

              ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

 

              The following schedule sets forth the results of the vote to elect 

              directors. 

 

 

 

              DIRECTOR                         VOTES FOR     VOTES WITHHELD* 

              --------                         ---------     --------------- 

                                                                

              J. Steven Cole                   18,266,898         23,538 

              Arnold W. Donald                 18,265,946         24,490 

              Ronald B. Gordon                 18,266,898         23,538 

              Daniel S. Jaffee                 18,266,898         23,538 

              Richard M. Jaffee                18,266,898         23,538 

              Edgar D. Jannotta                18,266,898         23,538 

              Joseph C. Miller                 18,266,898         23,538 

              Paul J. Miller                   18,266,898         23,538 

              Haydn H. Murray                  18,266,898         23,538 

              Allan H. Selig                   18,266,898         23,538 

 

              *All votes withheld were common shares. 

 

ITEM 6.  (a)  EXHIBITS:  The following documents are an exhibit to this 

              report. 

                                                                         Exhibit 

                                                                           Index 

 

                                                                   

               Exhibit 11:       Statement Re:  Computation of per           15 

                                 share earnings 

               Exhibit 27:       Financial Data Schedule                     16 

               Exhibit (10)(q):  Split Dollar Life Insurance              17-31 

                                 Agreements dated February 26, 1999. 

               Exhibit (10)(j):  The Oil-Dri Corporation of America       32-42 

                                 Deferred Compensation Plan as  

                                 amended and restated effective 

                                 January 1, 1999.* 

               Exhibit (10)(o):  $15,000,000 unsecured line of credit    43-104 

                                 agreement dated January 29, 1999 

                                 between the Company and Harris Trust 

                                 and Savings Bank. 

               Exhibit (10)(p):  $15,000,000 unsecured,                 105-111 

                                 uncommitted line of credit agreement 

                                 dated January 29, 1999 between the 

                                 Company and Harris Trust and Savings 

                                 Bank.   

 

               *Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement 

 

         (b)  During the quarter for which this report is filed, no reports on 

              Form 8-K were filed. 
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   SIGNATURES 

 

 

   Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 

   Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 

   undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 

 

 

   OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA 

     (Registrant) 

 

 

 

   BY /S/MICHAEL L. GOLDBERG         

      ------------------------------ 

      Michael L. Goldberg 

      Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary 

 

 

 

   BY /S/DANIEL S. JAFFEE            

      ------------------------------ 

      Daniel S. Jaffee 

      President and Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Dated:  March 16, 1999 
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                                                                      Exhibit 11 

 

                  OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES 

                      COMPUTATION OF EARNINGS PER SHARE 

                 (IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 

 

 

 

                                    ------------------------------------------------- 

                                        (in thousands, except per share amounts) 

                                    ------------------------------------------------- 

                                      Three Months Ended        Six Months Ended 

                                          January 31               January 31 

                                    -----------------------  ------------------------ 

                                      1999         1998         1999         1998 

                                    -----------------------  ------------------------ 

                                                                  

Net income (loss) available to 

stockholders (numerator)              $2,276      $  (97)       $4,304       $1,776 

                                      ======      ======        ======       ====== 

 

Shares Calculation (denominator) 

 

Average shares outstanding -           5,843        6,259        5,862        6,267 

    basic 

 

Effect of Dilutive Securities: 

 

Potential Common Stock 

    relating to stock options            212           27          117           41 

                                     -------      -------      -------      ------- 

 

Average shares outstanding - 

    assuming dilution                  6,055        6,286        5,979        6,308 

                                     =======      =======      =======      ======= 

 

Net Income (Loss) Per Share: 

    Basic                            $  0.39     $ (0.02)      $  0.73      $  0.28 

                                     =======     =======       =======      ======= 

    Dilutive                         $  0.38     $ (0.02)      $  0.72      $  0.28 

                                     =======     =======       =======      ======= 

 



   

 

 

 

                                                         

 

 5 

        

                                                

                      6-MOS 

                                    JUL-31-1999 

                                         JAN-31-1999 

                                                     7,399 

                                               1,225 

                                             28,341 

                                                (387) 

                                               13,025 

                                          55,705 

                                                   129,853 

                                           (67,447) 

                                           136,205 

                                     17,782 

                                                   39,130 

                                          0 

                                                    0 

                                                     724 

                                                73,308 

                             136,205 

                                                   91,105 

                                          91,105 

                                                     61,812 

                                             61,812 

                                          21,641 

                                              39 

                                         1,594 

                                            6,019 

                                               1,715 

                                        4,304 

                                                 0 

                                                0 

                                                      0 

                                               4,304 

                                               0.73 

                                               0.72 
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                             Split-Dollar Agreement 

 

 

 

 

This Agreement, entered into this 26th day of February, 1999, by and between 

Oil-Dri Corporation of America, Inc., (the "Corporation") organized and existing 

under the laws of Delaware, and Daniel S. Jaffee (the "Employee"). 

 

 

Witnesseth: 

 

      WHEREAS, the "Employee" has rendered competent and faithful services on 

behalf of the Corporation and the Corporation highly values the services, 

abilities and accomplishments of the Employee; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to encourage the Employee to continue to 

render faithful and high quality services to the Corporation; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Corporation is desirous of providing protection for the 

beneficiaries of Employee in the event of his untimely death; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Employee has applied for, and is the owner of Life Insurance 

Policy Number NO56046450 (the "Policy") in the specified face amount of $760,498 

from the Nationwide Insurance Company; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Employee has assigned the Policy to the Corporation as 

collateral for amounts to be advanced by the corporation under this Agreement by 

an instrument of assignment (the "Collateral Assignment") executed on February 

26, 1999, and 

 

      NOW THEREFORE, for value received and in consideration of the mutual 

covenants and agreements contained herein, the Corporation, for itself, its 

successors and assigns, and the Employee for himself, his executors, 

administrators and assigns, agree as follows: 
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      I.  OWNERSHIP RIGHTS IN THE POLICY 

 

      A. The Employee shall have all of the ownership rights, options and 

privileges permitted by the Policy except those expressly granted to the 

Corporation by the terms of this Agreement. The Employee is authorized to borrow 

from the policy surrender value only with the written consent of the 

Corporation. 

 

      B. The Corporation has the right to borrow or to pledge the surrender 

value of the Policy to the extent of its interest specified in Paragraph C of 

this Article, and as permitted by the terms of this policy. 

 

      C. The Corporation's interest in the Policy shall be limited to the total 

of the net premiums paid by the Corporation or the surrender value of the 

Policy, whatever is the lesser provided such amount is reduced by any 

indebtedness (on or secured by the Policy) which is attributable to borrowing by 

or on behalf of the Corporation and/or any withdrawals by or on behalf of the 

Corporation. 

 

      D. The Corporation may not take any action with respect to the policy that 

will impair any right or interest of the employee in the policy. 

 

      E. The Employee is authorized to change and modify account selection and 

percentage portions of the policy investment subaccounts only with the written 

consent of the corporation. 

 

 

      II.  PREMIUM PAYMENT OPTIONS 

 

      A. The Corporation shall contribute the entire premium payable under the 

policy while the agreement is in effect. 

 

      B. The Employee shall be charged with taxable income by reason of the 

economic benefit of the insurance protection received, as determined under the 

Revenue Rulings 64-328, 1964-2 C.B. 11 and 66-110, 1966-1 C.B. 12. The 

Corporation shall furnish the Employee a statement on Form W-2 of his or her 

taxable income, including income, received under this Plan. 

 

 

      III.  DIVISION OF DEATH PROCEEDS OF POLICY 

 

In the event that the Employee shall die while this Agreement is in force, the 

Corporation shall be entitled to receive from the Policy proceeds an amount 

equal to the Corporation's interest in the Policy, as determined under Article 

I.C. of this agreement. The portion of the Policy proceeds which is in excess of 

the amount paid to the Corporation shall be paid to the beneficiary named by the 

Employee in accordance with the terms of the Policy as reflected in the records 

of the insurance company. 
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      IV.  TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

 

      A. This Agreement may be cancelled by either party at any time while the 

Employee is living, upon written notice thereof to the other party and shall 

automatically be cancelled upon termination of the Employee's employment during 

his/her lifetime with the Corporation. Upon such termination, the Employee shall 

have a 60-day option to pay the Corporation an amount equal to the Corporation's 

interest in the Policy under Article I.C. in return for the Corporations release 

of any claim to the policy. If, within the 60-day-period following the 

cancellation of this Agreement by the Employee or Corporation, the employee 

fails to exercise said option, then the Employee shall be deemed to have 

relinquished all right in the Policy and Corporation will be free to surrender 

or take any other action with respect to the Policy as it may desire. If the 

Employee fails to pay the Corporation within the 60-day option period, the 

Employee agrees upon request of the Corporation to execute any and all 

instruments that may be required to transfer all rights, title and interest in 

the Policy to the Corporation. 

 

      B. Upon the division of death proceeds of the Policy pursuant to Article 

III above the Agreement shall terminate. 

 

 

 

      V.  CONFLICT BETWEEN COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENT AND AGREEMENT 

 

      In the event that there shall be any conflict between the Agreement and 

the Collateral Assignment, the Collateral Assignment shall take precedent over 

this Agreement. 

 

 

 

      VI.  AMENDMENT 

 

This Agreement may be amended at any time and from time to time, by written 

instrument signed by the Corporation and the employee. 

 

 

 

      VII.  AGREEMENT BINDING UPON PARTIES 

 

This agreement shall bind both the Corporation and the Employee, as well as 

their heirs, successors, personal representatives and assigns. 
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      VIII.  INSURER NOT A PARTY TO AGREEMENT 

 

The insurance Company shall not be deemed a party to this Agreement. Payment or 

other performance of its contractual obligation in accordance with the Policy 

provisions shall fully discharge the Insurance Company from any and all 

liability. 

 

      IX.  NAMED FIDUCIARY AND PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 

 

The Corporation is hereby designated the Named Fiduciary. 

 

As Named Fiduciary, the Corporation shall be responsible for the management and 

administration of this Split-Dollar Plan. The Corporation's Board of Directors 

may delegate to others the management and operating responsibilities of the plan 

including the employment of advisors and may exercise any other powers necessary 

for the discharge of its duties to the extent not in conflict with the 

provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 

 

      X.  CLAIMS PROCEDURE 

 

A claim form or a request for claim information with respect to benefit under 

the Plan may be obtained upon written request to the Plan Administrator. 

 

In the event that the claim is in whole or in part denied, the Plan 

Administrator shall provide notification of such denial to claimant within 90 

days. The notification shall contain the specific reasons for the denial as well 

as specific reference to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the denial is 

based. The claimant shall also be informed of the Plan's claim review procedure 

and shall be provided with description of the method by which the claim may be 

perfected. 

 

A claimant seeking claims review may, within 60 days following receipt by the 

claimant of a written claims denial, request a claim's review by written 

application to the Named Fiduciary. In connection with the claims review the 

claimant shall be afforded an opportunity to review claims documents and submit 

comments in writing. A final decision shall be rendered by the Named Fiduciary 

within 60 days after receipt of request for review. The decision on review shall 

be in writing and shall include, in the event the claims for benefits are wholly 

or partially denied: 

 

 

      (1)   The specific reasons for the denial; 

 

      (2)   Specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions upon which the 

            denial or dispute is based. 
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      (3)   A description of any additional information necessary for the 

            claimant to perfect the claim and an explanation of why material or 

            information is necessary; and 

 

      (4) An explanation of the Plan's review procedures. 

 

 

 

      XI.  GOVERNING LAW 

 

This agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties hereto, and 

any and all prior agreements are hereby superseded. The law of the State of 

Illinois shall govern this agreement. 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have set their hands on the day and year 

first hereinabove written. 

 

 

 

- ---------------------------------         ---------------------------- 

           Employee                                   Witness 

           Daniel S. Jaffee 

 

 

 

- ---------------------------------         ---------------------------- 

  Oil-Dri Corporation of America                      Witness 

  Michael L. Goldberg 

  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
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                             Split-Dollar Agreement 

 

 

 

 

This Agreement, entered into this 26th day of February, 1999, by and between 

Oil-Dri Corporation of America, Inc., (the "Corporation") organized and existing 

under the laws of Delaware, and Michael L. Goldberg (the "Employee"). 

 

 

Witnesseth: 

 

      WHEREAS, the "Employee" has rendered competent and faithful services on 

behalf of the Corporation and the Corporation highly values the services, 

abilities and accomplishments of the Employee; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to encourage the Employee to continue to 

render faithful and high quality services to the Corporation; and 

 

      WHEREAS,  the Corporation is desirous of providing protection for the 

beneficiaries of Employee in the event of his untimely death; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Employee has applied for, and is the owner of Life Insurance 

Policy Number NO56046440 (the "Policy") in the specified face amount of $255,183 

from the Nationwide Insurance Company; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Employee has assigned the Policy to the Corporation as 

collateral for amounts to be advanced by the corporation under this Agreement by 

an instrument of assignment (the "Collateral Assignment") executed on February 

26, 1999, and 

 

      NOW THEREFORE, for value received and in consideration of the mutual 

covenants and agreements contained herein, the Corporation, for itself, its 

successors and assigns, and the Employee for himself, his executors, 

administrators and assigns, agree as follows: 
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      I.  OWNERSHIP RIGHTS IN THE POLICY 

 

      A. The Employee shall have all of the ownership rights, options and 

privileges permitted by the Policy except those expressly granted to the 

Corporation by the terms of this Agreement. The Employee is authorized to borrow 

from the policy surrender value only with the written consent of the 

Corporation. 

 

      B. The Corporation has the right to borrow or to pledge the surrender 

value of the Policy to the extent of its interest specified in Paragraph C of 

this Article, and as permitted by the terms of this policy. 

 

      C. The Corporation's interest in the Policy shall be limited to the total 

of the net premiums paid by the Corporation or the surrender value of the 

Policy, whatever is the lesser provided such amount is reduced by any 

indebtedness (on or secured by the Policy) which is attributable to borrowing by 

or on behalf of the Corporation and/or any withdrawals by or on behalf of the 

Corporation. 

 

      D. The Corporation may not take any action with respect to the policy that 

will impair any right or interest of the employee in the policy. 

 

      E. The Employee is authorized to change and modify account selection and 

percentage portions of the policy investment subaccounts only with the written 

consent of the corporation. 

 

      II.  PREMIUM PAYMENT OPTIONS 

 

      A. The Corporation shall contribute the entire premium payable under the 

policy while the agreement is in effect. 

 

      B. The Employee shall be charged with taxable income by reason of the 

economic benefit of the insurance protection received, as determined under the 

Revenue Rulings 64-328, 1964-2 C.B. 11 and 66-110, 1966-1 C.B. 12. The 

Corporation shall furnish the Employee a statement on Form W-2 of his or her 

taxable income, including income, received under this Plan. 

 

 

      III.  DIVISION OF DEATH PROCEEDS OF POLICY 

 

In the event that the Employee shall die while this Agreement is in force, the 

Corporation shall be entitled to receive from the Policy proceeds an amount 

equal to the Corporation's interest in the Policy, as determined under Article 

I.C. of this agreement. The portion of the Policy proceeds which is in excess of 

the amount paid to the Corporation shall be paid to the beneficiary named by the 

Employee in accordance with the terms of the Policy as reflected in the records 

of the insurance company. 
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      IV.  TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

 

      A. This Agreement may be cancelled by either party at any time while the 

Employee is living, upon written notice thereof to the other party and shall 

automatically be cancelled upon termination of the Employee's employment during 

his/her lifetime with the Corporation. Upon such termination, the Employee shall 

have a 60-day option to pay the Corporation an amount equal to the Corporation's 

interest in the Policy under Article I.C. in return for the Corporations release 

of any claim to the policy. If, within the 60-day-period following the 

cancellation of this Agreement by the Employee or Corporation, the employee 

fails to exercise said option, then the Employee shall be deemed to have 

relinquished all right in the Policy and the Corporation will be free to 

surrender or take any other action with respect to the Policy as it may desire. 

If the Employee fails to pay the Corporation within the 60-day option period, 

the Employee agrees upon request of the Corporation to execute any and all 

instruments that may be required to transfer all rights, title and interest in 

the Policy to the Corporation. 

 

      B. Upon the division of death proceeds of the Policy pursuant to Article 

III above the Agreement shall terminate. 

 

 

 

      V.  CONFLICT BETWEEN COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENT AND AGREEMENT 

 

In the event that there shall be any conflict between the Agreement and the 

Collateral Assignment, the Collateral Assignment shall take precedence over this 

Agreement. 

 

 

 

      VI.  AMENDMENT 

 

This Agreement may be amended at any time and from time to time, by written 

instrument signed by the Corporation and the employee. 

 

 

 

      VII.  AGREEMENT BINDING UPON PARTIES 

 

This agreement shall bind both the Corporation and the Employee, as well as 

their heirs, successors, personal representatives and assigns. 
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      VIII.  INSURER NOT A PARTY TO AGREEMENT 

 

The insurance Company shall not be deemed a party to this Agreement. Payment or 

other performance of its contractual obligation in accordance with the Policy 

provisions shall fully discharge the Insurance Company from any and all 

liability. 

 

      IX.  NAMED FIDUCIARY AND PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 

 

The Corporation is hereby designated the Named Fiduciary. 

 

As Named Fiduciary, the Corporation shall be responsible for the management and 

administration of this split-dollar plan. The Corporation's Board of Directors 

may delegate to others the management and operating responsibilities of the plan 

including the employment of advisors and may exercise any other powers necessary 

for the discharge of its duties to the extent not in conflict with the 

provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 

 

      X.  CLAIMS PROCEDURE 

 

A claim form or a request for claim information with respect to benefit under 

the Plan may be obtained upon written request to the Plan Administrator. 

 

In the event that the claim is in whole or in part denied, the Plan 

Administrator shall provide notification of such denial to claimant within 90 

days. The notification shall contain the specific reasons for the denial as well 

as specific reference to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the denial is 

based. The claimant shall also be informed of the Plan's claim review procedure 

and shall be provided with description of the method by which the claim may be 

perfected. 

 

A claimant seeking claims review may, within 60 days following receipt by the 

claimant of a written claims denial, request a claim's review by written 

application to the Named Fiduciary. In connection with the claims review the 

claimant shall be afforded an opportunity to review claims documents and submit 

comments in writing. A final decision shall be rendered by the Named Fiduciary 

within 60 days after receipt of request for review. The decision on review shall 

be in writing and shall include, in the event the claims for benefits are wholly 

or partially denied: 

 

 

      (1)   The specific reasons for the denial; 

 

      (2)   Specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions upon which the 

            denial or dispute is based. 
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      (3)   A description of any additional information necessary for the 

            claimant to perfect the claim and an explanation of why material or 

            information is necessary; and 

 

      (4) An explanation of the Plan's review procedures. 

 

 

      XI.  GOVERNING LAW 

 

This agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties hereto, and 

any and all prior agreements are hereby superseded. The law of the State of 

Illinois shall govern this agreement. 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have set their hands on the day and year 

first hereinabove written. 

 

 

 

- ---------------------------------            ----------------------------- 

          Employee                                     Witness 

          Michael L. Goldberg 

 

 

 

- ---------------------------------            ----------------------------- 

 Oil-Dri Corporation of America                        Witness 

 Daniel S. Jaffee, President & 

 Chief Executive Officer 
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                             Split-Dollar Agreement 

 

 

 

 

This Agreement, entered into this 26th day of February, 1999, by and between 

Oil-Dri Corporation of America, Inc., (the "Corporation") organized and existing 

under the laws of Delaware, and Steven M. Levy (the "Employee"). 

 

 

Witnesseth: 

 

      WHEREAS, the "Employee" has rendered competent and faithful services on 

behalf of the Corporation and the Corporation highly values the services, 

abilities and accomplishments of the Employee; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to encourage the Employee to continue to 

render faithful and high quality services to the Corporation; and 

 

      WHEREAS,  the Corporation is desirous of providing protection for the 

beneficiaries of Employee in the event of his untimely death; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Employee has applied for, and is the owner of Life Insurance 

Policy Number NO56046460 (the "Policy") in the specified face amount of $130,812 

from the Nationwide Insurance Company; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Employee has assigned the Policy to the Corporation as 

collateral for amounts to be advanced by the corporation under this Agreement by 

an instrument of assignment (the "Collateral Assignment") executed on February 

26, 1999, and 

 

      NOW THEREFORE, for value received and in consideration of the mutual 

covenants and agreements contained herein, the Corporation, for itself, its 

successors and assigns, and the Employee for himself, his executors, 

administrators and assigns, agree as follows: 
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      I.  OWNERSHIP RIGHTS IN THE POLICY 

 

      A. The Employee shall have all of the ownership rights, options and 

privileges permitted by the Policy except those expressly granted to the 

Corporation by the terms of this Agreement. The Employee is authorized to borrow 

from the policy surrender value only with the written consent of the 

Corporation. 

 

      B. The Corporation has the right to borrow or to pledge the surrender 

value of the Policy to the extent of its interest specified in Paragraph C of 

this Article, and as permitted by the terms of this policy. 

 

      C. The Corporation's interest in the Policy shall be limited to the total 

of the net premiums paid by the Corporation or the surrender value of the 

Policy, whatever is the lesser provided such amount is reduced by any 

indebtedness (on or secured by the Policy) which is attributable to borrowing by 

or on behalf of the Corporation and/or any withdrawals by or on behalf of the 

Corporation. 

 

      D. The Corporation may not take any action with respect to the policy that 

will impair any right or interest of the employee in the policy. 

 

      E. The Employee is authorized to change and modify account selection and 

percentage portions of the policy investment subaccounts only with the written 

consent of the corporation. 

 

      II.  PREMIUM PAYMENT OPTIONS 

 

      A. The Corporation shall contribute the entire premium payable under the 

policy while the agreement is in effect. 

 

      B. The Employee shall be charged with taxable income by reason of the 

economic benefit of the insurance protection received, as determined under the 

Revenue Rulings 64-328, 1964-2 C.B. 11 and 66-110, 1966-1 C.B. 12. The 

Corporation shall furnish the Employee a statement on Form W-2 of his or her 

taxable income, including income, received under this Plan. 

 

      III.  DIVISION OF DEATH PROCEEDS OF POLICY 

 

In the event that the Employee shall die while this Agreement is in force, the 

Corporation shall be entitled to receive from the Policy proceeds an amount 

equal to the Corporation's interest in the Policy, as determined under Article 

I.C. of this agreement. The portion of the Policy proceeds which is in excess of 

the amount paid to the Corporation shall be paid to the beneficiary named by the 

Employee in accordance with the terms of the Policy as reflected in the records 

of the insurance company. 

 

 



 29 

 

 

 

      IV.  TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

 

      A. This Agreement may be cancelled by either party at any time while the 

Employee is living, upon written notice thereof to the other party and shall 

automatically be cancelled upon termination of the Employee's employment during 

his/her lifetime with the Corporation. Upon such termination, the Employee shall 

have a 60-day option to pay the Corporation an amount equal to the Corporation's 

interest in the Policy under Article I.C. in return for the Corporations release 

of any claim to the policy. If, within the 60-day-period following the 

cancellation of this Agreement by the Employee or Corporation, the employee 

fails to exercise said option, then the Employee shall be deemed to have 

relinquished all right in the Policy and the Corporation will be free to 

surrender or take any other action with respect to the Policy as it may desire. 

If the Employee fails to pay the Corporation within the 60-day option period, 

the Employee agrees upon request of the Corporation to execute any and all 

instruments that may be required to transfer all rights, title and interest in 

the Policy to the Corporation. 

 

      B. Upon the division of death proceeds of the Policy pursuant to Article 

III above the Agreement shall terminate. 

 

 

 

      V.  CONFLICT BETWEEN COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENT AND AGREEMENT 

 

In the event that there shall be any conflict between the Agreement and the 

Collateral Assignment, the Collateral Assignment shall take precedence over this 

Agreement. 

 

 

 

      VI.  AMENDMENT 

 

This Agreement may be amended at any time and from time to time, by written 

instrument signed by the Corporation and the employee. 

 

 

 

      VII.  AGREEMENT BINDING UPON PARTIES 

 

This agreement shall bind both the Corporation and the Employee, as well as 

their heirs, successors, personal representatives and assigns. 
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      VIII.  INSURER NOT A PARTY TO AGREEMENT 

 

The insurance Company shall not be deemed a party to this Agreement. Payment or 

other performance of its contractual obligation in accordance with the Policy 

provisions shall fully discharge the Insurance Company from any and all 

liability. 

 

      IX.  NAMED FIDUCIARY AND PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 

 

The Corporation is hereby designated the Named Fiduciary. 

 

As Named Fiduciary, the Corporation shall be responsible for the management and 

administration of this split-dollar plan. The Corporation's Board of Directors 

may delegate to others the management and operating responsibilities of the plan 

including the employment of advisors and may exercise any other powers necessary 

for the discharge of its duties to the extent not in conflict with the 

provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 

 

      X.  CLAIMS PROCEDURE 

 

A claim form or a request for claim information with respect to benefit under 

the Plan may be obtained upon written request to the Plan Administrator. 

 

In the event that the claim is in whole or in part denied, the Plan 

Administrator shall provide notification of such denial to claimant within 90 

days. The notification shall contain the specific reasons for the denial as well 

as specific reference to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the denial is 

based. The claimant shall also be informed of the Plan's claim review procedure 

and shall be provided with description of the method by which the claim may be 

perfected. 

 

A claimant seeking claims review may, within 60 days following receipt by the 

claimant of a written claims denial, request a claim's review by written 

application to the Named Fiduciary. In connection with the claims review the 

claimant shall be afforded an opportunity to review claims documents and submit 

comments in writing. A final decision shall be rendered by the Named Fiduciary 

within 60 days after receipt of request for review. The decision on review shall 

be in writing and shall include, in the event the claims for benefits are wholly 

or partially denied: 

 

 

      (1)   The specific reasons for the denial; 

 

      (2)   Specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions upon which the 

            denial or dispute is based. 
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      (3)   A description of any additional information necessary for the 

            claimant to perfect the claim and an explanation of why material or 

            information is necessary; and 

 

      (4) An explanation of the Plan's review procedures. 

 

 

 

      XI.  GOVERNING LAW 

 

This agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties hereto, and 

any and all prior agreements are hereby superseded. The law of the State of 

Illinois shall govern this agreement. 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have set their hands on the day and year 

first hereinabove written. 

 

 

 

- ---------------------------------           ---------------------------- 

         Employee                                      Witness 

         Steven M. Levy 

 

 

 

- ---------------------------------           ---------------------------- 

  Oil-Dri Corporation of America                       Witness 

  Michael L. Goldberg 

  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
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         THE OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 

               As Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 1999 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 1 - INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1   PURPOSE OF PLAN 

 

Oil-Dri Corporation of America, a Delaware Corporation has adopted the Plan set 

forth herein to provide a means by which certain employees and non-employee 

directors may elect to defer receipt of designated percentages or amounts of 

their Compensation and bonuses. 

 

1.2   STATUS OF PLAN 

 

 

The Plan is intended to be "a plan which is unfunded and is maintained by an 

employer primarily for the purpose of providing deferred compensation for a 

select group of management or highly compensated employees" within the meaning 

of Sections 201(2), 301(a)(3) and 401(a)(1) of the Employee Retirement Income 

Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA"), and shall be interpreted and administered to the 

extent possible in a manner consistent with that intent. 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITIONS 

 

Wherever used herein, the following terms have the meanings set forth below, 

unless a different meaning is clearly required by the context: 

 

2.1 ACCOUNT means for each Participant, the bookkeeping account established for 

his or her benefit under Section 5.1. 

 

2.2 CHANGE OF CONTROL has the meaning set forth in the Oil-Dri Corporation of 

America 1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan. 

 

2.3 CODE means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time. 

Reference to any section or subsection of the Code includes reference to any 

comparable or succeeding provisions of any legislation which amends, supplements 

or replaces such section or subsection. 

 

2.4 COMPANY means Oil-Dri Corporation of America, any successor to all or a 

major portion of the Company's assets or business which assumes the obligations 

of the Company, and each other entity that is affiliated with the Company which 

adopts the Plan with the consent of Oil-Dri Corporation of America. 

 

2.5 COMPENSATION means base salary, retainer or meeting fees payable to a 

Participant by the Company or an affiliate. Base salary is determined before 

giving effect to Elective Deferrals and other salary reduction amounts which are 

not included in the Participant's gross income under Code sections 125, 401(k), 

402(h) or 403(b). 
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2.6 EARNINGS means the reported composite rate of return experienced by the 

investment portfolio(s) chosen by a Plan Participant as crediting indices. For 

the portfolio referred to as the Oil-Dri Declared Rate Fund, Earnings means the 

Company's long-term borrowing cost ("Interest") in effect during the quarter for 

which Earnings are being credited. Prior to January 1, 1999, Earnings means 

Interest as defined in this paragraph 2.6. For Participants who retired prior to 

January 1, 1999, Earnings will continue to mean Interest as defined in this 

paragrah 2.6.. 

 

2.7 EFFECTIVE DATE means the date as of which the Plan first becomes effective, 

December 15, 1995. 

 

2.8 ELECTION FORM means the participation election form as approved and 

prescribed by the Plan Administrator. 

 

2.9 ELECTIVE DEFERRAL means the portion of Compensation which is deferred by a 

Participant under Section 4.1. 

 

2.10 ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE OR DIRECTOR generally means each employee of the Company 

who is at a salary grade of Grade 10 or higher at the time he or she elects to 

make Elective Deferrals or a non-employee who is a member of the Company's Board 

of Directors. The Company reserves the right to from time to time extend 

eligibility to participate in the Plan to a management employee of the Company 

who is at a salary grade less than Grade 10. 2.11 ERISA means the Employee 

Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time. Reference 

to any section or subsection of ERISA includes reference to any comparable or 

succeeding provisions of any legislation which amends, supplements or replaces 

such section or subsection. 

 

2.12 INSOLVENT means either (i) the Company is unable to pay its debts as they 

become due, or (ii) the Company is subject to a pending proceeding as a debtor 

under the United States Bankruptcy Code. 

 

2.13 PARTICIPANT means any individual who participates in the Plan in accordance 

with Article 3. 

 

2.14 PLAN means the Oil-Dri Corporation of America Deferred Compensation Plan 

and all amendments thereto. 

 

2.15 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR means the person, persons or entity designated by the 

Company from time to time to administer the Plan. If no such person or entity is 

so serving at any time, Oil-Dri Corporation of America shall be the Plan 

Administrator. 

 

2.16  PLAN YEAR means the 12-month period beginning January 1 and ending 

December 31. 

 

2.17 TOTAL AND PERMANENT DISABILITY means the inability of a Participant to 

engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically 

determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in 

death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of 

not less than 12 months, and the permanence and degree of which shall be 

supported by medical evidence satisfactory to the Plan Administrator. 
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ARTICLE 3 - PARTICIPATION 

 

3.1   COMMENCEMENT OF PARTICIPATION 

 

Any individual who elects to defer part of his or her Compensation in accordance 

with Section 4.1 shall become a Participant in the Plan as of the date such 

deferrals commence in accordance with Section 4.1. 

 

3.2   CONTINUED PARTICIPATION 

 

A Participant in the Plan shall continue to be a Participant so long as any 

amount remains credited to his or her Account. 
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ARTICLE 4 - ELECTIVE DEFERRALS 

 

4.1   ELECTIVE DEFERRALS 

 

An individual who is an Eligible Employee or Director on the Effective Date may, 

by completing an Election Form and filing it with the Plan Administrator on or 

before the Effective Date, elect to defer a percentage or dollar amount of one 

or more payments of Compensation, on such terms as the Plan Administrator may 

permit, which are for services to be performed by the Participant in the Plan 

Year immediately following the Effective Date. A Participant may, by completing 

an Election Form and filing it with the Plan Administrator on or before March 15 

of any Plan Year, elect to defer a percentage of any bonuses payable under the 

Oil-Dri Corporation of America Annual Incentive Plan in such Plan Year. A 

Participant other than a non-employee director may elect to defer only up to 50% 

of base salary, provided that such deferral shall equal a minimum of $5,000 and 

up to 100% of any bonuses earned under the Oil-Dri Corporation of America Annual 

Incentive Plan for any Plan Year. A Participant who is a non-employee director 

may elect to defer all or any part of such Participant's Compensation. Any 

individual who becomes an Eligible Employee or Director after the Effective Date 

may, by completing an Election Form and filing it with the Plan Administrator 

within 30 days after becoming an Eligible Employee or Director, elect to defer a 

percentage or dollar amount of one or more payments of Compensation, on such 

terms as the Plan Administrator may permit, which are for services to be 

performed by the Participant after the date on which the individual files the 

Election Form. Any Eligible Employee or Director who has not otherwise initially 

elected to defer Compensation in accordance with this paragraph 4.1 may elect to 

defer a percentage or dollar amount of one or more payments of Compensation, on 

such terms as the Plan Administrator may permit, commencing with Compensation 

paid in the next succeeding Plan Year, by completing an Election Form and filing 

it with the Plan Administrator on or before November 15 of the year preceding 

such Plan Year. A Participant's Compensation shall be reduced in accordance with 

the Participant's election hereunder and amounts deferred hereunder shall be 

credited to the Participant's Account as of the date the amounts would have been 

paid to the Participant absent the deferral election. Elective Deferrals shall 

not be in effect for any Participant during any period in which such Participant 

is eligible to receive benefits under the Company's Long Term Disability policy. 

 

An election to defer a percentage or dollar amount of Compensation for any Plan 

Year or any bonus payable under the Oil-Dri Corporation of America Annual 

Incentive Plan in such plan year, shall apply for only such Plan Year. For each 

succeeding Plan Year an Eligible Employee or Director must make a new deferral 

election by completing and filing with the Plan Administrator an Election Form 

on or before the 15th of November preceding that Plan Year with respect to 

Compensation (except that elections for the Plan Year 1996 may be made up to and 

including the effective date of December 15, 1995) and before the 15th of March 

with respect to any bonus payable under the Oil-Dri Corporation of America 

Annual Incentive Plan in such Plan Year. 
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ARTICLE 5 - ACCOUNTS 

 

ACCOUNTS 

 

 

The Plan Administrator shall establish a bookkeeping Account for each 

Participant reflecting Elective Deferrals made for the Participant's benefit and 

any distributions to the Participant, together with any adjustments for 

Earnings. The Plan Administrator shall provide each Participant with a statement 

showing the status of his or her Account as of the end of the calendar quarter. 

 

 

5.2   EARNINGS CREDITED 

 

Each Participant's Account shall be adjusted for Earnings. Effective January 1, 

1999, Earnings adjustments shall be calculated at a rate computed as if the 

Participant's Account had been invested in whole and fractional shares of the 

investment portfolio(s) selected by the Participant as crediting indices. For 

purposes of computing these Earnings adjustments, Elective Deferrals shall be 

assumed to have been invested in shares of the crediting indices on each date a 

transaction is credited to or debited from the Participant's account, at the 

trading price of the crediting indices on such date or the first business day 

thereafter. Earnings adjustments shall be computed as if all dividends paid on 

the crediting indices were reinvested in whole or fractional shares on the date 

paid. 

 

Prior to January 1, 1999 the rate for calculation of Earnings shall be the 

Company's long-term borrowing cost ("Interest") in effect during the quarter for 

which the Participant's Account is being adjusted. For Participants who retired 

prior to January 1, 1999, the rate for calculation of Earnings will continue to 

be the Interest rate as defined in paragraph 2.6. 

 

5.2   CREDITING INDICES 

 

Effective January 1, 1999 the Company shall select investment portfolios to 

serve as crediting indices. Each Participant may designate any combination (in 

increments of not less than 5%) of these portfolios to be used as the crediting 

indices for his or her account. Participants do not have an ownership interest 

in the investment portfolio(s) chosen by them as crediting indices. Each 

Participant may change his or her designated portfolio(s) to be effective the 

first day of any quarter by submitting the appropriate form to the Plan 

Administrator at least ten days prior to the first day of such quarter. Any 

designation of new crediting indices will result in an Earnings adjustment 

equivalent to a sales of shares in the current crediting indices and a purchase 

of shares in the new crediting indices on the first day of the quarter or the 

first business day thereafter. The Company may from time to time change the 

selection of investment portfolios offered to Participants as crediting indices. 

The Plan Administrator shall notify each Participant of any such change in 

investment portfolios. 
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ARTICLE 6 - VESTING 

 

6.1   GENERAL 

 

A Participant shall be immediately vested in, i.e., shall have a nonforfeitable 

right to, all Elective Deferrals, and all Earnings attributable thereto, 

credited to his or her Account. 

 

 

ARTICLE 7 - PAYMENTS 

 

7.1   ELECTION AS TO TIME AND FORM OF PAYMENT 

 

A Participant shall elect on the Election Form the date at which the Elective 

Deferrals (including any Earnings attributable thereto) will commence to be paid 

to the Participant. Such date must be at least five years following the date at 

which such Elective Deferrals commence or the date of retirement, whichever 

occurs first. The Participant shall also elect thereon for payments to be paid 

in either: 

 

a.    a single lump sum; or 

 

      annual installments over a period elected by the Participant up to 15 

      years, the amount of each installment to equal the balance of his or her 

      Account immediately prior to the installment divided by the number of 

      installments remaining to be paid ("Annual Installments"). 

 

Each such election will be effective only for deferrals (including any Earnings 

attributable thereto) for the Plan Year for which it is made. Except as provided 

in Sections 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5 or 7.6, payment of a Participant's Account shall 

be made in accordance with the Participant's elections under this Section 7.1 

Such elections will be irrevocable except that a Participant who has elected to 

receive payments only upon retirement, may change the method of payment by 

completing a new Election Form more than one year in advance of retirement. 

 

7.2   CHANGE OF CONTROL 

 

The Plan will terminate upon a Change of Control. Immediately prior to the 

consummation of a transaction resulting in a Change of Control or, if not 

possible, as soon as possible following a Change of Control, each Participant 

shall be paid his or her entire Account balance in a single lump sum. 

 

7.3.  TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT PRIOR TO RETIREMENT AGE 

 

Upon termination of a Participant's employment for any reason other than death 

prior to the attainment of the Retirement Age, which is age 55, the 

Participant's entire Account shall be paid to the Participant in a single lump 

sum as soon as practicable following the end of the quarter in which such 

termination occurs. 
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7.4   DISABILITY 

 

If a Participant suffers a Total and Permanent Disability prior to the complete 

distribution of his or her Account balance, the following provisions shall 

apply: 

 

a.    If the Participant is receiving disability benefits under the Company's 

      short-term or long-term disability plan, the Participant will be treated 

      as actively employed and payment from the Participant's account shall not 

      be made. The Participant may, at his or her election, apply for payment 

      because of Unforeseen Emergency under Section 7.6. 

b.    If disability benefits under the Company's disability plans cease due to 

      recovery from the Total and Permanent Disability, and the Participant does 

      not return to employment with the Company, the Participant's Account shall 

      be paid to the Participant as provided in Section 7.3. 

 

7.5   DEATH 

 

If a Participant dies prior to the complete distribution of his or her Account, 

the balance of the Account shall be paid, according to the Participant's 

irrevocable election on the Election Form, to the Participant's designated 

beneficiary or beneficiaries. Payment in a single lump sum shall be made as soon 

as practicable following the end of the quarter in which death occurs. Payment 

in annual installments shall commence the year immediately following the year in 

which death occurs. 

 

Any designation of beneficiary and form of payment to such beneficiary shall be 

made by the Participant on a designation/change of beneficiary form filed with 

the Plan Administrator and may be changed by the Participant at any time by 

filing another designation/change of beneficiary form containing the revised 

instructions. If no beneficiary is designated or no designated beneficiary 

survives the Participant, payment shall be made to the Participant's surviving 

spouse, or, if none, to his or her issue per stirpes, in a single payment. If no 

spouse or issue survives the Participant payment shall be made in a single lump 

sum to the Participant's estate. 

 

7.6   UNFORESEEN EMERGENCY 

 

If a Participant suffers an unforeseen emergency, as defined herein, the Plan 

Administrator, in its sole discretion, may pay to the Participant only that 

portion, if any, of his or her Account which the Plan Administrator determines 

is necessary to satisfy the emergency need, including at the discretion of the 

Plan Administrator any amounts necessary to pay any federal, state and local 

income taxes reasonably anticipated to result from the distribution. 

 

A Participant requesting emergency payment shall apply for the payment in 

writing in a form approved by the Plan Administrator and shall provide such 

additional information as the Plan Administrator may require. For purposes of 

this paragraph, "unforeseen emergency" means an immediate and heavy financial 

need resulting from any of the following: 

 

a.    expenses which are not covered by insurance and which the Participant or 

      his or her spouse or dependent has incurred as a result of sudden 

      and unexpected illness or accident; or 

b.    expenses which are not covered by insurance and which the Participant or 

      his or her spouse or dependent has incurred or must incur as a result of a 

      casualty loss. 
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7.7   TAXES 

 

All federal, state and local taxes that the Plan Administrator determines are 

required to be withheld from any payments made pursuant to this Article 7 shall 

be withheld. 

 

7.8   CLAIMS PROCEDURE 

 

A Participant or beneficiary (a "Claimant") entitled to benefits may file a 

claim for such benefits with the Plan Administrator, in such form as permitted 

by the Plan Administrator. The claim will be evaluated and a decision rendered 

within ninety (90) days, unless special circumstances require an additional 

ninety (90) day extension of time. 

 

A Claimant shall be given written notice of whether the claim is granted or 

denied, in whole or in part, including (1) specific reasons for the denial, (2) 

references to pertinent Plan provisions on which the denial is based, (3) a 

description of any additional material or information necessary to perfect the 

claim and explanation as to why necessary, and (4) the Claimant's right to seek 

review of the denial. 

 

If denied, in whole or in part, the Claimant may make a written request for 

review of such denial to the Plan Administrator within 60 days after receipt of 

the denial, and may include pertinent documents, issues and comments to aid the 

Plan Administrator. The request will be evaluated and a decision rendered within 

sixty (60) days, unless special circumstances require an additional sixty (60) 

day extension of time. The written decision will specify reasons for the 

decision and references to Plan provisions upon which the decision is based. 

 

A Claimant who fails to file a claim, or submit a request for review of an 

initial claim shall have no right to review and shall have no right to bring 

action in any court. The denial of the claim shall be final and binding on all 

persons for all purposes. 

 

7.9   SECTION 162(M) LIMITATIONS 

 

In the event that any amount to be paid pursuant to Section 7.1, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5 

or 7.6 would, in the Company's judgment, result in the non-deductibility, under 

Section 162(m) of the code, of any portion of such Participant's income payable 

by or attributable to the Company for the year in which such amount is to be 

paid, such amount shall not be paid in such year. Such nondeductible amount 

shall be payable in the following calendar year, as an addition to the annual 

installment scheduled to be paid in such following calendar year, if applicable, 

subject to the provisions of this Section 7.9. 
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ARTICLE 8 - PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 

 

8.1   PLAN ADMINISTRATION AND INTERPRETATION 

 

The Plan Administrator shall oversee the administration of the Plan. The Plan 

Administrator shall have complete control and authority to determine the rights 

and benefits and all claims, demands and actions arising out of the provisions 

of the Plan of any Participant, beneficiary, deceased Participant, or other 

person having or claiming to have any interest under the Plan. The Plan 

Administrator shall have complete discretion to interpret the Plan and to decide 

all matters under the Plan. Such interpretation and decision shall be final, 

conclusive and binding on all Participants and any person claiming under or 

through any Participant, in the absence of clear and convincing evidence that 

the Plan Administrator acted arbitrarily and capriciously. Any individual(s) 

serving as Plan Administrator who is a Participant will not vote or act on any 

matter relating solely to himself or herself. In such case, the Oil-Dri 

Corporation of America will appoint an individual to act as Plan Administrator 

to take such actions. When making a determination or calculation, the Plan 

Administrator shall be entitled to rely on information furnished by a 

Participant, a beneficiary or the Company. The Plan Administrator shall have the 

responsibility for complying with any reporting and disclosure requirements of 

ERISA. 

 

8.2.  POWERS, DUTIES, PROCEDURES, ETC. 

 

The Plan Administrator shall have such powers and duties, may adopt such rules 

and tables, may act in accordance with such procedures, may appoint such 

officers or agents, may delegate such powers and duties, may receive such 

reimbursements, and shall follow such claims and appeal procedures with respect 

to the Plan as it may establish. 

 

8.3   INFORMATION 

 

To enable the Plan Administrator to perform its functions, the Company shall 

supply full and timely information to the Plan Administrator on all matters 

relating to the compensation of Participants, their employment, retirement, 

death, termination of employment, and such other pertinent facts as the Plan 

Administrator may require. 

 

8.4   INDEMNIFICATION OF PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 

 

The Company agrees to indemnify and to defend to the fullest extent permitted by 

law any officer(s) or employee(s) who serve as Plan Administrator (including any 

such individual, whether a present or former employee, who formerly served as 

Plan Administrator) against all liabilities, damages, costs and expenses 

(including attorneys' fees and amounts paid in settlement of any claims approved 

by Oil-Dri Corporation of America) occasioned by any act or omission to act in 

connection with the Plan, if such act or omission is in good faith. 
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ARTICLE 9 - AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION 

 

9.1   AMENDMENTS 

 

Oil-Dri Corporation of America shall have the right to amend the Plan from time 

to time, subject to Section 9.3, by an instrument in writing which has been 

executed on Oil-Dri Corporation of America's behalf by its Chief Executive 

Officer or his delegate designated in writing, with the specific approval of the 

board of directors. 

 

9.2   TERMINATION OF PLAN 

 

This Plan is strictly a voluntary undertaking on the part of the Company and 

shall not be deemed to constitute a contract between the Company and any 

Eligible Employee or Director (or any other employee) or a consideration for, or 

an inducement or condition of employment for the performance of the services by 

an Eligible Employee or Director (or other employee). Oil-Dri Corporation of 

America reserves the right to terminate the Plan at any time, subject to Section 

9.3, by an instrument in writing which has been executed on Oil-Dri Corporation 

of America's behalf by its Chief Executive Officer or his delegate designated in 

writing, with the specific approval of the board of directors. In addition, the 

Plan shall terminate upon a Change of Control in accordance with Section 7.2. 

 

9.3   EXISTING RIGHTS 

 

No amendment or termination of the Plan shall adversely affect the rights of any 

Participant with respect to amounts that have been credited to his or her 

Account prior to the date of such amendment or termination. 

 

 

ARTICLE 10 - MISCELLANEOUS 

 

10.1  NO FUNDING 

 

The Plan constitutes a mere promise by the Company to make payments in 

accordance with the terms of the Plan and Participants and beneficiaries shall 

have the status of general unsecured creditors of the Company. Nothing in the 

Plan will be construed to give any employee or any other person rights to any 

specific assets of the Company or of any other person. In all events, it is the 

intent of the Company that the Plan be treated as unfunded for tax purposes and 

for purposes of Title I of ERISA. 

 

10.2  NON-ASSIGNABILITY 

 

None of the benefits, payments, proceeds or claims of any participant or 

beneficiary shall be subject to any claim of any creditor of any Participant or 

beneficiary, nor shall any Participant or beneficiary have any right to 

alienate, anticipate, commute, pledge, encumber or assign any of the benefits or 

payments or proceeds which he or she may expect to receive, contingently or 

otherwise, under the Plan. 
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10.3  LIMITATION OF PARTICIPANT'S RIGHTS 

 

Nothing contained in the Plan shall confer upon any person a right to be 

employed or to continue in the employ of the Company, or interfere in any way 

with the right of the Company to terminate the employment of a Participant in 

the Plan at any time, with or without cause. 

 

10.4  PARTICIPANTS BOUND 

 

Any action with respect to the Plan taken by Oil-Dri Corporation of America, the 

Plan Administrator or the Company or any action authorized by or taken at the 

direction of the Plan Administrator or the Company shall be conclusive upon all 

Participants and beneficiaries entitled to benefits under the Plan. 

 

10.5  RECEIPT AND RELEASE 

 

Any payment to any Participant or beneficiary in accordance with the provisions 

of the Plan shall, to the extent thereof, be in satisfaction of claims against 

the Company and/or, the Plan Administrator under the Plan, and the Plan 

Administrator may require such Participant or beneficiary, as a condition 

precedent to such payment, to execute a receipt and release to such effect. If 

any Participant or beneficiary is determined by the Plan Administrator to be 

incompetent by reason of physical or mental disability, including minority, to 

give a valid receipt and release, the Plan Administrator may cause payment or 

payments becoming due to such person to be made to another person for his or her 

benefit without responsibility on the part of the Plan Administrator or the 

Company to follow the application of such funds. 

 

10.6  GOVERNING LAW 

 

The Plan shall be construed, administered, and governed in all respects under 

and by the laws of the state of Illinois. If any provision shall be held by a 

court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining 

provisions hereof shall continue to be fully effective. 

 

10.7  HEADINGS AND SUBHEADINGS 

 

Headings and subheadings in this Plan are inserted for convenience only and are 

not to be considered in the construction of the provisions thereof. 
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============================================================================== 

 

 

 

 

 

                                BY AND BETWEEN 

 

                        OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA 

 

 

                                     AND 

 

 

                        HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK 

 

 

 

 

 

                         DATED AS OF JANUARY 29, 1999 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

============================================================================== 
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                        OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA 

                               CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 

Harris Trust and Savings Bank 

Chicago, Illinois 

 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 

      The undersigned, Oil-Dri Corporation of America, a Delaware corporation 

(the "COMPANY"), applies to you (the "BANK") for your commitment, subject to the 

terms and conditions hereof and on the basis of the representations and 

warranties hereinafter set forth, to make a revolving credit (the "REVOLVING 

CREDIT") and a term loan available to the Company, all as more fully hereinafter 

set forth. 

 

SECTION 1.     THE CREDITS. 

 

   SECTION 1.1. REVOLVING CREDIT. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, 

the Bank agrees to extend a Revolving Credit to the Company which may be availed 

of by the Company from time to time during the period from and including the 

date hereof to but not including the Termination Date, at which time the 

commitment of the Bank to extend credit under the Revolving Credit shall expire. 

The Revolving Credit may be utilized by the Company in the form of loans 

(individually a "REVOLVING CREDIT LOAN" and collectively the "REVOLVING CREDIT 

LOANS") and Letters of Credit, provided that the aggregate principal amount of 

Revolving Credit Loans and Letters of Credit (including the Existing Letters of 

Credit) outstanding at any one time shall not exceed $15,000,000 (the "REVOLVING 

CREDIT COMMITMENT", as such amount may be reduced pursuant to Section 3.4 

hereof). Each Revolving Credit Loan shall be in a minimum amount of $100,000 or 

such greater amount which is an integral multiple of $25,000; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, 

that Revolving Credit Loans which bear interest with reference to the Adjusted 

LIBOR or Offered Rate shall be in such greater amount as is required by Section 

2 hereof. Each Revolving Credit Loan shall be made against and evidenced by a 

single promissory note of the Company in the form (with appropriate insertions) 

attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE") payable to the order 

of the Bank in the principal amount of $15,000,000. The Revolving Credit Note 

shall be dated the date of issuance thereof, be expressed to bear interest as 

set forth in Section 2 hereof, and be expressed to mature on the Termination 

Date. Without regard to the principal amount of the Revolving Credit Note stated 

on its face, the actual principal amount at any time outstanding and owing by 

the Company on account of the Revolving Credit Note shall be the sum of all 

Revolving Credit Loans made under this Section less all payments of principal 

actually received by the Bank. During the period from and including the date 

hereof to but not including the Termination Date, the Company may use the 

Revolving Credit Commitment by borrowing, repaying and reborrowing Revolving 

Credit Loans in whole or in part, all in accordance with the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement. 

 

   SECTION 1.2. TERM LOAN. The Company is justly and truly indebted to the Bank 

on a term loan (the "TERM LOAN") heretofore made by the Bank to the Company in 

the original principal sum of $5,000,000. As of the date hereof, the aggregate 

principal amount outstanding on the Term Loan is $4,500,000. 
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      The Term Loan is evidenced by that certain Term Loan Note of the Company 

in the form dated as of September 21, 1994 payable to the Bank's order in the 

face principal amount of $5,000,000 (the "TERM NOTE"). Upon the satisfaction of 

the conditions precedent to effectiveness set forth in Section 6 hereof, (i) all 

references in the Term Note to the Prior Credit Agreement shall be deemed a 

reference to this Agreement and (ii) the Term Note shall be deemed as having 

been issued under this Agreement and shall be subject to the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement. 

 

      The Term Loan shall bear interest (computed on the basis of a year of 360 

days for the actual number of days elapsed) on the unpaid principal amount 

thereof from the date the Term Loan was made until maturity (whether by lapse of 

time, acceleration or otherwise) at the rate per annum equal at all times to 

7.78% and after maturity until paid in full at the rate per annum equal at all 

times to 10.78%. Interest on the Term Loan prior to maturity shall be payable 

quarterly in arrears on the last day of each March, June, September and December 

in each year during which any principal of the Term Loan is outstanding and at 

maturity. Interest after maturity shall be due and payable upon demand. The Term 

Loan shall continue to mature in installments as follows: $1,950,000 on June 21, 

1999; $900,000 on June 20, 2000; $650,000 on each of June 20, 2001 and June 20, 

2002 and with the final installment of all principal and interest not sooner 

paid on the Term Note due on June 20, 2003, the final maturity thereof. 

 

   SECTION 1.3. MANNER AND DISBURSEMENT OF LOANs. The Company shall give written 

or telephonic notice to the Bank (which notice shall be irrevocable once given 

and, if given by telephone, shall be promptly confirmed in writing) by no later 

than 11:00 a.m. (Chicago time) on the date the Company requests the Bank to make 

a Revolving Credit Loan hereunder; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that telephonic notice may 

only be given by a Class A Authorized Representative. Each such notice shall 

specify (i) the date of the Revolving Credit Loan requested (which must be a 

Business Day) and (ii) and the amount of such Revolving Credit Loan. The Company 

agrees that the Bank may rely upon any written or telephonic notice given by any 

person the Bank reasonably and in good faith believes is an Authorized 

Representative without the necessity of independent investigation and, in the 

event any telephonic notice conflicts with the written confirmation, such notice 

shall govern if the Bank has acted in reasonable reliance thereon. Subject to 

the provisions of Section 6 hereof, the proceeds of each Loan shall be made 

available to the Company at the principal office of the Bank in Chicago, 

Illinois, in immediately available funds. Each Revolving Credit Loan shall 

initially constitute part of the Domestic Rate Portion except to the extent the 

Company has otherwise timely elected as provided in Section 2 hereof. 

 

   SECTION 1.4.  LETTERS OF CREDIT. 

 

     (a) GENERAL TERMS. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the 

Revolving Credit Commitment may be availed of by the Company in the form of 

standby letters of credit issued by the Bank for the account of the Company 

(individually a "LETTER OF CREDIT" and collectively the "LETTERS OF CREDIT"), 

provided that the aggregate amount of Letters of Credit (including the Existing 

Letters of Credit) issued and outstanding hereunder shall not at any one time 

exceed $5,000,000. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Existing 

Letters of Credit shall each constitute a "LETTER OF CREDIT" herein for all 

purposes of this Agreement to the same extent, and with the same force and 

effect as if such Letter of Credit had been issued at the request of the  
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Company hereunder. For purposes of this Agreement, a Letter of Credit shall be 

deemed outstanding as of any time in an amount equal to the maximum amount which 

could be drawn thereunder under any circumstances and over any period of time 

plus any unreimbursed drawings then outstanding with respect thereto. If and to 

the extent any Letter of Credit expires or otherwise terminates without having 

been drawn upon, the availability under the Commitment shall to such extent be 

reinstated. The parties acknowledge and agree that the Blue Mountain L/C is not 

a Letter of Credit hereunder. 

 

     (b) TERM. Each Letter of Credit issued hereunder shall expire not later 

than the earlier of (i) twelve (12) months from the date of issuance (or be 

cancelable not later than twelve (12) months from the date of issuance and each 

renewal) or (ii) the Termination Date. 

 

     (c) GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS. Each Letter of Credit issued hereunder shall 

be payable in U.S. Dollars, conform to the general requirements of the Bank for 

the issuance of a standby letter of credit as to form and substance, and be a 

letter of credit which the Bank may lawfully issue. 

 

     (d) APPLICATIONS. At the time the Company requests each Letter of Credit to 

be issued (or prior to the first issuance of a Letter of Credit in the case of a 

continuing application), the Company shall execute and deliver to the Bank an 

application for such Letter of Credit in the form then customarily prescribed by 

the Bank (individually an "APPLICATION" and collectively the "APPLICATIONS"). 

Subject to the other provisions of this subsection, the obligation of the 

Company to reimburse the Bank for drawings under a Letter of Credit shall be 

governed by the Application for such Letter of Credit. In the event a drawing is 

paid on a Letter of Credit and the Company has not notified the Bank by 11:00 

a.m. (Chicago time) on the date when such drawing is paid that the Company 

intends to repay such reimbursement obligation with funds not borrowed under 

this Agreement, the Company shall be deemed to have irrevocably requested a 

Revolving Credit Loan constituting a Domestic Rate Portion on such day in the 

amount of the reimbursement obligation then due, in each case subject to Section 

6.1 hereof (other than the requirement that a Revolving Credit Loan be in a 

certain minimum amount), which new Revolving Credit Loan shall be applied to pay 

the reimbursement obligation then due. Anything contained in the Applications to 

the contrary notwithstanding, (i) in the event the Bank is not reimbursed by the 

Company (whether out of the proceeds of such a Revolving Credit Loan or 

otherwise) for the amount the Bank pays on any draft drawn under a Letter of 

Credit issued hereunder by 2:00 p.m. (Chicago time) on the date when such 

drawing is paid, the obligation of the Company to reimburse the Bank for the 

amount of such draft paid shall bear interest (which the Company hereby promises 

to pay on demand) from and after the date the draft is paid until payment in 

full thereof at the fluctuating rate per annum determined by adding 2% to the 

Domestic Rate as from time to time in effect (computed on the basis of a year of 

365 or 366 days, as the case may be, for the actual number of days elapsed), 

(ii) the Company shall pay fees in connection with each Letter of Credit as set 

forth in Section 3 hereof, and (iii) prior to the occurrence of an Event of 

Default the Bank will not call for the funding of a Letter of Credit by the 

Company prior to being presented with a draft drawn thereunder (or, in the event 

the draft is a time draft, prior to its due date). 

 

   SECTION 1.5. GUARANTIES FROM DOMESTIC SUBSIDIARIES . Payment of the 

Obligations shall at all times be jointly and severally guaranteed by each 

Domestic Subsidiary pursuant hereto or 

 

                                      -3- 

 



 50 

 

pursuant to a Guaranty issued by such Domestic Subsidiary; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, 

that no such guaranty shall be required from any Domestic Subsidiary which is an 

Inactive Subsidiary. In the event any Domestic Subsidiary is hereafter acquired 

or formed or any previously Inactive Domestic Subsidiary ceases to be Inactive, 

the Company shall also cause such Domestic Subsidiary to execute a Guaranty, 

together with such other instruments, documents, certificates and opinions 

required by the Bank in connection therewith. 

 

SECTION 2.     INTEREST ON LOANS AND CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES. 

 

   SECTION 2.1. INTEREST RATE OPTIONS ON REVOLVING CREDIT LOANS. (a) Subject to 

all of the terms and conditions of this Section 2, portions of the principal 

indebtedness evidenced by the Revolving Credit Note (all of the indebtedness 

evidenced by the Revolving Credit Note bearing interest at the same rate for the 

same period of time being hereinafter referred to as a "PORTION") may, at the 

option of the Company, bear interest with reference to the Domestic Rate (the 

"DOMESTIC RATE PORTION") or with reference to an Adjusted LIBOR ("LIBOR 

PORTIONS") or with reference to an Offered Rate ("OFFERED RATE PORTIONS"), and 

Portions may be converted from time to time from one basis to the other. All of 

the indebtedness evidenced by the Revolving Credit Note which is not part of a 

Fixed Rate Portion shall constitute a single Domestic Rate Portion. All of the 

indebtedness evidenced by the Revolving Credit Note which bears interest with 

reference to a particular Adjusted LIBOR for a particular Interest Period shall 

constitute a single LIBOR Portion. All of the indebtedness evidenced by the 

Revolving Credit Note which bears interest with reference to a particular 

Offered Rate for a particular Interest Period shall constitute a single Offered 

Rate Portion. There shall not be more than ten (10) Fixed Rate Portions 

applicable to the Revolving Credit Note outstanding at any one time. Anything 

contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the obligation of the Bank to 

create, continue or effect by conversion any Fixed Rate Portion shall be 

conditioned upon the fact that at the time no Default or Event of Default shall 

have occurred and be continuing. The Company hereby promises to pay interest on 

each Portion at the rates and times specified in this Section 2. 

 

     (b) DOMESTIC RATE PORTION. The Domestic Rate Portion shall bear interest at 

the rate per annum determined by adding the Applicable Margin to the Domestic 

Rate as in effect from time to time, provided that if the Domestic Rate Portion 

or any part thereof is not paid when due (whether by lapse of time, acceleration 

or otherwise) such Portion shall bear interest, whether before or after 

judgment, until payment in full thereof at the rate per annum determined by 

adding 2% to the interest rate which would otherwise be applicable thereto from 

time to time. Interest on the Domestic Rate Portion shall be payable 

quarter-annually on the last day of each March, June, September and December, in 

each year (commencing March 31, 1999) and at maturity of the Revolving Credit 

Note and interest after maturity (whether by lapse of time, acceleration or 

otherwise) shall be due and payable upon demand. Any change in the interest rate 

on the Domestic Rate Portion resulting from a change in the Domestic Rate shall 

be effective on the date of the relevant change in the Domestic Rate. 

 

     (c) LIBOR PORTIONS. Each LIBOR Portion shall bear interest for each 

Interest Period selected therefor at a rate per annum determined by adding the 

Applicable Margin to the Adjusted LIBOR for such Interest Period, provided that 

if any LIBOR Portion is not paid when due (whether by lapse of time, 

acceleration or otherwise) such Portion shall bear interest, 
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whether before or after judgment, until payment in full thereof through the end 

of the Interest Period then applicable thereto at the rate per annum determined 

by adding 2% to the interest rate which would otherwise be applicable thereto, 

and effective at the end of such Interest Period such LIBOR Portion shall 

automatically be converted into and added to the Domestic Rate Portion and shall 

thereafter bear interest at the interest rate applicable to the Domestic Rate 

Portion after default. Interest on each LIBOR Portion shall be due and payable 

on the last day of each Interest Period applicable thereto and, with respect to 

any Interest Period applicable to a LIBOR Portion in excess of three (3) months, 

on the date occurring every three (3) months after the date such Interest Period 

began and at the end of such Interest Period, and interest after maturity 

(whether by lapse of time, acceleration or otherwise) shall be due and payable 

upon demand. The Company shall notify the Bank on or before 11:00 a.m. (Chicago 

time) on the third Business Day preceding the end of an Interest Period 

applicable to a LIBOR Portion whether such LIBOR Portion is to continue as a 

LIBOR Portion, in which event the Company shall notify the Bank of the new 

Interest Period selected therefor, and in the event the Company shall fail to so 

notify the Bank, such LIBOR Portion shall automatically be converted into and 

added to the Domestic Rate Portion as of and on the last day of such Interest 

Period. 

 

     (d) OFFERED RATE PORTIONS. Each Offered Rate Portion shall bear interest 

for the Interest Period selected therefor at the Offered Rate for such Interest 

Period, provided that if such Offered Rate Portion is not paid when due (whether 

by lapse of time, acceleration or otherwise) such Portion shall bear interest, 

whether before or after judgment, until payment in full thereof through the end 

of the Interest Period then applicable thereto at the rate per annum determined 

by adding 2% to the interest rate which would otherwise be applicable thereto 

and effective at the end of such Interest Period such Offered Rate Portion shall 

automatically be converted into and added to the Domestic Rate Portion and shall 

thereafter bear interest at the interest rate applicable to the Domestic Rate 

Portion after default. Interest on each Offered Rate Portion shall be due and 

payable on the last day of each Interest Period applicable thereto, and interest 

after maturity (whether by lapse of time, acceleration or otherwise) shall be 

due and payable upon demand. The Company shall notify the Bank by 11:00 a.m. 

(Chicago time) on the Business Day on which the Company requests that any 

Offered Rate Portion be created or that any part of the Domestic Rate Portion or 

any part of a LIBOR Portion be converted into an Offered Rate Portion (each such 

notice to specify in each instance the amount thereof and the Interest Period 

selected therefor). Upon receipt of notice from the Bank of the Company's 

request that an Offered Rate Portion be created or effected by conversion, the 

Bank shall in its discretion quote an interest rate to the Company at which the 

Bank would be willing to make the Offered Rate Portion available to the Company 

for such Interest Period. The Company understands and agrees that (i) the Bank 

has no obligation to quote Offered Rates or to make any Offered Rate Portion 

available to the Company, (ii) that the Bank may refuse to make any such Offered 

Rate Portion available to the Company after receiving a request therefor from 

the Company and (iii) that any such Offered Rate Portion made available to the 

Company shall be subject to such other terms and conditions as are mutually 

agreed upon by the Company and the Bank. If the Company accepts the Offered Rate 

so quoted by the Bank, then the Company shall be irrevocably committed to take 

the Offered Rate Portion on the date, in the amount and for the Interest Period 

requested by the Company and at the Offered Rate quoted by the Bank. The Company 

acknowledges and agrees that each interest rate quote is given for immediate 

acceptance, and if the Company does not so immediately accept the Offered Rate 

quoted on the terms and conditions specified by the Bank 
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and in the amount and for the Interest Period requested by the Company, the 

offer to make such Offered Rate Portion shall be deemed immediately withdrawn 

and such Offered Rate Portion not created or effected by conversion, as the case 

may be. 

 

   SECTION 2.2.  MINIMUM AMOUNTS; COMPUTATION OF INTEREST. 

 

     (a) MINIMUM AMOUNTS. Each LIBOR Portion shall be in an amount equal to 

$500,000 or such greater amount which is an integral multiple of $50,000. Each 

Offered Rate Portion shall be in an amount equal to $500,000 or such greater 

amount which is an integral multiple of $50,000. 

 

     (b) COMPUTATION OF INTEREST. All interest on each Fixed Rate Portion and 

the Letter of Credit fees shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days 

for the actual number of days elapsed. All interest on the Domestic Rate Portion 

and the commitment fee shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365 or 366 

days, as the case may be, for the actual number of days elapsed. 

 

   SECTION 2.3. MANNER OF RATE SELECTION. The Company shall notify the Bank by 

(i) 11:00 a.m. (Chicago time) at least three (3) Business Days prior to the date 

upon which the Company requests that any LIBOR Portion be created or that any 

part of the Domestic Rate Portion or any part of an Offered Rate Portion be 

converted into a LIBOR Portion (each such notice to specify in each instance the 

amount thereof and the Interest Period selected therefor) and (ii) 11:00 a.m. 

(Chicago time) at least one (1) Business Day prior to the date upon which the 

Company requests that any Offered Rate Portion be created or that any part of 

the Domestic Rate Portion or any part of a LIBOR Portion be converted into an 

Offered Rate Portion (each such notice to specify in each instance the amount 

thereof and the Interest Period selected therefor). If any request is made to 

convert a Fixed Rate Portion into the Domestic Rate Portion, such conversion 

shall only be made so as to become effective as of the last day of the Interest 

Period applicable thereto. All requests for the creation, continuance and 

conversion of Portions under this Agreement shall be irrevocable. Such requests 

may be written or oral and the Bank is hereby authorized to honor telephonic 

requests for creations, continuances and conversions received by it from any 

person the Bank reasonably and in good faith believes to be a Class A Authorized 

Representative without the need of independent investigation, the Company hereby 

indemnifying the Bank from any liability or loss ensuing from so acting. 

 

   SECTION 2.4. CHANGE OF LAW. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this 

Agreement or the Revolving Credit Note, if at any time the Bank shall determine 

reasonably and in good faith that any change in applicable laws, treaties or 

regulations or in the interpretation thereof makes it unlawful for the Bank to 

create or continue to maintain any Fixed Rate Portion, it shall promptly so 

notify the Company and the obligation of the Bank to create, continue or 

maintain any such Fixed Rate Portion under this Agreement shall terminate until 

it is no longer unlawful for the Bank to create, continue or maintain such Fixed 

Rate Portion. The Company, on demand, shall, if the continued maintenance of any 

such Fixed Rate Portion is unlawful, thereupon prepay the outstanding principal 

amount of the affected Fixed Rate Portion, together with all interest accrued 

thereon and all other amounts payable to the Bank with respect thereto under 

this Agreement; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the Company may elect to convert the 

principal amount of 
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the affected Fixed Rate Portion into the Domestic Rate Portion, subject to the 

terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

   SECTION 2.5. UNAVAILABILITY OF DEPOSITS OR INABILITY TO ASCERTAIN ADJUSTED 

LIBOR. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or the Revolving 

Credit Note, if prior to the commencement of any Interest Period, the Bank shall 

determine reasonably and in good faith that deposits in the amount of any LIBOR 

Portion scheduled to be outstanding during such Interest Period are not readily 

available to the Bank in the interbank eurodollar market or, by reason of 

circumstances affecting the interbank eurodollar market, adequate and reasonable 

means do not exist for ascertaining Adjusted LIBOR, then the Bank shall promptly 

give notice thereof to the Company and the obligations of the Bank to create, 

continue or effect by conversion any such LIBOR Portion in such amount and for 

such Interest Period shall terminate until deposits in such amount and for the 

Interest Period selected by the Company shall again be readily available in the 

interbank eurodollar market and adequate and reasonable means exist for 

ascertaining Adjusted LIBOR. 

 

   SECTION 2.6. TAXES AND INCREASED COSTS. With respect to any Fixed Rate 

Portion, if the Bank shall determine in good faith that any change in any 

applicable law, treaty, regulation or guideline (including, without limitation, 

Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System) or any new 

law, treaty, regulation or guideline, or any interpretation of any of the 

foregoing by any governmental authority charged with the administration thereof 

or any central bank or other fiscal, monetary or other authority having 

jurisdiction over the Bank or its lending branch or the Fixed Rate Portions 

contemplated by this Agreement (whether or not having the force of law), shall: 

 

            (i) impose, increase, or deem applicable any reserve, special 

      deposit or similar requirement against assets held by, or deposits in or 

      for the account of, or loans by, or any other acquisition of funds or 

      disbursements by, the Bank which is not in any instance already accounted 

      for in computing the interest rate applicable to such Fixed Rate Portion; 

 

           (ii) subject the Bank, any Fixed Rate Portion or the Revolving Credit 

      Note to the extent it evidences such a Portion to any tax (including, 

      without limitation, any United States interest equalization tax or similar 

      tax however named applicable to the acquisition or holding of debt 

      obligations and any interest or penalties with respect thereto), duty, 

      charge, stamp tax, fee, deduction or withholding in respect of this 

      Agreement, any Fixed Rate Portion or the Revolving Credit Note to the 

      extent it evidences such a Portion, except such taxes as may be measured 

      by the overall net income or gross receipts of the Bank or its lending 

      branches and imposed by the jurisdiction, or any political subdivision or 

      taxing authority thereof, in which the Bank's principal executive office 

      or its lending branch is located; 

 

          (iii) change the basis of taxation of payments of principal and 

      interest due from the Company to the Bank hereunder or under the Revolving 

      Credit Note to the extent it evidences any Fixed Rate Portion (other than 

      by a change in taxation of the overall net income or gross receipts of the 

      Bank); or 
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           (iv) impose on the Bank any penalty with respect to the foregoing or 

      any other condition regarding this Agreement, its disbursement, any Fixed 

      Rate Portion or the Revolving Credit Note to the extent it evidences any 

      Fixed Rate Portion; 

 

and the Bank shall determine reasonably and in good faith that the result of any 

of the foregoing is to increase the cost (whether by incurring a cost or adding 

to a cost) to the Bank of creating or maintaining any Fixed Rate Portion 

hereunder or to reduce the amount of principal or interest received or 

receivable by the Bank (without benefit of, or credit for, any prorations, 

exemption, credits or other offsets available under any such laws, treaties, 

regulations, guidelines or interpretations thereof), then the Company shall pay 

on demand to the Bank from time to time as specified by the Bank such additional 

amounts as are sufficient to compensate and indemnify it for such increased cost 

or reduced amount. If the Bank makes such a claim for compensation, it shall 

provide to the Company a certificate setting forth the computation of the 

increased cost or reduced amount as a result of any event mentioned herein in 

reasonable detail and such certificate shall be PRIMA FACIE correct. 

 

   SECTION 2.7. FUNDING INDEMNITY. (a) In the event the Bank shall incur any 

loss, cost or expense (including, without limitation, any loss (including loss 

of profit), cost or expense incurred by reason of the liquidation or 

reemployment of deposits or other funds acquired or contracted to be acquired by 

the Bank to fund or maintain the Term Loan or any Fixed Rate Portion or the 

relending or reinvesting of such deposits or other funds or amounts paid or 

prepaid to the Bank) as a result of: 

 

            (i) any payment of a Fixed Rate Portion on a date other than the 

      last day of the then applicable Interest Period for any reason, whether 

      before or after default, and whether or not such payment is required by 

      any provisions of this Agreement, but in any event excluding such a 

      payment to the extent required by Section 2.4 hereof; or 

 

           (ii) any payment of the Term Loan on a date other than on the date 

      scheduled (without giving effect to any acceleration) for such payment, 

      whether before or after default, and whether or not such payment is 

      required by any provisions of this Agreement; or 

 

          (iii) any failure by the Company to create, borrow, continue or effect 

      by conversion a Fixed Rate Portion on the date specified in a notice given 

      pursuant to this Agreement unless such failure results from the Bank's 

      inability or unwillingness pursuant to Sections 2.4 or 2.5 hereof to 

      create, continue or effect by conversion such Fixed Rate Portions; 

 

then upon the demand of the Bank, the Company shall pay to the Bank such amount 

as will reimburse the Bank for such loss, cost or expense. If the Bank requests 

such a reimbursement, it shall provide to the Company a certificate setting 

forth the computation of the loss, cost or expense giving rise to the request 

for reimbursement in reasonable detail and such certificate shall be PRIMA FACIE 

correct. 

 

                                      -8- 

 



 55 

 

     (b) If the Company prepays any principal amount of the Term Loan or any 

Offered Rate Portion before its scheduled due date (whether as the result of an 

acceleration, voluntary prepayment, or otherwise), the Bank may elect, at its 

option, the remedy specified in subsection (a) above or may demand payment of, 

and in such event the Company shall pay to the Bank, a funding indemnity equal 

to the cost to the Bank of then acquiring an interest rate swap agreement (or an 

equivalent instrument or instruments) with another interest rate swap dealer of 

the highest credit standing in a notional principal amount equal to the amount 

of such prepayment (including any scheduled amortization of such amount) to the 

scheduled due date of such prepaid principal amount under which the Bank would 

pay quarter-annually a floating rate of interest based upon three month LIBOR 

and such other dealer would pay to the Bank on the regularly scheduled interest 

payment dates for the Term Loan or such Offered Rate Portion, as the case may 

be, a fixed rate of interest equal to the interest rate on the Term Loan or such 

Offered Rate Portion, as the case may be. 

 

   SECTION 2.8. LENDING BRANCH. The Bank may, at its option, elect to make, fund 

or maintain Portions of the Revolving Credit Loans hereunder at such of its 

branches or offices as the Bank may from time to time elect. To the extent 

reasonably possible, the Bank shall designate an alternate branch or funding 

office with respect to the Fixed Rate Portions to reduce any liability of the 

Company to the Bank under Section 2.6 hereof or to avoid the unavailability of 

an interest rate option under Section 2.5 hereof, so long as such designation is 

not otherwise disadvantageous to the Bank. 

 

   SECTION 2.9. DISCRETION OF BANK AS TO MANNER OF FUNDING. Notwithstanding any 

provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the Bank shall be entitled to fund 

and maintain its funding of all or any part of the Revolving Credit Note in any 

manner it sees fit, it being understood, however, that for the purposes of this 

Agreement all determinations hereunder (including, without limitation, 

determinations under Sections 2.5, 2.6 and 2.7 hereof) shall be made as if the 

Bank had actually funded and maintained each Fixed Rate Portion during each 

Interest Period applicable thereto through the purchase of deposits in the 

interbank eurodollar market in the amount of such Fixed Rate Portion, having a 

maturity corresponding to such Interest Period, and, in the case of any LIBOR 

bearing an interest rate equal to the LIBOR for such Interest Period. 

 

SECTION 3.     FEES, PREPAYMENTS, PORTION, TERMINATIONS, EXTENSIONS, 

               APPLICATIONS AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY. 

 

   SECTION 3.1.  FEES. 

 

     (a) COMMITMENT FEES. For the period from and including the date hereof to 

but not including the Termination Date, the Company shall pay to the Bank a 

commitment fee at the rate per annum equal to the Applicable Margin for the 

commitment fee as from time to time in effect on the average daily unused 

portion of the Revolving Credit Commitment. Such commitment fee shall be payable 

quarterly in arrears on the last Business Day of each July, October, January and 

April in each year (commencing April 30, 1999) and on the Termination Date. 
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     (b) LETTER OF CREDIT FEES. On April 30, 1999 and on the last Business Day 

of each July, October, January and April thereafter to and including, and on, 

the Termination Date, the Company shall pay to the Bank a fee at a rate per 

annum equal to the Applicable Margin for Letter of Credit fees in effect as of 

the time such fee is payable, on the average daily outstanding amounts during 

the preceding quarter of the Letters of Credit which are standby letters of 

credit. 

 

     (c) LETTER OF CREDIT TRANSACTION CHARGES. In addition to the Letter of 

Credit fees called for by Section 3.1(b) hereof, the Company further agrees to 

pay to the Bank such issuing, processing and transaction fees and charges as the 

Bank from time to time customarily imposes in connection with the issuance, 

negotiation and payment of Letters of Credit and the drafts drawn thereunder. 

 

   SECTION 3.2. VOLUNTARY PREPAYMENTS. (a) TERM LOAN. Subject to the further 

provisions of this Section 3.2, the Company shall have the privilege of 

prepaying the Term Loan in whole or in part (but, if in part, then in an amount 

not less than $1,000,000 and in an integral multiple of $50,000) at any time. 

Such prepayment shall be made only upon prior notice from the Company to the 

Bank no later than 11:30 a.m. (Chicago time) three Business Days prior to such 

prepayment (such notice of prepayment, if received subsequent to 11:30 a.m. 

(Chicago time) on a given day, to be treated as the received of the opening of 

business on the next Business Day). Such prepayment of the Term Loan shall be 

effected by the Company paying to the Bank the principal amount to be repaid and 

any amounts owing pursuant to Section 2.7 hereof, and if such prepayment prepays 

the Term Loan in full, all accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for 

prepayment. 

 

     (b) DOMESTIC RATE PORTIONS. The Company shall have the privilege of 

prepaying without premium or penalty and in whole or in part (but if in part, 

then in an amount not less than $500,000 or such greater amount which is an 

integral multiple of $50,000) the Domestic Rate Portion of the Revolving Credit 

Note at any time upon notice to the Bank prior to 11:00 a.m. (Chicago time) on 

the date fixed for prepayment, each such prepayment to be made by the payment of 

the principal amount to be prepaid and accrued interest thereon to the date of 

prepayment. 

 

     (c) LIBOR PORTION. Except as otherwise required by Section 2.4 hereof, the 

Company may prepay any LIBOR Portion of the Revolving Credit Note only on the 

last date of the then applicable Interest Period, in whole or in part (but if in 

part, then in an amount not less than $500,000 or such greater amount which is 

an integral multiple of $50,000), upon three (3) Business Days' prior notice to 

the Bank (which notice shall be irrevocable once given, must be received by the 

Bank no later than 11:00 a.m. (Chicago time) on the third Business Day preceding 

the date of such prepayment, and shall specify the principal amount to be 

repaid); PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the outstanding principal amount of any LIBOR 

Portion of the Revolving Credit Note prepaid in part shall not be less than 

$500,000 or such greater amount which is an integral multiple of $50,000 after 

giving effect to such prepayment. Any such prepayment shall be effected by 

payment of the principal amount to be prepaid and accrued interest thereon to 

the end of the applicable Interest Period. 
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     (d) OFFERED RATE PORTION. Subject to the further provisions of this Section 

3.2, the Company shall have the privilege of prepaying the Offered Rate Portion 

of the Revolving Credit Notes in whole or in part (but, if in part, then in an 

amount not less than $500,000 and in an integral multiple of $500,000 and such 

that the minimum amount required for an Offered Rate Portion pursuant to Section 

2.2(a) hereof remains outstanding) at any time. Such prepayment shall be made 

only upon prior notice from the Company to the Bank no later than 11:30 a.m. 

(Chicago time) three Business Days prior to such prepayment (such notice of 

prepayment, if received subsequent to 11:30 a.m. (Chicago time) on a given day, 

to be treated as the received of the opening of business on the next Business 

Day). Such prepayment of an Offered Rate Portion shall be effected by the 

Company paying to the Bank the principal amount to be repaid and any amounts 

owing pursuant to Section 2.7 hereof, and if such prepayment prepays the 

Revolving Credit Notes in full, all accrued interest thereon to the date fixed 

for prepayment. 

 

   SECTION 3.3. MANDATORY PREPAYMENT. If, within sixty (60) days after receiving 

notice under Section 7.5(e) of a Change of Control Event, the Bank notifies the 

Company that the Bank requires prepayment of the Notes, on the date set forth in 

such notice (which date shall be no earlier than (x) thirty (30) days after such 

notice is given or (y) the day on which the Company or any Subsidiary repays any 

other Consolidated Total Debt for Borrowed Money aggregating $1,000,000 or more 

before its original scheduled due date or (z) the occurrence of such Change of 

Control Event, whichever day is earlier), the Company shall pay in full all 

Obligations then outstanding, including the prepayment of the Letters of Credit 

in the manner contemplated by Section 8.4 hereof, and the Revolving Credit 

Commitment shall terminate in full. 

 

   SECTION 3.4. TERMINATIONS. The Company shall have the right at any time and 

from time to time, upon three (3) Business Days' prior notice to the Bank, to 

terminate without premium or penalty and in whole or in part (but if in part, 

then in an amount not less than $500,000) the Revolving Credit Commitment, 

provided that the Revolving Credit Commitment may not be reduced to an amount 

less than the aggregate principal amount of the Revolving Credit Loans and 

Letters of Credit then outstanding. Partial terminations of the Revolving Credit 

Commitment hereunder shall not reduce the maximum amount of Letters of Credit 

permitted under Section 1.4(a) hereof unless and until the Revolving Credit 

Commitment has been reduced to an amount less than $5,000,000, in which event 

such maximum amount of Letters of Credit shall be equal to the Revolving Credit 

Commitment. Any termination of the Revolving Credit Commitment pursuant to this 

Section may not be reinstated. 

 

   SECTION 3.5. PLACE AND APPLICATION OF PAYMENTS. All payments of principal, 

interest, fees and all other Obligations payable hereunder and under the other 

Loan Documents shall be made to the Bank at its office at 111 West Monroe 

Street, Chicago, Illinois (or at such other place as the Bank may specify) no 

later than 2:00 p.m. (Chicago time) on the date any such payment is due and 

payable. Payments received by the Bank after 2:00 p.m. (Chicago time) shall be 

deemed received as of the opening of business on the next Business Day. All such 

payments shall be made in lawful money of the United States of America, in 

immediately available funds at the place of payment, without setoff or 

counterclaim and without reduction for, any and all present or future taxes, 

levies, imposts, duties, fees, charges, deductions, withholdings, restrictions 

and conditions of any nature imposed by any government or any political 

subdivision or taxing authority thereof (but excluding any taxes imposed on or 

measured by the net income 
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or gross receipts of the Bank). Unless the Company otherwise directs, except 

during the continuance of any Event of Default, principal payments shall be 

first applied to the Term Note until payment in full thereof, then to the 

Domestic Rate Portion of the Revolving Credit Note until payment in full 

thereof, with any balance applied to the Fixed Rate Portions of the Revolving 

Credit Note in the order in which their Interest Periods expire. All payments on 

any Note (whether voluntary or required) shall be accompanied by any amount due 

the Bank under Section 2.7 hereof, but no acceptance of such a payment without 

requiring payment of amounts due under Section 2.7 shall preclude a later demand 

by the Bank for any amount due it under Section 2.7 in respect of such payment. 

Any amount paid or prepaid on the Revolving Credit Note may, subject to all of 

the terms and conditions hereof, be borrowed, repaid and borrowed again. No 

amount paid or prepaid on the Term Note may be reborrowed. All prepayments on 

the Term Note shall be applied to the several installments thereof in the order 

of their maturity. 

 

   SECTION 3.6. NOTATIONS. All Loans made against the Notes, the status of all 

amounts evidenced by the Revolving Credit Note as constituting part of the 

Domestic Rate Portion or a LIBOR Portion or an Offered Rate Portion, and in the 

case of any Fixed Rate Portion, the rates of interest and Interest Periods 

applicable thereto shall be recorded by the Bank on its books and records or, at 

its option in any instance, endorsed on a schedule to the Notes and the unpaid 

principal balance and status, rates and Interest Periods so recorded or endorsed 

by the Bank shall be evidence in any court or other proceeding brought to 

enforce the Notes of the principal amount remaining unpaid thereon, the status 

of the Loans evidenced thereby and the interest rates and Interest Periods 

applicable thereto; provided that the failure of the Bank to record any of the 

foregoing shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligation of the Company to 

repay the principal amount of such Note together with accrued interest thereon. 

Prior to any negotiation of the Revolving Credit Note, the Bank shall record on 

a schedule thereto the status of all amounts evidenced thereby as constituting 

part of the Domestic Rate Portion or a LIBOR Portion or an Offered Rate Portion, 

and in the case of any Fixed Rate Portion, the rates of interest and the 

Interest Periods applicable thereto. 

 

   SECTION 3.7. CHANGE IN CAPITAL ADEQUACY REQUIREMENTS. If the Bank shall 

determine that the adoption after the date hereof of any applicable law, rule or 

regulation regarding capital adequacy of banks generally, or any change in any 

existing law, rule or regulation, or any change in the interpretation or 

administration thereof by any governmental authority, central bank or comparable 

agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance 

by the Bank (or any of its branches) with any request or directive regarding 

capital adequacy of banks generally (whether or not having the force of law) of 

any such authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or would have the 

effect of reducing the rate of return on the Revolving Credit or on the Bank's 

capital as a consequence of its obligations hereunder with respect to the 

Revolving Credit to a level below that which the Bank could have achieved but 

for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into consideration the Bank's 

policies with respect to liquidity and capital adequacy) by an amount deemed by 

the Bank to be material, then from time to time, within fifteen (15) days after 

demand by the Bank, the Company shall pay to the Bank such additional amount or 

amounts reasonably determined by the Bank as will compensate the Bank for such 

reduction. 
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SECTION 4.     DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION. 

 

   SECTION 4.1.  DEFINITIONS.  The  following  terms  when used  herein  shall 

have the following meanings: 

 

      "1994 CREDIT AGREEMENT" means the Credit Agreement by and between the 

Company and the Bank dated as of September 21, 1994, as heretofore amended. 

 

      "ACQUISITION" means (i) the acquisition of all or any substantial part of 

the assets, property or business of any other person, firm or corporation or 

(ii) any acquisition of a majority of the common stock or other equity 

securities of any firm or corporation. 

 

      "ADJUSTED LIBOR" means a rate per annum determined by the Bank in 

accordance with the following formula: 

 

            Adjusted LIBOR =              LIBOR       

                                   -----------------------     

                                   100%-Reserve Percentage 

 

"RESERVE PERCENTAGE" means, for the purpose of computing Adjusted LIBOR, the 

maximum rate of all reserve requirements (including, without limitation, any 

marginal, emergency, supplemental or other special reserves) imposed by the 

Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor) under 

Regulation D on Eurocurrency liabilities (as such term is defined in Regulation 

D) for the applicable Interest Period as of the first day of such Interest 

Period, but subject to any amendments to such reserve requirement by such Board 

or its successor, and taking into account any transitional adjustments thereto 

becoming effective during such Interest Period. For purposes of this definition, 

LIBOR Portions shall be deemed to be Eurocurrency liabilities as defined in 

Regulation D without benefit of or credit for prorations, exemptions or offsets 

under Regulation D. "LIBOR" means, for each Interest Period, (a) the LIBOR Index 

Rate for such Interest Period, if such rate is available, and (b) if the LIBOR 

Index Rate cannot be determined, the arithmetic average of the rate of interest 

per annum (rounded upward, if necessary, to the nearest 1/100th of 1%) at which 

deposits in U.S. Dollars in immediately available funds are offered to the Bank 

at 11:00 a.m. (London, England time) two Business Days before the beginning of 

such Interest Period by major banks in the interbank eurodollar market for a 

period equal to such Interest Period and in an amount equal or comparable to the 

applicable LIBOR Portion scheduled to be outstanding from the Bank during such 

Interest Period. "LIBOR INDEX RATE" means, for any Interest Period, the rate per 

annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next higher one hundred-thousandth 

of a percentage point) for deposits in U.S. Dollars for a period equal to such 

Interest Period, which appears on the Telerate Page 3750 as of 11:00 (London, 

England time) on the day two Business Days before the commencement of such 

Interest Period. "TELERATE PAGE 3750" means the display designated as "PAGE 

3750" on the Telerate Service (or such other page as may replace Page 3750 on 

that service or such other service as may be nominated by the British Bankers' 

Association as the information vendor for the purpose of displaying British 

Bankers' Association Interest Settlement Rates for U.S. Dollar deposits). Each 

determination of LIBOR made by the Bank shall be conclusive and binding absent 

manifest error. 
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      "AFFILIATE" means any Person directly or indirectly controlling or 

controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, another Person. 

A Person shall be deemed to control another Person for purposes of this 

definition if such Person possesses, directly or indirectly, the power to 

direct, or cause the direction of, the management and policies of the other 

Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, common directors, 

trustees or officers, by contract or otherwise. 

 

      "AGGREGATE CUMULATIVE AMOUNT" shall mean as of any time, (a) with respect 

to Net Income, the sum of the amounts (with one separate amount to be computed 

for each Defaulting Insignificant Subsidiary and such amounts then added 

together to produce such sum) equal (for each such Defaulting Insignificant 

Subsidiary) to the Net Income attributable to such Defaulting Insignificant 

Subsidiary for the fiscal year of the Company immediately preceding the fiscal 

year in which such Defaulting Insignificant Subsidiary first became a Defaulting 

Insignificant Subsidiary and (b) with respect to Consolidated Total Assets, the 

sum of the amounts (with one separate amount to be computed for each Defaulting 

Insignificant Subsidiary and such amounts then added together to produce such 

sum) equal (for each such Defaulting Insignificant Subsidiary) to the 

Consolidated Total Assets attributable to such Defaulting Insignificant 

Subsidiary as of the close of the fiscal year of the Company immediately 

preceding the fiscal year in which such Defaulting Insignificant Subsidiary 

first became a Defaulting Insignificant Subsidiary. 

 

      "AGREEMENT" means this Credit Agreement, as the same may be amended, 

modified or restated from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof. 

 

      "APPLICABLE MARGIN" means, with respect to the Domestic Rate Portion, 

LIBOR Portions, the commitment fee payable under Section 3.1(a) hereof and the 

letter of credit fee payable under Section 3.1(b) hereof shall mean the rate 

specified for such Obligation below, subject to semi-annual adjustment as 

hereinafter provided: 

 

 

 

 When Following    Applicable                                        Applicable 

  Status Exists    Margin For   Applicable Margin    Applicable      Margin For 

 For any Margin     Domestic        For LIBOR         Margin         Letter of 

  Determination   Rate Portion      Portions       For Commitment      Credit 

      Date             Is:             Is:            Fee Is:          Fee Is: 

                                                          

Level I Status        0.0%            0.50%            0.15%            0.50% 

 

Level II Status       0.0%            0.625%           0.20%            0.625% 

 

Level III Status      0.0%            0.875%           0.25%            0.875% 

 

Level IV Status       0.25%           1.125%           0.30%            1.125% 

 

 

provided, however, that all of the foregoing is subject to the following: 

 

            (i) the initial Applicable Margin in effect through the first Margin 

      Determination Date shall be the Applicable Margin for Level II Status; 
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           (ii) on or before the date that is five (5) Business Days after the 

      latest date by which the Company is required to deliver a Compliance 

      Certificate to the Bank pursuant to Section 8.5 hereof for the second and 

      fourth fiscal quarters of the Company (such date that is five (5) Business 

      Days after the latest date by which the Company is required to deliver a 

      Compliance Certificate to the Bank for such a fiscal quarter being herein 

      referred to as the "MARGIN DETERMINATION DATE" for such fiscal quarter) 

      (commencing with the fiscal quarter ending on or about January 31, 1999), 

      the Bank shall determine whether Level I Status, Level II Status, Level 

      III Status or Level IV Status exists as of the close of the applicable 

      quarterly accounting period, based upon the Compliance Certificate and 

      financial statements delivered to the Bank under Section 7.5 hereof for 

      such accounting period, and shall promptly notify the Company of such 

      determination and of any change in the Applicable Margin resulting 

      therefrom. Any such change in the Applicable Margin shall be effective as 

      of the related Margin Determination Date, with such new Applicable Margin 

      to continue in effect (subject to interim adjustment in the events and 

      with the effects set forth in the immediately following clause(iii)) until 

      the next Margin Determination Date; 

 

          (iii) if the Company has not delivered a Compliance Certificate by the 

      date such Compliance Certificate is required to be delivered under Section 

      7.5 hereof for a given Margin Determination Date (a "LATE COMPLIANCE 

      CERTIFICATE"), the Applicable Margin shall be the Applicable Margin for 

      Level IV Status unless and until a Compliance Certificate is delivered for 

      the next Margin Determination Date; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that if the Company 

      subsequently delivers the Late Compliance Certificate before such next 

      Margin Determination Date, the Applicable Margin shall be established by 

      such Late Compliance Certificate, shall take effect from the date of such 

      late delivery and shall remain effective until such next Margin 

      Determination Date; and 

 

           (iv) if and so long as any Event of Default has occurred and is 

      continuing hereunder, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the 

      Applicable Margin shall be the Applicable Margin for Level IV Status. 

 

      "APPLICATION" is defined in Section 1.4 hereof. 

 

      "AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE" means those persons identified as either a 

Class A Authorized Representative or a Class B Authorized Representative. 

 

      "BANK" is defined in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

 

      "BLUE MOUNTAIN L/C" shall mean that certain standby letter of credit 

issued by the Bank to The First National Bank of Chicago dated November 11, 1988 

in the original face amount of $2,634,590, as the same may from time to time be 

modified or amended. 

 

      "BUSINESS DAY" means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday on which the 

Bank is not authorized or required to close in Chicago, Illinois and, when used 

with respect to LIBOR Portions, a day on which the Bank is also dealing in 

United States Dollar deposits in London, England and Nassau, Bahamas. 
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      "CAPITAL LEASE" means any lease of Property which in accordance with GAAP 

is required to be capitalized on the balance sheet of the lessee. 

 

      "CAPITALIZED LEASE OBLIGATION" means the amount of the liability shown on 

the balance sheet of any Person in respect of a Capital Lease as determined in 

accordance with GAAP. 

 

      "CHANGE OF CONTROL EVENT" means at any time: 

 

            (i) any person or group of persons (within the meaning of Section 13 

      or 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "EXCHANGE 

      ACT"), but in any event excluding the Jaffee Group and any other holders 

      of the Class B Common Stock of the Company as of the date of this 

      Agreement) shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of 

      Rule 13d-3 promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act) of 30% or more 

      in voting power of the outstanding Voting Stock of the Company; or 

 

           (ii) during any period of twenty-four consecutive months beginning 

      after the date of this Agreement, individuals who at the beginning of such 

      period constitute the Board of Directors of the Company (the "BOARD") and 

      any new director (other than a director designated by a person who has 

      entered into an agreement with the Company to effect a transaction 

      described in clause (i) of this Change of Control Event definition or a 

      transaction that would constitute an Event of Default under Section 7.12 

      hereof) whose election or nomination for election was approved by a vote 

      of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either 

      were directors at the beginning of the period or whose election or 

      nomination for election was previously so approved cease for any reason to 

      constitute a majority of the Board. 

 

       "CLASS A AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE" means those persons shown on the list 

of officers provided by the Company pursuant to Section 6.2(a) hereof and so 

designated on such list, or on any update of any such list provided by the 

Company to the Bank, or any further or different officer of the Company so named 

and designated by any Class A Authorized Representative of the Company in a 

written notice to the Bank. 

 

      "CLASS B AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE" means those persons shown on the list 

of officers provided by the Company pursuant to Section 6.2(a) hereof and so 

designated on such list, or on any update of any such list provided by the 

Company to the Bank, or any further or different officer of the Company so named 

and designated by any Class A or Class B Authorized Representative of the 

Company in a written notice to the Bank. 

 

      "CODE" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any 

successor statute thereto. 

 

      "COMPANY" is defined in the introductory paragraph hereof. 

 

      "CONSOLIDATED CAPITAL EXPENDITURES" means for any period, capital 

expenditures (as defined and classified in accordance with GAAP) during such 

period by the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. 
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      "CONSOLIDATED EBITDA" means, with reference to any period, Net Income for 

such period plus all amounts deducted in arriving at such Net Income amount in 

respect of (i) Interest Expense for such period, plus (ii) federal, state and 

local income taxes for such period, plus (iii) all amounts properly charged for 

depreciation of fixed assets and amortization of intangible assets during such 

period on the books of the Company and its Subsidiaries. 

 

      "CONSOLIDATED TOTAL ASSETS" means, at any time the same is to be 

determined, the aggregate of all assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries at 

such time as computed on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP. 

 

      "CONSOLIDATED TOTAL DEBT FOR MONEY BORROWED" means, at any time the same 

is to be determined, the aggregate of all Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of the 

Company and its Subsidiaries at such time as computed on a consolidated basis in 

accordance with GAAP, PLUS all Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of any other 

Person which is directly or indirectly guaranteed by the Company or any of its 

Subsidiaries or which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has agreed 

(contingently or otherwise) to purchase or otherwise acquire or in respect of 

which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has otherwise assured a creditor 

against loss. 

 

      "CONTROLLED GROUP" means all members of a controlled group of corporations 

and all trades and businesses (whether or not incorporated) under common control 

which, together with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, are treated as a 

single employer under Section 414 of the Code. 

 

      "CURRENT DEBT MATURITIES" means, with reference to any period, the 

aggregate amount of payments required to made by the Company and its 

Subsidiaries during such period in respect of principal on all Indebtedness for 

Borrowed Money (whether at maturity, as a result of mandatory sinking fund 

redemption, mandatory prepayment, acceleration or otherwise), excluding any 

principal payments required to be made by the Company and its Subsidiaries on 

the Revolving Credit Note. 

 

      "DEBT TO EARNINGS RATIO" shall mean as of any time, the rate of (x) 

Consolidated Total Debt for Money Borrowed at such time to (y) Consolidated 

EBITDA for the twelve then most recently completed calendar months. 

 

      "DEFAULT" means any event or condition the occurrence of which would, with 

the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, constitute an Event of 

Default. 

 

      "DEFAULTING INSIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARY" means an Insignificant Subsidiary 

which is the subject of any Subsidiary Default on or at any time after the date 

hereof. 

 

      "DOMESTIC RATE" means, for any day, the greater of (i) the rate of 

interest announced by the Bank from time to time as its prime commercial rate, 

as in effect on such day; and (ii) the sum of (x) the rate determined by the 

Bank to be the average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100 

of 1%) of the rates per annum quoted to the Bank at approximately 10:00 a.m. 

(Chicago time) (or as soon thereafter as is practicable) on such day (or, if 

such day is not a Business Day, on the immediately preceding Business Day) by 

two or more Federal funds 
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brokers selected by the Bank for the sale to the Bank at face value of Federal 

funds in an amount equal or comparable to the principal amount owed to the Bank 

for which such rate is being determined, PLUS (y) 1/2 of 1% (0.50%). 

 

      "DOMESTIC RATE PORTION" is defined in Section 2.1(a) hereof. 

 

      "DOMESTIC SUBSIDIARY" shall mean each Subsidiary other than a Foreign 

Subsidiary. 

 

      "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 

amended, or any successor statute thereto. 

 

      "EVENT OF DEFAULT" means any event or condition identified as such in 

Section 8.1 hereof. 

 

      "EXISTING LETTERS OF CREDIT" means those certain letters of credit issued 

by the Bank described on Schedule 4.1 attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

 

      "FIXED RATE PORTIONS" means and includes LIBOR Portions and Offered Rates 

Portions, unless the context in which such term is used shall otherwise require. 

 

      "FOREIGN SUBSIDIARY" shall mean (i) each Subsidiary of the Company which 

is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than the United States of 

America or any State thereof and (ii) each Subsidiary of the Company of which a 

majority of the revenues, earnings or total assets (determined on a consolidated 

basis with that Subsidiary's Subsidiaries) are located or derived from 

operations outside the United States of America. 

 

      "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from 

time to time, applied by the Company and its Subsidiaries on a basis consistent 

with the preparation of the Company's most recent financial statements furnished 

to the Bank pursuant to Section 5.5 hereof. 

 

      "GUARANTOR" means each Domestic Subsidiary of the Company that is a 

signatory hereto or that executes and delivers to the Bank a Guaranty along with 

the accompanying closing documents required by Section 6.2 hereof. 

 

      "GUARANTY" means a letter to the Bank in the form of Exhibit C attached 

hereto executed by a Subsidiary whereby it acknowledges it is party hereto as a 

Guarantor under Section 9 hereof. 

 

      "INACTIVE SUBSIDIARIES" means each Subsidiary of the Company which has no 

operations and no assets other than the minimum amount of assets required under 

applicable state law to maintain such Subsidiary's corporate existence, but in 

no event more than $10,000 in assets. 

 

      "INDEBTEDNESS FOR BORROWED MONEY" means for any Person (without 

duplication) (i) all indebtedness created, assumed or incurred in any manner by 

such Person representing money borrowed (including by the issuance of debt 

securities), (ii) all indebtedness for the deferred purchase price of property 

or services (other than trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of 

business which are not more than 120 days past due), (iii) all indebtedness 

secured by 
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any Lien upon Property of such Person, whether or not such Person has assumed or 

become liable for the payment of such indebtedness, (iv) all Capitalized Lease 

Obligations of such Person and (v) all obligations of such Person on or with 

respect to letters of credit, bankers' acceptances and other extensions of 

credit whether or not representing obligations for borrowed money. 

 

      "INSIGNIFICANT   SUBSIDIARY"   means  any  Subsidiary   that  is  not  a 

Significant Subsidiary. 

 

      "INTEREST EXPENSE" means, with reference to any period, the sum of all 

interest charges (including imputed interest charges with respect to Capitalized 

Lease Obligations and all amortization of debt discount and expense) of the 

Company and its Subsidiaries for such period determined in accordance with GAAP. 

 

      "INTEREST PERIOD" means, with respect to (a) any LIBOR Portion, the period 

commencing on, as the case may be, the creation, continuation or conversion date 

with respect to such LIBOR Portion and ending one (1), two (2), three (3) or six 

(6) months thereafter as selected by the Company in its notice as provided 

herein, and (b) any Offered Rate Portion, the period commencing on, as the case 

may be, the creation, continuation or conversion date with respect to such 

Offered Rate Portion and ending not less than seven (7) days to not more than 

thirty (30) days thereafter as selected by the Company in its notice as provided 

herein; provided that all of the foregoing provisions relating to Interest 

Periods are subject to the following: 

 

            (i) if any Interest Period would otherwise end on a day which is not 

      a Business Day, that Interest Period shall be extended to the next 

      succeeding Business Day, unless in the case of an Interest Period for a 

      LIBOR Portion the result of such extension would be to carry such Interest 

      Period into another calendar month in which event such Interest Period 

      shall end on the immediately preceding Business Day; 

 

           (ii) no Interest Period may extend beyond the final maturity date of 

      the Revolving Credit Note; 

 

          (iii) the interest rate to be applicable to each Portion for each 

      Interest Period shall apply from and including the first day of such 

      Interest Period to but excluding the last day thereof; and 

 

           (iv) no Interest Period may be selected if after giving effect 

      thereto the Company will be unable to make a principal payment scheduled 

      to be made during such Interest Period without paying part of a Fixed Rate 

      Portion on a date other than the last day of the Interest Period 

      applicable thereto. 

 

For purposes of determining an Interest Period, a month means a period starting 

on one day in a calendar month and ending on a numerically corresponding day in 

the next calendar month, PROVIDED, HOWEVER, if an Interest Period begins on the 

last day of a month or if there is no numerically corresponding day in the month 

in which an Interest Period is to end, then such Interest Period shall end on 

the last Business Day of such month. 
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      "JAFFEE GROUP" means Richard M. Jaffee,  members of his immediate family 

and trusts for the benefit of any one or more of the foregoing. 

 

      "LETTER OF CREDIT" is defined in Section 1.4(a) hereof. 

 

      "LEVEL I STATUS" means, for any Margin Determination Date, that as of the 

close of the most recently completed calendar quarter with reference to which 

such Margin Determination Date was set, the Debt to Earnings Ratio is less than 

2.00 to 1. 

 

      "LEVEL II STATUS" means, for any Margin Determination Date, that as of the 

close of the most recently completed calendar quarter with reference to which 

such Margin Determination Date was set, the Debt to Earnings Ratio is greater 

than or equal to 2.00 to 1 but less than 2.50 to 1. 

 

      "LEVEL III STATUS" means, for any Margin Determination Date, that as of 

the close of the most recently completed calendar quarter with reference to 

which such Margin Determination Date was set, the Debt to Earnings Ratio is 

greater than or equal to 2.50 to 1 but less than 3.00 to 1. 

 

      "LEVEL IV STATUS" means, for any Margin Determination Date, that as of the 

close of the most recently completed calendar quarter with reference to which 

such Margin Determination Date was set, the Debt to Earnings Ratio is greater 

than or equal to 3.00 to 1. 

 

      "LIBOR PORTIONS"  is defined in Section 2.1(a) hereof. 

 

      "LIEN" means any mortgage, lien, security interest, pledge, charge or 

encumbrance of any kind in respect of any Property, including the interests of a 

vendor or lessor under any conditional sale, Capital Lease or other title 

retention arrangement. 

 

      "LOAN" means a Revolving Credit Loan or the Term Loan, unless the context 

in which such term is used shall otherwise require. 

 

      "LOAN  DOCUMENTS"  means this Agreement,  the Notes,  the  Applications, 

and  the Guaranty. 

 

      "MARGIN  DETERMINATION  DATE" is defined in the definition of Applicable 

Margin. 

 

      "MATERIAL PLAN" is defined in Section 8.1(g) hereof. 

 

      "NET INCOME" means, with reference to any period, the net income (or net 

loss) of the Company and its Subsidiaries for such period as computed on a 

consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, and, without limiting the foregoing, 

after deduction from gross income of all expenses and reserves, including 

reserves for all taxes on or measured by income, but excluding any extraordinary 

profits and also excluding any taxes on such profits. 
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      "NOTE" means the Revolving Credit Note or the Term Note, unless the 

context in which such term is used shall otherwise require. 

 

      "OBLIGATIONS" means all obligations of the Company to pay principal and 

interest on the Loans, all obligations of the Company to reimburse the Bank for 

drawings on Letters of Credit, all fees and charges payable hereunder, and all 

other payment obligations of the Company arising under or in relation to any 

Loan Document, in each case whether now existing or hereafter arising, due or to 

become due, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, and howsoever evidenced, 

held or acquired. 

 

      "OFFERED RATE" means the rate per annum quoted to the Company by the Bank 

for the applicable Interest Period, such Offered Rate being subject at all times 

to the provisions of Section 2.1(d) hereof. 

 

      "OFFERED RATE PORTIONS" is defined in Section 2.1(a) hereof. 

 

      "PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any Person 

succeeding to any or all of its functions under ERISA. 

 

      "PERSON" means an individual, partnership, corporation, association, 

trust, unincorporated organization or any other entity or organization, 

including a government or agency or political subdivision thereof. 

 

      "PLAN" means any employee pension benefit plan covered by Title IV of 

ERISA or subject to the minimum funding standards under Section 412 of the Code 

that either (i) is maintained by a member of the Controlled Group for employees 

of a member of the Controlled Group or (ii) is maintained pursuant to a 

collective bargaining agreement or any other arrangement under which more than 

one employer makes contributions and to which a member of the Controlled Group 

is then making or accruing an obligation to make contributions or has within the 

preceding five plan years made contributions. 

 

      "PORTION" is defined in Section 2.1(a) hereof. 

 

      "PROPERTY" means any interest in any kind of property or asset, whether 

real, personal or mixed, or tangible or intangible. 

 

      "REVOLVING CREDIT" is defined in Section 1.1 hereof. 

 

      "REVOLVING CREDIT COMMITMENT" is defined in Section 1.1 hereof. 

 

      "REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE" is defined in Section 1.1 hereof. 

 

      "SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
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      "SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARY" means at any time any Subsidiary that would at 

such time constitute a "significant subsidiary" (as such term is defined in 

Regulation S-X of the SEC as in effect on the date hereof) of the Company. 

 

      "SUBSIDIARY" means any corporation or other Person more than 50% of the 

outstanding ordinary voting shares or other equity interests of which is at the 

time directly or indirectly owned by the Company, by one or more of its 

Subsidiaries, or by the Company and one or more of its Subsidiaries. 

 

      "SUBSIDIARY DEFAULTS" is defined in Section 8.5 hereof. 

 

      "TANGIBLE NET WORTH" means, as of any time the same is to be determined, 

the total shareholders' equity (including capital stock, additional 

paid-in-capital and retained earnings after deducting treasury stock) which 

would appear on the balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries determined 

on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, less the sum of all notes 

receivable of the Company and its Subsidiaries, (ii) the aggregate book value of 

all assets which would be classified as intangible assets under GAAP, including, 

without limitation, goodwill, patents, trademarks, trade names, copyrights, 

franchises and deferred charges (including, without limitation, unamortized debt 

discount and expense, organization costs and deferred research and development 

expense) and similar assets and (iii) the write-up of assets above cost. 

 

      "TERM LOAN" is defined in Section 1.2 hereof. 

 

      "TERM NOTE" is defined in Section 1.2 hereof. 

 

      "TERMINATION DATE" means January 29, 2004, or such earlier date on which 

the Revolving Credit Commitment is terminated in whole pursuant to Section 3.4, 

8.2 or 8.3 hereof. 

 

      "TOTAL LIABILITIES" means, as of any time the same is to be determined, 

the aggregate of all indebtedness, obligations, liabilities, reserves and any 

other items which would be listed as a liability on a balance sheet of the 

Company and its Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis in accordance 

with GAAP, and in any event including all indebtedness and liabilities of any 

other Person which the Company or any Subsidiary may guarantee or otherwise be 

responsible or liable for (other than any liability arising out of the 

endorsement of commercial paper for deposit or collection received in the 

ordinary course of business), all indebtedness and liabilities secured by any 

Lien on any Property of the Company or any Subsidiary, whether or not the same 

would be classified as a liability on a balance sheet, the liability of the 

Company or any Subsidiary in respect of banker's acceptances and letters of 

credit, and the aggregate amount of rentals or other consideration payable by 

the Company or any Subsidiary in accordance with GAAP over the remaining 

unexpired term of all Capital Leases, but excluding all general contingency 

reserves and reserves for deferred income taxes and investment credit. 

 

      "UNFUNDED VESTED LIABILITIES" means, for any Plan at any time, the amount 

(if any) by which the present value of all vested nonforfeitable accrued 

benefits under such Plan exceeds the fair market value of all Plan assets 

allocable to such benefits, all determined as of the then most 
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recent valuation date for such Plan, but only to the extent that such excess 

represents a potential liability of a member of the Controlled Group to the PBGC 

or the Plan under Title IV of ERISA. 

 

      "VOTING STOCK" of any Person means the capital stock of any class or 

classes or other equity interests (however designated) having ordinary voting 

power for the election of directors or similar governing body of such Person, 

other than stock or other equity interests having such power only by reason of 

the happening of a contingency. 

 

      "WELFARE  PLAN"  means a "welfare  plan" as  defined in Section  3(1) of 

ERISA. 

 

      "WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY" means a Subsidiary of which all of the issued 

and outstanding shares of capital stock (other than directors' qualifying shares 

as required by law) or other equity interests are owned by the Company and/or 

one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries within the meaning of this definition. 

 

      "YEAR 2000 PROBLEM" means any significant risk that computer hardware, 

software, or equipment containing embedded microchips essential to the business 

or operations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries will not, in the case of 

dates or time periods occurring after December 31, 1999, function at least as 

efficiently and reliably as in the case of times or time periods occurring 

before January 1, 2000, including the making of accurate leap year calculations. 

 

   SECTION 4.2. INTERPRETATION. The foregoing definitions are equally applicable 

to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. The words "HEREOF", 

"HEREIN", and "HEREUNDER" and words of like import when used in this Agreement 

shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of 

this Agreement. All references to time of day herein are references to Chicago, 

Illinois time unless otherwise specifically provided. Where the character or 

amount of any asset or liability or item of income or expense is required to be 

determined or any consolidation or other accounting computation is required to 

be made for the purposes of this Agreement, it shall be done in accordance with 

GAAP except where such principles are inconsistent with the specific provisions 

of this Agreement. 

 

SECTION 5.     REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. 

 

      The Company represents and warrants to the Bank as follows: 

 

   SECTION 5.1. ORGANIZATION AND QUALIFICATION. The Company is duly organized, 

validly existing and in good standing as a corporation under the laws of the 

State of Delaware, has full and adequate corporate power to own its Property and 

conduct its business as now conducted, and is duly licensed or qualified and in 

good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted 

by it or the nature of the Property owned or leased by it requires such 

licensing or qualifying, except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified 

would not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, Properties, 

business or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. 
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   SECTION 5.2. SUBSIDIARIES. Each Subsidiary is duly organized, validly 

existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is 

incorporated or organized, as the case may be, has full and adequate power to 

own its Property and conduct its business as now conducted, and is duly licensed 

or qualified and in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of 

the business conducted by it or the nature of the Property owned or leased by it 

requires such licensing or qualifying, except where the failure to be so 

licensed or qualified would not have a material adverse effect on the financial 

condition, Properties, business or operations of the Company and its 

Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. Schedule 5.2 hereto identifies each Subsidiary, 

the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization, as the case may be, the 

percentage of issued and outstanding shares of each class of its capital stock 

or other equity interests owned by the Company and the Subsidiaries and, if such 

percentage is not 100% (excluding directors' qualifying shares as required by 

law), a description of each class of its authorized capital stock and other 

equity interests and the number of shares of each class issued and outstanding 

and whether or not such Subsidiary is a Significant Subsidiary or Inactive 

Subsidiary. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock and other equity 

interests of each Subsidiary are validly issued and outstanding and fully paid 

and nonassessable and all such shares and other equity interests indicated on 

Schedule 5.2 as owned by the Company or a Subsidiary are owned, beneficially and 

of record, by the Company or such Subsidiary free and clear of all Liens. There 

are no outstanding commitments or other obligations of any Subsidiary to issue, 

and no options, warrants or other rights of any Person to acquire, any shares of 

any class of capital stock or other equity interests of any Subsidiary. 

 

   SECTION 5.3. CORPORATE AUTHORITY AND VALIDITY OF OBLIGATIONS. (a) The Company 

has full right and authority to enter into this Agreement and the other Loan 

Documents, to make the borrowings herein provided for, to issue its Note in 

evidence thereof, and to perform all of its obligations hereunder and under the 

other Loan Documents. The Loan Documents delivered by the Company have been duly 

authorized, executed and delivered by the Company and constitute valid and 

binding obligations of the Company enforceable in accordance with their terms 

except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent 

conveyance or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and general 

principles of equity (regardless of whether the application of such principles 

is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law); and this Agreement and the 

other Loan Documents do not, nor does the performance or observance by the 

Company of any of the matters and things herein or therein provided for, 

contravene or constitute a default under any provision of law or any judgment, 

injunction, order or decree binding upon the Company or any provision of the 

charter, articles of incorporation or by-laws of the Company or any covenant, 

indenture or agreement of or affecting the Company or any of its Properties, or 

result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any Property of the Company. 

 

      (b) SUBSIDIARIES. Each Subsidiary has full right, power and authority to 

enter into the Loan Documents executed and delivered by it and to perform all of 

its obligations thereunder. The Loan Documents delivered by each Subsidiary have 

been duly authorized, executed and delivered by each Subsidiary and constitute 

valid and binding obligations of the each Subsidiary enforceable in accordance 

with their terms except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, 

insolvency, fraudulent conveyance or similar laws affecting creditors' rights 

generally and general principles of equity (regardless of whether the 

application of such principles is considered in a proceeding in equity or at 

law); and the other Loan Documents 
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delivered by each Subsidiary do not, nor does the performance or observance by 

each Subsidiary of any of the matters and things therein provided for, 

contravene or constitute a default under any provision of law or any judgment, 

injunction, order or decree binding upon each Subsidiary or any provision of the 

charter, articles of incorporation or by-laws of each Subsidiary or any 

covenant, indenture or agreement of or affecting each Subsidiary or any of its 

Properties, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any Property 

of each Subsidiary. 

 

   SECTION 5.4. USE OF PROCEEDS; MARGIN STOCK. The Company shall use the 

proceeds of the Loans solely for general corporate purposes and for such other 

legal and proper purposes as are consistent with all applicable laws. Neither 

the Company nor any Subsidiary is engaged in the business of extending credit 

for the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of 

Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System), and no 

part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used to purchase or carry any such 

margin stock or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or 

carrying any such margin stock. 

 

   SECTION 5.5. FINANCIAL REPORTS. The consolidated balance sheet of the Company 

and its Subsidiaries as at July 31, 1998 and the related consolidated statements 

of income, retained earnings and cash flows of the Company and its Subsidiaries 

for the fiscal year then ended, and accompanying notes thereto, which financial 

statements are accompanied by the audit report of Blackman, Kallick & 

Bartelstein, independent public accountants, and the unaudited interim 

consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at October 31, 

1998 and the related consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and 

cash flows of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the three (3) months then 

ended, heretofore furnished to the Bank, fairly present the consolidated 

financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at said dates and the 

consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the periods then 

ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a 

consistent basis; subject, in the case of an unaudited interim consolidated 

balance sheet, to year-end adjustments, and provided that such unaudited interim 

consolidated balance sheet was prepared without footnotes. 

 

   SECTION 5.6. NO MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE. Since October 31, 1998, there has 

been no change in the condition (financial or otherwise) or business prospects 

of the Company or any Subsidiary except those occurring in the ordinary course 

of business, none of which individually or in the aggregate have been materially 

adverse to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. 

 

   SECTION 5.7. FULL DISCLOSURE. The statements and information furnished to the 

Bank in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement and the other Loan 

Documents and the commitment by the Bank to provide all or part of the financing 

contemplated hereby do not contain any untrue statements of a material fact or 

omit a material fact necessary to make the material statements contained herein 

or therein not misleading, the Bank acknowledging that as to any projections 

furnished to the Bank, the Company only represents that the same were prepared 

on the basis of information and estimates the Company believed to be reasonable. 

 

   SECTION 5.8. GOOD TITLE. The Company and its Subsidiaries each have good and 

defensible title to their assets as reflected on the most recent consolidated 

balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries furnished to the Bank (except 

for sales of assets by the Company 
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and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business), subject to no Liens 

other than such thereof as are permitted by Section 7.9 hereof. 

 

   SECTION 5.9. LITIGATION AND OTHER CONTROVERSIES. There is no litigation or 

governmental proceeding or labor controversy pending, nor to the knowledge of 

the Company threatened, against the Company or any Subsidiary which if adversely 

determined would (a) impair the validity or enforceability of, or impair the 

ability of the Company to perform its obligations under, this Agreement or any 

other Loan Document or (b) result in any material adverse change in the 

financial condition, Properties, business or operations of the Company and its 

Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. 

 

  SECTION 5.10. TAXES. All tax returns required to be filed by the Company or 

any Subsidiary in any jurisdiction have, in fact, been filed, except where the 

failure to file such tax returns would not have a material adverse effect on the 

financial condition, Properties, business or operations of the Company and its 

Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and all taxes, assessments, fees and other 

governmental charges upon the Company or any Subsidiary or upon any of their 

respective Properties, income or franchises, which are shown to be due and 

payable in such returns, have been paid. The Company does not know of any 

proposed additional tax assessment against it or its Subsidiaries for which 

adequate provision in accordance with GAAP has not been made on its accounts. 

Adequate provisions in accordance with GAAP for taxes on the books of the 

Company and each Subsidiary have been made for all open years, and for its 

current fiscal period. 

 

  SECTION 5.11. APPROVALS. No authorization, consent, license, or exemption 

from, or filing or registration with, any court or governmental department, 

agency or instrumentality, nor any approval or consent of the stockholders of 

the Company or any other Person, is or will be necessary to the valid execution, 

delivery or performance by the Company of this Agreement or any other Loan 

Document. 

 

  SECTION 5.12. AFFILIATE TRANSACTIONS. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary 

is a party to any contracts or agreements with any of its Affiliates (other than 

with Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries) on terms and conditions which are less favorable 

to the Company or such Subsidiary than would be usual and customary in similar 

contracts or agreements between Persons not affiliated with each other. 

 

  SECTION 5.13. INVESTMENT COMPANY; PUBLIC UTILITY HOLDING COMPANY. Neither the 

Company nor any Subsidiary is an "investment company" or a company "controlled" 

by an "investment company" within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 

1940, as amended, or a "public utility holding company" within the meaning of 

the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended. 

 

  SECTION 5.14. ERISA. The Company and each other member of its Controlled Group 

has fulfilled its obligations under the minimum funding standards of and is in 

compliance in all material respects with ERISA and the Code to the extent 

applicable to it and has not incurred any liability to the PBGC or a Plan under 

Title IV of ERISA other than a liability to the PBGC for premiums under Section 

4007 of ERISA. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has any 
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contingent liabilities with respect to any post-retirement benefits under a 

Welfare Plan, other than liability for continuation coverage described in 

article 6 of Title I of ERISA. 

 

  SECTION 5.15. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. The Company and its Subsidiaries each are 

in compliance with the requirements of all federal, state and local laws, rules 

and regulations applicable to or pertaining to their Properties or business 

operations (including, without limitation, the Occupational Safety and Health 

Act of 1970, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, and laws and 

regulations establishing quality criteria and standards for air, water, land and 

toxic or hazardous wastes and substances), non-compliance with which could have 

a material adverse effect on the financial condition, Properties, business or 

operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. Neither the 

Company nor any Subsidiary has received notice to the effect that its operations 

are not in compliance with any of the requirements of applicable federal, state 

or local environmental, health and safety statutes and regulations or are the 

subject of any governmental investigation evaluating whether any remedial action 

is needed to respond to a release of any toxic or hazardous waste or substance 

into the environment, which non-compliance or remedial action could have a 

material adverse effect on the financial condition, Properties, business or 

operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. 

 

  SECTION 5.16. OTHER AGREEMENTs. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is in 

default under the terms of any covenant, indenture or agreement of or affecting 

the Company, any Subsidiary or any of their Properties, which default if uncured 

would have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, Properties, 

business or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. 

 

  SECTION 5.17.  NO DEFAULT.  No Default or Event of Default has  occurred and 

is continuing. 

 

  SECTION 5.18. YEAR 2000 COMPLIANCE. The Company has conducted a comprehensive 

review and assessment of the computer applications of the Company and its 

Subsidiaries and has made inquiry of their material suppliers, service vendors 

(including data processors) and customers, with respect to any defect in 

computer software, data bases, hardware, controls and peripherals related to the 

occurrence of the year 2000 or the use at any time of any date which is before, 

on and after December 31, 1999, in connection therewith. Based on the foregoing 

review, assessment and inquiry, the Company believes that no such defect could 

reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business or 

financial affairs of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. 

 

SECTION 6.     CONDITIONS PRECEDENT. 

 

      The obligation of the Bank to make any Loan under this Agreement is 

subject to the following conditions precedent: 

 

   SECTION 6.1.  ALL  ADVANCES.  As of the  time of the  making  of each  Loan 

(including the initial Loan) hereunder: 
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            (a) each of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 

      5 hereof and in the other Loan Documents shall be true and correct as of 

      such time, except to the extent the same expressly relate to an earlier 

      date; 

 

            (b) the Company shall be in full compliance with all of the terms 

      and conditions of this Agreement and of the other Loan Documents, and no 

      Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would 

      occur as a result of making such Loan; 

 

            (c) after giving effect to such extension of credit, the aggregate 

      principal amount of all Revolving Credit Loans and Letters of Credit 

      outstanding under this Agreement shall not exceed the Revolving Credit 

      Commitment; 

 

            (d) in the case of the issuance of any Letter of Credit, the Bank 

      shall have received a properly completed Application therefor together 

      with the fees called for hereby; and 

 

            (e) such Loan shall not violate any order, judgment or decree of any 

      court or other authority or any provision of law or regulation applicable 

      to the Bank (including, without limitation, Regulation U of the Board of 

      Governors of the Federal Reserve System) as then in effect. 

 

The Company's request for any Loan or Letter of Credit shall constitute its 

warranty as to the foregoing effects. 

 

   SECTION 6.2.  INITIAL  ADVANCE.  At or prior to the  making of the  initial 

Loan  hereunder,  the  following  conditions  precedent  shall  also have been 

satisfied: 

 

            (a) the Bank shall have received the following (each to be properly 

      executed and completed) and the same shall have been approved as to form 

      and substance by the Bank: 

 

                  (i)   a Guaranty from each Domestic  Subsidiary  not a party 

            hereto (if any); 

 

                 (ii) copies (executed or certified, as may be appropriate) of 

            all legal documents or proceedings taken in connection with the 

            execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Loan 

            Documents to the extent the Bank or its counsel may reasonably 

            request; 

 

                (iii) an incumbency certificate containing the name and title of 

            each of the Company's Authorized Representatives; 

 

                 (iv) evidence of insurance required by Section 7.4 hereof; and 
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            (b) the Bank shall have received such valuations and certifications 

      as it may require in order to satisfy itself as to the financial condition 

      of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and the lack of material contingent 

      liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries; 

 

            (c) legal matters incident to the execution and delivery of this 

      Agreement and the other Loan Documents and to the transactions 

      contemplated hereby shall be satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel; and 

      the Bank shall have received the favorable written opinion of counsel for 

      the Company and each Guarantor in form and substance satisfactory to the 

      Bank and its counsel; 

 

            (d) the Bank shall have received a good standing certificate for the 

      Company and each Guarantor (dated as of the date no earlier than January 

      1, 1999) from the office of the secretary of state of the state of its 

      incorporation; and 

 

            (e) such other agreements, instruments, documents, certificates and 

      opinions as the Bank may reasonably request. 

 

   SECTION 6.3. TERMINATION OF 1994 CREDIT AGREEMENT. The initial Revolving 

Credit Loan hereunder shall be in an amount sufficient to repay the "Revolving 

Credit Loans" (the "OLD REVOLVING LOANS") outstanding under the 1994 Credit 

Agreement (it being understood and agreed that the Term Loan shall not be so 

paid) and the Company hereby directs that the proceeds of such initial Revolving 

Credit Loan hereunder be used to pay such Old Revolving Loans, in which event 

the 1994 Credit Agreement will terminate. 

 

SECTION 7.     COVENANTS. 

 

      The Company agrees that, so long as any credit is available to or in use 

by the Company hereunder, except to the extent compliance in any case or cases 

is waived in writing by the Bank: 

 

   SECTION 7.1. MAINTENANCE OF BUSINESS. The Company shall, and shall cause each 

Subsidiary to, preserve and maintain its existence. The Company shall, and shall 

cause each Subsidiary to, preserve and keep in force and effect all licenses, 

permits and franchises necessary to the proper conduct of its business. The 

foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, this Section 7.1 shall not operate to 

prevent any merger or consolidation otherwise permitted by Section 7.11 hereof. 

 

   SECTION 7.2. MAINTENANCE OF PROPERTIES. The Company shall maintain, preserve 

and keep its property, plant and equipment in good repair, working order and 

condition (ordinary wear and tear excepted) and shall from time to time make all 

needful and proper repairs, renewals, replacements, additions and betterments 

thereto so that at all times the efficiency thereof shall be fully preserved and 

maintained (ordinary wear and tear excepted), and shall cause each Subsidiary to 

do so in respect of Property owned or used by it. 

 

   SECTION 7.3. TAXES AND ASSESSMENTs. The Company shall duly pay and discharge, 

and shall cause each Subsidiary to duly pay and discharge, all taxes, rates, 

assessments, fees and  
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governmental charges upon or against it or its Properties, in each case before 

the same become delinquent and before penalties accrue thereon, unless and to 

the extent that the same are being contested in good faith and by appropriate 

proceedings which prevent enforcement of the matter under contest and adequate 

reserves are provided therefor. 

 

   SECTION 7.4. INSURANCE. The Company shall insure and keep insured, and shall 

cause each Subsidiary to insure and keep insured, with good and responsible 

insurance companies, all insurable Property owned by it which is of a character 

usually insured by Persons similarly situated and operating like Properties 

against loss or damage from such hazards and risks, and in such amounts, as are 

insured by Persons similarly situated and operating like Properties; and the 

Company shall insure, and shall cause each Subsidiary to insure, such other 

hazards and risks (including employers' and public liability risks) with good 

and responsible insurance companies as and to the extent usually insured by 

Persons similarly situated and conducting similar businesses. The Company shall 

upon request furnish to the Bank a certificate setting forth in summary form the 

nature and extent of the insurance maintained pursuant to this Section. 

 

   SECTION 7.5. FINANCIAL REPORTS. The Company shall, and shall cause each 

Subsidiary to, maintain a standard system of accounting in accordance with GAAP 

and shall furnish to the Bank and its duly authorized representatives such 

information respecting the business and financial condition of the Company and 

its Subsidiaries as the Bank may reasonably request; and without any request, 

shall furnish to the Bank: 

 

            (a) as soon as available, and in any event within sixty (60) days 

      after the close of each quarterly accounting period of the Company, a copy 

      of the consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries as 

      of the close of such period and the consolidated statements of income, 

      retained earnings and cash flows of the Company and its Subsidiaries for 

      such period, each in reasonable detail showing in comparative form the 

      figures for the corresponding date and period in the previous fiscal year, 

      prepared by the Company in accordance with GAAP (subject to year-end 

      adjustment and provided that such balance sheet was prepared without 

      footnotes) and certified to by the chief financial officer of the Company; 

 

            (b) as soon as available, and in any event within one hundred twenty 

      (120) days after the close of each annual accounting period of the 

      Company, a copy of the consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its 

      Subsidiaries as of the close of such period and the consolidated 

      statements of income, retained earnings and cash flows of the Company and 

      its Subsidiaries for such period, and accompanying notes thereto, each in 

      reasonable detail showing in comparative form the figures for the previous 

      fiscal year, accompanied by an opinion thereon of Blackman Kallick & 

      Bartelstein or another firm of independent public accountants of 

      recognized standing, selected by the Company and satisfactory to the Bank, 

      to the effect that the consolidated financial statements have been 

      prepared in accordance with GAAP and present fairly in accordance with 

      GAAP the consolidated financial condition of the Company and its 

      Subsidiaries as of the close of such fiscal year and the results of their 

      operations and cash flows for the fiscal year then ended and that an 

      examination of such accounts in connection with such financial statements 

      has been made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 

      and, 
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      accordingly, such examination included such tests of the accounting 

      records and such other auditing procedures as were considered necessary in 

      the circumstances; 

 

            (c) within the period provided in subsection (b) above, the written 

      statement of the accountants who certified the audit report thereby 

      required that in the course of their audit they have obtained no knowledge 

      of any Default or Event of Default, or, if such accountants have obtained 

      knowledge of any such Default or Event of Default, they shall disclose in 

      such statement the nature and period of the existence thereof; 

 

            (d) promptly after the sending or filing thereof, copies of all 

      proxy statements, financial statements and reports which the Company sends 

      to its shareholders, and copies of all other regular, periodic and special 

      reports and all registration statements which the Company files with the 

      Securities and Exchange Commission of the United States or any successor 

      thereto, or with any national securities exchange; and 

 

            (e) promptly after knowledge thereof shall have come to the 

      attention of any responsible officer of the Company, written notice of (i) 

      any threatened or pending litigation or governmental proceeding or labor 

      controversy against the Company or any Subsidiary which, if adversely 

      determined, would adversely effect the financial condition, Properties, 

      business or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a 

      whole, or (ii) the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default hereunder 

      or (iii) any Change of Control Event. 

 

Each of the financial statements furnished to the Bank pursuant to subsections 

(b) and (c) of this Section shall be accompanied by a written certificate in the 

form attached hereto as Exhibit C signed by the chief financial officer of the 

Company to the effect that to the best of the chief financial officer's 

knowledge and belief no Default or Event of Default has occurred during the 

period covered by such statements or, if any such Default or Event of Default 

has occurred during such period, setting forth a description of such Default or 

Event of Default and specifying the action, if any, taken by the Company to 

remedy the same. Such certificate shall also set forth the calculations 

supporting such statements in respect of Sections 7.7, 7.8 and 7.9 of this 

Agreement. 

 

   SECTION 7.6. INSPECTION. The Company shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary 

to, permit the Bank and its duly authorized representatives and agents, at the 

Bank's expense, to visit and inspect any of the Properties, corporate books and 

financial records of the Company and each Subsidiary, to examine and make copies 

of the books of accounts and other financial records of the Company and each 

Subsidiary, and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Company and 

each Subsidiary with, and to be advised as to the same by, its officers and 

independent public accountants (and by this provision the Company hereby 

authorizes such accountants to discuss with the Bank the finances and affairs of 

the Company and of each Subsidiary) at such reasonable times and reasonable 

intervals as the Bank may designate; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that in the absence of 

any Default or Event of Default, there shall be no more than one such inspection 

per calendar year. 
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   SECTION 7.7. TANGIBLE NET WORTH. The Company will at all times maintain 

Tangible Net Worth at not less than the Minimum Required Amount. For purposes of 

this Section 7.7, the term "MINIMUM REQUIRED AMOUNT" shall mean $50,000,000 and 

shall increase (but never decrease) as of August 1, 1998 and as of the last day 

of each July occurring thereafter by an amount equal to 40% of Net Income (but 

only if positive) for the fiscal year then ended. 

 

   SECTION 7.8.  DEBT  TO  EARNINGS  RATIO.  The  Company  will  at all  times 

maintain a Debt to Earnings Ratio of not more than 3.5 to 1.0. 

 

   SECTION 7.9. FIXED CHARGE COVERAGE RATIO. The Company will, as of the last 

day of each fiscal quarter of the Company, maintain a ratio of (i) the amount 

(if any) by which (a) Consolidated EBITDA for the four fiscal quarters then 

ended exceeds (b) the sum of (1) Consolidated Capital Expenditures for the same 

such period of four fiscal quarters and (2) interest income of the Company and 

its Subsidiaries for the same period, all as computed on a consolidated basis in 

accordance with GAAP, to (ii) the sum of (x) Interest Expense for the same 

period of four fiscal quarters and (y) Current Debt Maturities during the same 

period of not less than 1.25 to 1.0. 

 

  SECTION 7.10. LIENS. The Company shall not, nor shall it permit any Subsidiary 

to, create, incur or permit to exist any Lien of any kind on any Property owned 

by the Company or any Subsidiary; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that this Section shall not 

apply to nor operate to prevent: 

 

            (a) Liens arising by statute in connection with worker's 

      compensation, unemployment insurance, old age benefits, social security 

      obligations, taxes, assessments, statutory obligations or other similar 

      charges, good faith cash deposits in connection with tenders, contracts or 

      leases to which the Company or any Subsidiary is a party or other cash 

      deposits required to be made in the ordinary course of business, provided 

      in each case that the obligation is not for borrowed money and that the 

      obligation secured is not overdue or, if overdue, is being contested in 

      good faith by appropriate proceedings which prevent enforcement of the 

      matter under contest and adequate reserves have been established therefor; 

 

            (b) mechanics', workmen's, materialmen's, landlords', carriers', or 

      other similar Liens arising in the ordinary course of business with 

      respect to obligations which are not due or which are being contested in 

      good faith by appropriate proceedings which prevent enforcement of the 

      matter under contest; 

 

            (c) the pledge of assets for the purpose of securing an appeal, stay 

      or discharge in the course of any legal proceeding, provided that the 

      aggregate amount of liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries 

      secured by a pledge of assets permitted under this subsection, including 

      interest and penalties thereon, if any, shall not be in excess of 

      $5,000,000 at any one time outstanding; 

 

            (d) Liens on property of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries 

      created solely for the purpose of securing purchase money, indebtedness 

      and Capitalized Lease Obligations, representing or incurred to finance, 

      refinance or refund the purchase price of 
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     Property, provided that no such Lien shall extend to or cover other 

     Property of the Company or such Subsidiary other than the respective 

     Property so acquired, and the principal amount of indebtedness secured by 

     any such Lien shall at no time exceed the original purchase price of such 

     Property; and 

 

            (e) Liens on property of the Company securing currently outstanding 

      obligations of the Company in respect of those certain Town of Blue 

      Mountain, Mississippi Variable/Fixed Rate $2,500,000 Industrial 

      Development Revenue Bonds dated October 1, 1988. 

 

  SECTION 7.11. ACQUISITIONS, INVESTMENTS, LOANS, ADVANCES AND GUARANTIEs. The 

Company shall not, nor shall it permit any Subsidiary to, directly or 

indirectly, make, retain or have outstanding any investments (whether through 

purchase of stock or obligations or otherwise) in, or loans or advances (other 

than for travel advances and other similar cash advances made to employees in 

the ordinary course of business) to, any other Person, or be or become liable as 

endorser, guarantor, surety or otherwise for any debt, obligation or undertaking 

of any other Person, or otherwise agree to provide funds for payment of the 

obligations of another, or supply funds thereto or invest therein or otherwise 

assure a creditor of another against loss, or apply for or become liable to the 

issuer of a letter of credit which supports an obligation of another, or 

subordinate any claim or demand it may have to the claim or demand of any other 

Person; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the foregoing provisions shall not apply to nor 

operate to prevent: 

 

            (a) investments in direct obligations of the United States of 

      America or of any agency or instrumentality thereof whose obligations 

      constitute full faith and credit obligations of the United States of 

      America, provided that any such obligations shall mature within one year 

      of the date of issuance thereof; 

 

            (b) investments in commercial paper rated at least P-1 by Moody's 

      Investors Services, Inc. and at least A-1 by Standard & Poor's Corporation 

      maturing within 270 days of the date of issuance thereof; 

 

            (c) investments in certificates of deposit issued by any United 

      States commercial bank having capital and surplus of not less than 

      $100,000,000 which have a maturity of one year or less; 

 

            (d) endorsement of items for deposit or collection of commercial 

      paper received in the ordinary course of business; 

 

            (e) equity investments in Subsidiaries; 

 

            (f) the Guaranties, the Letters of Credit, the Blue Mountain L/C and 

      the obligations of any Guarantor under Section 9 hereof; 

 

            (g) acquisitions of all or any substantial part of the assets or 

      business of any other Person or division thereof engaged in the same or 

      any related business, or of a majority of the voting stock of such a 

      Person, provided that (i) no Default or Event of  
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     Default exists or would exist after giving effect to such acquisition, (ii) 

     the board of directors or other governing body of such Person whose 

     Property, or voting stock or other interests in which, are being so 

     acquired has approved the terms of such acquisition, (iii) the Company 

     shall have delivered to the Bank an updated Schedule 5.3 hereof to reflect 

     any new Subsidiary resulting from such acquisition and (iv) the sum of (1) 

     the aggregate amount expended by the Company and its Subsidiaries as 

     consideration for such acquisition (and in any event (x) including as such 

     consideration, any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money assumed or incurred as a 

     result of such acquisition, and (y) excluding as such consideration, any 

     equity securities issued by the Company as consideration for such 

     acquisition) and (2) the aggregate amount expended as consideration 

     (including Indebtedness for Borrowed Money and excluding equity securities 

     as aforesaid) for all other acquisitions permitted under this Section 

     7.11(g) after the date hereof on a cumulative basis and (3) the aggregate 

     amount of investments, loans, advances and guaranties then permitted solely 

     by Section 7.11(h) below does not then exceed an amount equal to 15% of 

     Tangible Net Worth as then determined and computed; and 

 

          (h) investments, loans, advances and guaranties (but not acquisitions) 

     not otherwise permitted by this Section 7.11, provided that the aggregate 

     amount of all such investments, loans, advances and guaranties permitted by 

     this Section 7.11(h), when taken together with the aggregate amount 

     expended (determined as aforesaid) for acquisitions during the same 

     calendar year for which the determination of compliance with this Section 

     7.11(h) is being made, does not then exceed an amount equal to 15% of 

     Tangible Net Worth as then determined and computed. 

 

In determining the amount of investments, acquisitions, loans, advances and 

guarantees permitted under this Section, investments and acquisitions shall 

always be taken at the original cost thereof (regardless of any subsequent 

appreciation or depreciation therein), loans and advances shall be taken at the 

principal amount thereof then remaining unpaid, and guarantees shall be taken at 

the amount of obligations guaranteed thereby. 

 

  SECTION 7.12. MERGERS, CONSOLIDATIONS AND SALES. The Company shall not, nor 

shall it permit any Subsidiary to, be a party to any merger or consolidation, or 

sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of all or any substantial part of its 

Property (excluding any disposition of Property as part of a sale and leaseback 

transaction) or in any event sell or discount (with or without recourse) any of 

its notes or accounts receivable; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that this Section shall not 

apply to nor prohibit: 

 

            (a) the merger or consolidation of any Subsidiary with or into the 

      Company or any other Subsidiary (including any corporation which, after 

      giving effect to such transaction, will become a Subsidiary) so long as in 

      any merger or consolidation involving the Company, the Company shall be 

      the surviving or continuing corporation and in any merger or consolidation 

      not involving the Company, a Subsidiary shall be the surviving or 

      continuing corporation; 

 

            (b) the merger or consolidation of the Company with or into any 

      other corporation if the Company shall be the surviving or continuing 

      corporation and at the 
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      time of such consolidation or merger and after giving effect thereto no 

      Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing; and 

 

            (c) the sale, lease or other disposition by any Subsidiary of all or 

      any substantial part of its assets to the Company or any other Subsidiary. 

 

The term "SUBSTANTIAL" as used herein shall mean the sale, transfer, lease or 

other disposition of 20% of the total assets of the Company. 

 

  SECTION 7.13. MAINTENANCE OF SUBSIDIARIES. The Company shall not assign, sell 

or transfer, or permit any Subsidiary to issue, assign, sell or transfer, any 

shares of capital stock of a Subsidiary; PROVIDED that the foregoing shall not 

operate to prevent the issuance, sale and transfer to any person of any shares 

of capital stock of a Subsidiary solely for the purpose of qualifying, and to 

the extent legally necessary to qualify, such person as a director of such 

Subsidiary; FURTHER, PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that this Section 7.13 shall not operate 

to prevent any transaction otherwise permitted by Section 7.12 hereof. 

 

  SECTION 7.14. ERISA. The Company shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary to, 

promptly pay and discharge all obligations and liabilities arising under ERISA 

of a character which if unpaid or unperformed might result in the imposition of 

a Lien against any of its Properties. The Company shall, and shall cause each 

Subsidiary to, promptly notify the Bank of (i) the occurrence of any reportable 

event (as defined in ERISA) with respect to a Plan, (ii) receipt of any notice 

from the PBGC of its intention to seek termination of any Plan or appointment of 

a trustee therefor, (iii) its intention to terminate or withdraw from any Plan, 

and (iv) the occurrence of any event with respect to any Plan which would result 

in the incurrence by the Company or any Subsidiary of any material liability, 

fine or penalty, or any material increase in the contingent liability of the 

Company or any Subsidiary with respect to any post-retirement Welfare Plan 

benefit. 

 

  SECTION 7.15. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. The Company shall, and shall cause each 

Subsidiary to, comply in all respects with the requirements of all federal, 

state and local laws, rules, regulations, ordinances and orders applicable to or 

pertaining to their Properties or business operations, non-compliance with which 

could have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, Properties, 

business or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or 

could result in a Lien upon any of their Property, which Lien is not otherwise 

permitted by Section 7.9 hereof. 

 

  SECTION 7.16. BURDENSOME CONTRACTS WITH AFFILIATES. The Company shall not, nor 

shall it permit any Subsidiary to, enter into any contract, agreement or 

business arrangement with any of its Affiliates (other than with Wholly-Owned 

Subsidiaries) on terms and conditions which are less favorable to the Company or 

such Subsidiary than would be usual and customary in similar contracts, 

agreements or business arrangements between Persons not affiliated with each 

other. 

 

  SECTION 7.17. CHANGE IN THE NATURE OF BUSINESS. The Company shall not, and 

shall not permit any Subsidiary to, engage in any business or activity if, as a 

result, the general nature of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, 

taken as a whole, would be changed in any 
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material respect from the general nature of the business engaged in by the 

Company and its Subsidiaries on the date of this Agreement. 

 

  SECTION 7.18. FORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES. In the event any Subsidiary is formed 

or acquired after the date hereof, the Company shall within thirty (30) Business 

Days thereof (x) furnish an update to Schedule 5.2 hereof to reflect such new 

Subsidiary and (y) cause, if such newly-formed or acquired Subsidiary is a 

Domestic Subsidiary, such Domestic Subsidiary to execute a Guaranty as the Bank 

may require, together with documentation (including a legal opinion) similar to 

that described in Section 6.2(c) hereof relating to the authorization for, 

execution and delivery of, and validity of such Subsidiary's obligations as a 

Guarantor hereunder and under its Guaranty in form and substance satisfactory to 

the Bank other instruments, documents, certificates and opinions as are 

reasonably required by the Bank in connection therewith. 

 

  SECTION 7.19. YEAR 2000 ASSESSMENT. The Company shall take all actions 

necessary and commit adequate resources to assure that its computer-based and 

other systems (and those of all Subsidiaries) are able to effectively process 

dates, including dates before, on and after January 1, 2000, without 

experiencing any Year 2000 Problem that could cause a material adverse effect on 

the business or financial affairs of the Company (or of the Company and its 

Subsidiaries taken on a consolidated basis). At the request of the Bank, the 

Company will provide the Bank with written assurances and substantiations 

(including, but not limited to, the results of internal or external audit 

reports prepared in the ordinary course of business) reasonably acceptable to 

the Bank as to the capability of the Company and its Subsidiaries to conduct its 

and their businesses and operations before, on and after January 1, 2000, 

without experiencing a Year 2000 Problem causing a material adverse effect on 

the business or financial affairs of the Company (or of the Company and its 

Subsidiaries taken on a consolidated basis). 

 

SECTION 8.     EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES. 

 

   SECTION 8.1.  EVENTS OF  DEFAULT.  Any one or more of the  following  shall 

constitute an "EVENT OF DEFAULT" hereunder: 

 

            (a) default for a period of five days in the payment when due of all 

      or any part of the principal of or interest on any Note (whether at the 

      stated maturity thereof or at any other time provided for in this 

      Agreement) or of any fee or other Obligation payable by the Company 

      hereunder; or 

 

            (b) default in the observance or performance of any covenant set 

      forth in Sections 7.10, 7.11, 7.12, or 7.13 hereof, or 

 

            (c) default in the observance or performance of any covenant set 

      forth in Sections 7.6, 7.7, 7.8, 7.9, 7.11, 7.12 or 7.13 hereof which is 

      not remedied within five days after the earlier of (i) the date on which 

      such failure shall first become known to any officer of the Company or 

      (ii) written notice thereof is given to the Company by the Bank; or 
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            (d) default in the observance or performance of any other provision 

      hereof which is not remedied within thirty (30) days after the earlier of 

      (i) the date on which such failure shall first become known to any officer 

      of the Company or (ii) written notice thereof is given to the Company by 

      the Bank; or 

 

            (e) any representation or warranty made by the Company herein or in 

      any statement or certificate furnished by it pursuant hereto, or in 

      connection with any Loan made hereunder, proves untrue in any material 

      respect as of the date of the issuance or making thereof; or 

 

            (f) default shall occur under any evidence of Indebtedness for 

      Borrowed Money issued, assumed or guaranteed by the Company or (subject to 

      Section 8.5 hereof) any Subsidiary aggregating in excess of $1,000,000 or 

      under any indenture, agreement or other instrument under which the same 

      may be issued, and such default shall continue unwaived for a period of 

      time sufficient to permit the acceleration of the maturity of any such 

      Indebtedness for Borrowed Money (whether or not such maturity is in fact 

      accelerated) or any such Indebtedness for Borrowed Money shall not be paid 

      when due (whether by lapse of time, acceleration or otherwise); or 

 

            (g) any judgment or judgments, writ or writs, or warrant or warrants 

      of attachment, or any similar process or processes in an aggregate amount 

      in excess of $1,000,000 shall be entered or filed against the Company or 

      (subject to Section 8.5 hereof) any Subsidiary or against any of their 

      Property and which remains unvacated, unbonded, unstayed or unsatisfied 

      for a period of thirty (30) days; or 

 

            (h) the Company or any member of its Controlled Group shall fail to 

      pay when due an amount or amounts aggregating in excess $5,000,000 which 

      it shall have become liable to pay to the PBGC or to a Plan under Title IV 

      of ERISA; or notice of intent to terminate a Plan or Plans having 

      aggregate Unfunded Vested Liabilities in excess of $5,000,000 

      (collectively, a "MATERIAL PLAN") shall be filed under Title IV of ERISA 

      by the Company or any other member of its Controlled Group, any plan 

      administrator or any combination of the foregoing; or the PBGC shall 

      institute proceedings under Title IV of ERISA to terminate or to cause a 

      trustee to be appointed to administer any Material Plan or a proceeding 

      shall be instituted by a fiduciary of any Material Plan against the 

      Company or any member of its Controlled Group to enforce Section 515 or 

      4219(c)(5) of ERISA and such proceeding shall not have been dismissed 

      within thirty (30) days thereafter; or a condition shall exist by reason 

      of which the PBGC would be entitled to obtain a decree adjudicating that 

      any Material Plan must be terminated; or 

 

            (i) dissolution or termination of the existence of (i) the Company 

      or (ii) to the extent not otherwise permitted by Section 7.12 hereof and 

      in any event subject to Section 8.5 hereof, any Subsidiary; or 

 

            (j) the Company or (subject to Section 8.5 hereof) any Subsidiary 

      shall (i) have entered involuntarily against it an order for relief under 

      the United States 
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      Bankruptcy Code, as amended, (ii) not pay, or admit in writing its 

      inability to pay, its debts generally as they become due, (iii) make an 

      assignment for the benefit of creditors, (iv) apply for, seek, consent to, 

      or acquiesce in, the appointment of a receiver, custodian, trustee, 

      examiner, liquidator or similar official for it or any substantial part of 

      its Property, (v) institute any proceeding seeking to have entered against 

      it an order for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code, as 

      amended, to adjudicate it insolvent, or seeking dissolution, winding up, 

      liquidation, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition of it 

      or its debts under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or 

      reorganization or relief of debtors or fail to file an answer or other 

      pleading denying the material allegations of any such proceeding filed 

      against it, or (vi) fail to contest in good faith any appointment or 

      proceeding described in Section 8.1(k) hereof; or 

 

            (k) a custodian, receiver, trustee, examiner, liquidator or similar 

      official shall be appointed for the Company or (subject to Section 8.5 

      hereof) any Subsidiary or any substantial part of any of their Property, 

      or a proceeding described in Section 8.1(j)(v) shall be instituted against 

      the Company or (subject to Section 8.5 hereof) any Subsidiary, and such 

      appointment continues undischarged or such proceeding continues 

      undismissed or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days. 

 

   SECTION 8.2. NON-BANKRUPTCY DEFAULTS. When any Event of Default described in 

subsection (a) through (i), both inclusive, of Section 8.1 has occurred and is 

continuing, the Bank may, by notice to the Company, take one or more of the 

following actions: 

 

            (a) terminate the obligation of the Bank to extend any further 

      credit hereunder on the date (which may be the date thereof) stated in 

      such notice; 

 

            (b) declare the principal of and the accrued interest on the Notes 

      to be forthwith due and payable and thereupon the Notes, including both 

      principal and interest and all fees, charges and other Obligations payable 

      hereunder, shall be and become immediately due and payable without further 

      demand, presentment, protest or notice of any kind; and 

 

            (c) enforce any and all rights and remedies available to it under 

      the Loan Documents or applicable law. 

 

   SECTION 8.3. BANKRUPTCY DEFAULTS. When any Event of Default described in 

subsection (j) or (k) of Section 8.1 has occurred and is continuing, then the 

Notes, including both principal and interest, and all fees, charges and other 

Obligations payable hereunder, shall immediately become due and payable without 

presentment, demand, protest or notice of any kind, and the obligation of the 

Bank to extend further credit pursuant to any of the terms hereof shall 

immediately terminate. In addition, the Bank may exercise any and all remedies 

available to it under the Loan Documents or applicable law. 

 

   SECTION 8.4. COLLATERAL FOR UNDRAWN LETTERS OF CREDIT. When any Event of 

Default, other than an Event of Default described in subsection (j) or (k) of 

Section 8.1, has occurred and is continuing, the Company shall, upon demand of 

the Bank, and when any Event of Default 
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described in subsection (j) or (k) of Section 8.1 has occurred the Company 

shall, without notice or demand from the Bank, immediately pay to the Bank the 

full amount of each Letter of Credit then outstanding, the Company agreeing to 

immediately make such payment and acknowledging and agreeing that the Bank 

would not have an adequate remedy at law for failure of the Company to honor 

any such demand and that the Bank shall have the right to require the Company 

to specifically perform such undertaking whether or not any draws have been 

made under any such Letters of Credits. 

 

   SECTION 8.5. DEFAULTS OF INSIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES. Notwithstanding anything 

in this Agreement to the contrary, any event or occurrence of a type described 

in subsections (f), (g), (i), (j) or (k) of Section 8.1 hereof which occurs with 

respect to any Insignificant Subsidiary (collectively, "SUBSIDIARY DEFAULTS") 

shall not constitute an Event of Default under Section 8.1 hereof unless and 

until either (x) the Aggregate Cumulative Amount of Net Income attributable to 

Insignificant Subsidiaries which were the subject of Subsidiary Defaults on or 

at any time after the date hereof exceeds 15% of Net Income for the most 

recently completed fiscal year of the Company or (y) the Aggregate Cumulative 

Amount of Consolidated Total Assets attributable to such Insignificant 

Subsidiaries exceeds 15% of Consolidated Total Assets as of the close of the 

most recently completed fiscal year of the Company. 

 

SECTION 9.     THE GUARANTEES. 

 

   SECTION 9.1. THE GUARANTEES. To induce the Bank to provide the credits 

described herein and in consideration of benefits expected to accrue to each 

Guarantor by reason of the commitments and for other good and valuable 

consideration, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, each Guarantor hereby 

unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees jointly and severally to the Bank, 

and each other holder of any Obligations, the due and punctual payment of all 

present and future indebtedness of the Company evidenced by or arising out of 

the Loan Documents, including, but not limited to, the due and punctual payment 

of principal of and interest on the Notes and the due and punctual payment of 

all other Obligations now or hereafter owed by the Company under the Loan 

Documents as and when the same shall become due and payable, whether at stated 

maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, according to the terms hereof and 

thereof. In case of failure by the Company punctually to pay any indebtedness or 

other Obligations guaranteed hereby, each Guarantor hereby unconditionally 

agrees jointly and severally to make such payment or to cause such payment to be 

made punctually as and when the same shall become due and payable, whether at 

stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, and as if such payment were made 

by the Company. 

 

   SECTION 9.2. GUARANTEE UNCONDITIONAL. The obligations of each Guarantor as a 

guarantor under this Section 9 shall be unconditional and absolute and, without 

limiting the generality of the foregoing, shall not be released, discharged or 

otherwise affected by: 

 

            (a) any extension, renewal, settlement, compromise, waiver or 

      release in respect of any obligation of the Company or of any other 

      Guarantor under this Agreement or any other Loan Document or by operation 

      of law or otherwise; 
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            (b) any modification or amendment of or supplement to this Agreement 

      or any other Loan Document; 

 

            (c) any change in the corporate existence, structure or ownership 

      of, or any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or other similar 

      proceeding affecting, the Company, any other Guarantor, or any of their 

      respective assets, or any resulting release or discharge of any obligation 

      of the Company or of any other Guarantor contained in any Loan Document; 

 

            (d) the existence of any claim, set-off or other rights which the 

      Guarantor may have at any time against the Bank or any other Person, 

      whether or not arising in connection herewith; 

 

            (e) any failure to assert, or any assertion of, any claim or demand 

      or any exercise of, or failure to exercise, any rights or remedies against 

      the Company, any other Guarantor or any other Person or Property; 

 

            (f) any application of any sums by whomsoever paid or howsoever 

      realized to any obligation of the Company, regardless of what obligations 

      of the Company remain unpaid; 

 

            (g) any invalidity or unenforceability relating to or against the 

      Company or any other Guarantor for any reason of this Agreement or of any 

      other Loan Document or any provision of applicable law or regulation 

      purporting to prohibit the payment by the Company or any other Guarantor 

      of the principal of or interest on any Note or any other amount payable by 

      it under the Loan Documents; or 

 

            (h) any other act or omission to act or delay of any kind by the 

      Agent, any Bank or any other Person or any other circumstance whatsoever 

      that might, but for the provisions of this paragraph, constitute a legal 

      or equitable discharge of the obligations of the Guarantor under this 

      Section 9. 

 

   SECTION 9.3. DISCHARGE ONLY UPON PAYMENT IN FULL; REINSTATEMENT IN CERTAIN 

CIRCUMSTANCES. Each Guarantor's obligations under this Section 9 shall remain in 

full force and effect until the commitments are terminated and the principal of 

and interest on the Notes and all other amounts payable by the Company under 

this Agreement and all other Loan Documents shall have been paid in full. If at 

any time any payment of the principal of or interest on any Note or any other 

amount payable by the Company under the Loan Documents is rescinded or must be 

otherwise restored or returned upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization 

of the Company or of a Guarantor, or otherwise, each Guarantor's obligations 

under this Section 9 with respect to such payment shall be reinstated at such 

time as though such payment had become due but had not been made at such time. 
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   SECTION 9.4.  WAIVERS. 

 

     (a) GENERAL. Each Guarantor irrevocably waives acceptance hereof, 

presentment, demand, protest and any notice not provided for herein, as well as 

any requirement that at any time any action be taken by the Bank or any other 

Person against the Company, another Guarantor or any other Person. 

 

     (b) SUBROGATION AND CONTRIBUTION. Unless and until the Obligations have 

been fully paid and satisfied, each Guarantor hereby irrevocably waives any 

claim or other right it may now or hereafter acquire against the Company or any 

other Guarantor that arises from the existence, payment, performance or 

enforcement of such Guarantor's obligations under this Section 9 or any other 

Loan Document, including, without limitation, any right of subrogation, 

reimbursement, exoneration, contribution, indemnification, or any right to 

participate in any claim or remedy of the Bank or any other holder of an 

Obligation against the Company or any other Guarantor whether or not such claim, 

remedy or right arises in equity or under contract, statute or common law, 

including, without limitation, the right to take or receive from the Company or 

any other Guarantor directly or indirectly, in cash or other property or by 

set-off or in any other manner, payment or security on account of such claim or 

other right. 

 

   SECTION 9.5. LIMIT ON RECOVERY. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, 

the right to recovery of the holders of the Obligations against each Guarantor 

under this Section 9 shall not exceed $1.00 less than the amount which would 

render such Guarantor's void or voidable under applicable law, including without 

limitation fraudulent conveyance law. 

 

   SECTION 9.6. STAY OF ACCELERATION. If acceleration of the time for payment of 

any amount payable by the Company under this Agreement or any other Loan 

Document is stayed upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of the 

Company, all such amounts otherwise subject to acceleration under the terms of 

this Agreement or the other Loan Documents shall nonetheless be payable jointly 

and severally by the Guarantors hereunder forthwith on demand by the Bank. 

 

SECTION 10.    MISCELLANEOUS. 

 

  SECTION 10.1. HOLIDAYS. If any payment hereunder becomes due and payable on a 

day which is not a Business Day, the due date of such payment shall be extended 

to the next succeeding Business Day on which date such payment shall be due and 

payable. In the case of any payment of principal falling due on a day which is 

not a Business Day, interest on such principal amount shall continue to accrue 

during such extension at the rate per annum then in effect, which accrued amount 

shall be due and payable on the next scheduled date for the payment of interest. 

 

  SECTION 10.2. NO WAIVER, CUMULATIVE REMEDIES. No delay or failure on the part 

of the Bank or on the part of the holder of the Obligations in the exercise of 

any power or right shall operate as a waiver thereof or as an acquiescence in 

any default, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any power or right 

preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other 

power or right. The rights and remedies hereunder of the Bank and of the holder 

of the 
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Obligations are cumulative to, and not exclusive of, any rights or remedies 

which any of them would otherwise have. 

 

  SECTION 10.3. AMENDMENTS, ETC. No amendment, modification, termination or 

waiver of any provision of this Agreement or of any other Loan Document, nor 

consent to any departure by the Company therefrom, shall in any event be 

effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Bank. No notice 

to or demand on the Company in any case shall entitle the Company to any other 

or further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances. 

 

  SECTION 10.4. COSTS AND EXPENSES. The Company agrees to pay on demand the 

costs and expenses of the Bank in connection with the negotiation, preparation, 

execution and delivery of this Agreement, the other Loan Documents and the other 

instruments and documents to be delivered hereunder or thereunder, and in 

connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, and in 

connection with any consents hereunder or waivers or amendments hereto or 

thereto, including the reasonable fees and expenses of Messrs. Chapman and 

Cutler, counsel for the Bank, with respect to all of the foregoing (whether or 

not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated). Notwithstanding 

anything in the foregoing to the contrary, the Company shall not be liable, 

without its consent, for more than $15,000 of the legal fees of Chapman and 

Cutler, counsel to the Bank, in connection with the preparation, negotiation and 

execution of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to be delivered prior 

to the initial extension of credit hereunder. In addition, at the time of 

requesting any amendment hereof or consent or waiver hereunder, the Company must 

negotiate with the Bank a fee to the Bank for engaging in and documenting any 

such action. The Company further agrees to pay to the Bank or any other holder 

of the Obligations all costs and expenses (including court costs and reasonable 

attorneys' fees), if any, incurred or paid by the Bank or any other holder of 

the Obligations in connection with any Default or Event of Default or in 

connection with the enforcement of this Agreement or any of the other Loan 

Documents or any other instrument or document delivered hereunder or thereunder. 

The obligations of the Company under this Section shall survive the termination 

of this Agreement. 

 

  SECTION 10.5. DOCUMENTARY TAXES. The Company agrees to pay on demand any 

documentary, stamp or similar taxes payable in respect of this Agreement or any 

other Loan Document, including interest and penalties, in the event any such 

taxes are assessed, irrespective of when such assessment is made and whether or 

not any credit is then in use or available hereunder. 

 

  SECTION 10.6. SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS. All representations and warranties 

made herein or in any of the other Loan Documents or in certificates given 

pursuant hereto or thereto shall survive the execution and delivery of this 

Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and shall continue in full force and 

effect with respect to the date as of which they were made as long as any credit 

is in use or available hereunder. 

 

  SECTION 10.7. SURVIVAL OF INDEMNITIES. All indemnities and other provisions 

relative to reimbursement to the Bank of amounts sufficient to protect the yield 

of the Bank with respect to the Loans, including, but not limited to, Sections 

2.6 and 2.7 hereof, shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the 

payment of the Notes. 
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  SECTION 10.8. NOTICES. Except as otherwise specified herein, all notices 

hereunder shall be in writing (including cable, telecopy or telex) and shall be 

given to the relevant party at its address, telecopier number or telex number 

set forth below, or such other address, telecopier number or telex number as 

such party may hereafter specify by notice to the other given by United States 

certified or registered mail, by telecopy or by other telecommunication device 

capable of creating a written record of such notice and its receipt. Notices 

hereunder shall be addressed: 

 

                  To the Company at: 

 

                  Oil-Dri Corporation of America 

                  410 North Michigan Avenue 

                  Suite 400 

                  Chicago, Illinois 60611 

                  Attention:  Richard Pietrowski, Treasurer 

                  Telephone: (312) 321-1515 

                  Telecopy:  (312) 321-1271 

 

                  with a copy (in case of notices of default) to: 

 

                  Sonnenschien, Nath & Rosenthal 

                  8000 Sears Tower 

                  Chicago, Illinois 60606 

                  Attention:  Paul J. Miller, Esq. 

                  Telephone: (312) 876-8064 

                  Telecopy:  (312) 876-7934 

 

                  To the Bank at: 

 

                  Harris Trust and Savings Bank 

                  P.O. Box 755 

                  111 West Monroe Street 

                  Chicago, Illinois  60690 

                  Attention: Patrick J. McDonnell 

                  Telephone: (312) 461-5054 

                  Telecopy:  (312) 293-4856 

 

Each such notice, request or other communication shall be effective (i) if given 

by telecopier, when such telecopy is transmitted to the telecopier number 

specified in this Section and a confirmation of such telecopy has been received 

by the sender, (ii) if given by telex, when such telex is transmitted to the 

telex number specified in this Section and the answer back is received by 

sender, (iii) if given by mail, five (5) days after such communication is 

deposited in the mail, certified or registered with return receipt requested, 

addressed as aforesaid or (iv) if given by any other means, when delivered at 

the addresses specified in this Section; provided that any notice given pursuant 

to Section 1 or Section 2 hereof shall be effective only upon receipt. 
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  SECTION 10.9.  PERSONAL JURISDICTION. 

 

     (a) EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION. Except as provided in Subsection (b), the 

Company and the bank agree that all disputes between them arising out of, 

connected with, related to, or incidental to the relationship established 

between them in connection with this Agreement, and whether arising in contract, 

tort, equity, or otherwise, shall be resolved only by state or federal courts 

located in Cook County, Illinois, but each of the Company and the Bank 

acknowledge that any appeals from those courts may have to be heard by a court 

located outside of Cook County, Illinois. The Company and the Bank each waive in 

all disputes any objection that each may have to the location of the court 

considering the dispute. 

 

     (b) OTHER JURISDICTIONS. The Company agrees that the Bank shall have the 

right to proceed against the Company or its Property in a court in any location 

to enable the Bank to realize on such Property, or to enforce a judgment or 

other court order entered in favor of the Bank. The Company agrees that it shall 

not assert any permissive counterclaims in any proceeding brought in accordance 

with this provision by the Bank to realize on such Property, or to enforce a 

judgment or other court order in favor of the Bank. The Company waives any 

objection that it may have to the location of the court in which the Bank has 

commenced a proceeding described in this subsection. 

 

 SECTION 10.10. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. The Company and the Bank each waive any 

right to have a jury participate in resolving any dispute, whether sounding in 

contract, tort or otherwise, between the Bank and the Company arising out of, 

connected with, related to or incidental to the relationship established between 

them in connection with this Agreement or any other instrument, document or 

agreement executed or delivered in connection therewith or the transactions 

related thereto. The Company and the Bank each hereby agree and consent that any 

such claim, demand, action or cause of action shall be decided by court trial 

without a jury and that any of them may file an original counterpart or a copy 

of this Agreement with any court as written evidence of the consent of the 

parties hereto to the waiver of their right to trial by jury. 

 

 SECTION 10.11. CONSTRUCTION. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that this 

Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall not be construed more favorably in 

favor of one than the other based upon which party drafted the same, it being 

acknowledged that all parties hereto contributed substantially to the 

negotiation of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. 

 

 SECTION 10.12.  HEADINGS.  Section  headings  used in this  Agreement are for 

convenience  of reference  only and are not a part of this  Agreement  for any 

other purpose. 

 

 SECTION 10.13. SEVERABILITY OF PROVISIONS. Any provision of this Agreement 

which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such 

jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 

unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or 

affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other 

jurisdiction. 
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 SECTION 10.14. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, and by different parties hereto on separate counterpart signature 

pages, and all such counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute 

one and the same instrument. 

 

 SECTION 10.15. BINDING NATURE, GOVERNING LAW, ETC. This Agreement shall be 

binding upon the Company and its permitted successors and assigns, and shall 

inure to the benefit of the Bank and the benefit of its permitted successors and 

assigns, including any subsequent holder of the Obligations. This Agreement and 

the rights and duties of the parties hereto shall be governed by, and construed 

in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of Illinois without regard to 

principles of conflicts of laws. This Agreement constitutes the entire 

understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and any 

prior agreements, whether written or oral, with respect thereto are superseded 

hereby. Neither the Company nor the Bank may assign its rights hereunder without 

the written consent of the other party. 
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      Upon your acceptance hereof in the manner hereinafter set forth, this 

Agreement shall constitute a contract between us for the uses and purposes 

hereinabove set forth. 

 

      Dated as of this 29th day of January, 1999. 

 

                                       OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA 

 

 

                                       By 

                                          Name:  Michael L. Goldberg 

                                          Title: Executive Vice 

                                                 President and 

                                                 Chief Financial Officer 

 

                                       OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF GEORGIA 

 

 

                                       By 

                                          Name:  Michael L. Goldberg 

                                          Title: 

                                                 ------------------------------ 

 

                                       OIL-DRI PRODUCTION COMPANY 

 

 

                                       By 

                                          Name:  Michael L. Goldberg 

                                          Title: 

                                                 ------------------------------ 

 

                                       MOUNDS PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC 

                                          By:    Mounds Management, Inc. 

                                                 Its:  Managing Member 

 

                                               By 

                                                Name: Michael L. Goldberg 

 

                                                Title: 

                                                       ------------------------ 

 

                                       MOUNDS MANAGEMENT, INC. 

 

 

                                       By 

                                          Name:  Michael L. Goldberg 

                                          Title: 

                                                 ------------------------------ 

 

                                      -46- 

 



 93 

 

                                       BLUE MOUNTAIN PRODUCTION COMPANY 

 

 

                                       By 

                                          Name:  Michael L. Goldberg 

                                          Title: 

                                                 ------------------------------ 

 

                                       OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF NEVADA 

 

 

                                       By 

                                          Name:  Michael L. Goldberg 

                                          Title: 

                                                 ------------------------------ 

 

                                       PHOEBE PRODUCTS CO. 

 

 

                                       By 

                                          Name:  Michael L. Goldberg 

                                          Title: 

                                                 ------------------------------ 

 

 

 

      Accepted and agreed to at Chicago, Illinois as of the day and year last 

above written. 

 

                                       HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK 

 

 

                                       By 

                                          Name: 

                                                 ------------------------------ 

                                          Title: Vice President 
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                                  EXHIBIT A 

                        OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA 

                            REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE 

 

                                                             Chicago, Illinois 

$15,000,000                                                   January 29, 1999 

 

 

      On the Termination Date, for value received, the undersigned, Oil-Dri 

Corporation of America, a Delaware corporation (the "COMPANY"), hereby promises 

to pay to the order of Harris Trust and Savings Bank (the "BANK") at its office 

at 111 West Monroe Street, Chicago, Illinois, the principal sum of Fifteen 

Million and no/100 Dollars ($15,000,000), or (ii) such lesser amount as may at 

the time of the maturity hereof, whether by acceleration or otherwise, be the 

aggregate unpaid principal amount of all Loans owing from the Company to the 

Bank under the Revolving Credit provided for in the Credit Agreement hereinafter 

mentioned. 

 

      This Note evidences Loans made or to be made to the Company by the Bank 

under the Revolving Credit provided for under that certain Credit Agreement 

dated as of January 29, 1999 between the Company and the Bank (said Credit 

Agreement, as the same may be amended, modified or restated from time to time, 

being referred to herein as the "CREDIT AGREEMENT") and the Company hereby 

promises to pay interest at the office described above on such Loans evidenced 

hereby at the rates and at the times and in the manner specified therefor in the 

Credit Agreement. 

 

      Each Loan made under the Revolving Credit against this Note, any repayment 

of principal hereon, the status of each such Loan from time to time as part of 

the Domestic Rate Portion or a LIBOR Portion or an Offered Rate Portion and, in 

the case of a Fixed Rate Portion, the interest rate and Interest Period 

applicable thereto shall be endorsed by the holder hereof on a schedule to this 

Note or recorded on the books and records of the holder hereof (provided that 

such entries shall be endorsed on a schedule to this Note prior to any 

negotiation hereof). The Company agrees that in any action or proceeding 

instituted to collect or enforce collection of this Note, the entries endorsed 

on a schedule to this Note or recorded on the books and records of the holder 

hereof shall be prima facie evidence of the unpaid principal balance of this 

Note, the status of each such Loan from time to time as part of the Domestic 

Rate Portion or a LIBOR Portion or an Offered Rate Portion and, in the case of 

any Fixed Rate Portion, the interest rate and Interest Period applicable 

thereto. 

 

      This Note is issued by the Company under the terms and provisions of the 

Credit Agreement, and this Note and the holder hereof are entitled to all of the 

benefits provided for thereby or referred to therein, to which reference is 

hereby made for a statement thereof. This Note may be declared to be, or be and 

become, due prior to its expressed maturity and voluntary prepayments may be 

made hereon, all in the events, on the terms and with the effects provided in 

the Credit Agreement. All capitalized terms used herein without definition shall 

have the same meanings herein as such terms are defined in the Credit Agreement. 
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      THIS NOTE SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, AND GOVERNED BY, THE 

INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS 

OF LAWS. 

 

      The Company hereby promises to pay all costs and expenses (including 

reasonable attorneys' fees) suffered or incurred by the holder hereof in 

collecting this Note or enforcing any rights in any collateral therefor. The 

Company hereby waives presentment for payment and demand. 

 

                                       OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA 

 

                                       By 

                                          Name:  Michael L. Goldberg 

                                          Title: Executive Vice President and 

                                                 Chief Financial Officer 
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                                  EXHIBIT B 

 

                            COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE 

 

 

      This Compliance Certificate is furnished to Harris Trust and Savings Bank 

(the "BANK") pursuant to that certain Credit Agreement dated as of January 29, 

1999, by and between Oil-Dri Corporation of America (the "COMPANY") and the Bank 

(the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"). Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms used in 

this Compliance Certificate have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Credit 

Agreement. 

 

      THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY CERTIFIES THAT: 

 

             1.    I am the duly elected  _________________________________ 

      of the Company; 

 

             2. I have reviewed the terms of the Credit Agreement and I have 

      made, or have caused to be made under my supervision, a detailed review of 

      the transactions and conditions of the Company and its Subsidiaries during 

      the accounting period covered by the attached financial statements; 

 

             3. The examinations described in paragraph 2 did not disclose, and 

      I have no knowledge of, the existence of any condition or the occurrence 

      of any event which constitutes a Default or Event of Default during or at 

      the end of the accounting period covered by the attached financial 

      statements or as of the date of this Certificate, except as set forth 

      below; 

 

             4. The financial statements required by Section 7.5 of the Credit 

      Agreement and being furnished to you concurrently with this certificate 

      are, to the best of my knowledge, true, correct and complete as of the 

      dates and for the periods covered thereby; and 

 

             5. The Attachment hereto sets forth financial data and computations 

      evidencing the Company's compliance with certain covenants of the Credit 

      Agreement, all of which data and computations are, to the best of my 

      knowledge, true, complete and correct and have been made in accordance 

      with the relevant Sections of the Credit Agreement. 

 

      Described below are the exceptions, if any, to paragraph 3 by listing, in 

detail, the nature of the condition or event, the period during which it has 

existed and the action which the Company has taken, is taking, or proposes to 

take with respect to each such condition or event: 

 

      ----------------------------------------------------------------------    

      ----------------------------------------------------------------------    

      ----------------------------------------------------------------------    

      ----------------------------------------------------------------------    
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      The foregoing certifications, together with the computations set forth in 

the Attachment hereto and the financial statements delivered with this 

Certificate in support hereof, are made and delivered this _________ day of 

__________________ 19___. 

 

 

                                         ------------------------------------ 

                                         ------------------, ---------------- 

                                           (Type or Print Name) 

                                          (Title) 
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                     ATTACHMENT TO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE 

                        OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA 

 

                 Compliance Calculations for Credit Agreement 

                         Dated as of January 29, 1999 

                   Calculations as of _____________, 19___ 

 

=========================================================================== 

 

                                                              

A.    TANGIBLE NET WORTH (SECTION 7.7) 

 

      1.    Total shareholder's equity                           ------------- 

            Less 

 

            (a)   Notes receivable       ------------- 

            (b)   Intangible assets      ------------- 

            (c)   Write-up of assets 

                  above cost             ------------- 

 

      2. Line 1 minus Lines (a), (b) and (c) 

            ("TANGIBLE NET WORTH")                               ------------- 

 

      3.    Positive Net Income for Each 

            Year Ended 7/31/99 or Later                          ------------- 

 

 

      4.    40% of Line 3                                        ------------- 

 

      5.    As listed in Section 7.7, for 

            the date of this Certificate, 

            Tangible Net Worth must not 

            be less than $__________ 

            ($50,000,000 plus Line 4) 

 

      6. Company is in compliance? (Circle yes or no)             Yes/No 

                                                                 --------- 

  

B.    DEBT TO EARNINGS RATIO (SECTION 7.8) 

 

      1.    Consolidated Total Debt 

            for Borrowed Money as defined                        ------------- 

 

      2.    Net Income                   ------------- 

 

      3.    (a) Interest Expense         ------------- 

            (b) Federal, state and local    

                taxes                    ------------- 

            (c) Depreciation of fixed 

                assets and amortization 

                of intangibles           ------------- 

 

      4.    Sum of Lines 2 and 3(a), (b) and (c) 

            ("CONSOLIDATED EBITDA")                              ------------- 
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      5.    Ratio of Consolidated Total 

            Debt for Money Borrowed 

            (Line 1) to Consolidated EBITDA 

            (Line 4) ("DEBT TO EARNINGS RATIO")                  ------------- 

 

      6.    As listed in Section 7.8, for 

            the date of this Certificate, 

            the Debt to Earnings Ratio shall 

            not be greater than                                   3.5:1  

                                                                 ------------- 

      7. Company is in compliance? 

            (Circle yes or no)                                    Yes/No 

                                                                 ------------- 

 

C.             FIXED CHARGE COVERAGE RATIO (SECTION 7.9) 

 

      1.    Consolidated EBITDA 

            (Line B4 above)              ------------- 

 

      2.    Consolidated Capital 

            Expenditures as defined      ------------- 

 

      3.    Interest income              ------------- 

 

      4.    Sum of Lines 

            C2 and C3                    ------------- 

 

      5.    Line C1 minus C4             ------------- 

 

      6.    Interest Expense 

            as defined                   ------------- 

 

      7.    Current Debt Maturities 

            as defined                   ------------- 

 

      8.    Sum of Lines C6 and C7       ------------- 

 

      9.    Ratio of Line C5 to Line C8  ------------- 

 

      10.   As listed in Section 7.9; 

            for the date of this 

            Certificate, the Line 9 

            ratio shall not be less than                         ------------- 

 

      11. Company is in compliance? 

          (Circle Yes or No)                                      YES/NO 

                                                                 ------------- 
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                                  EXHIBIT C 

 

 

 

                              GUARANTY AGREEMENT 

 

                                                     ----------, 19--- 

 

Harris Trust and Savings Bank 

111 West Monroe Street 

Chicago, Illinois  60603 

 

Dear Sirs: 

 

      Reference is made to the Credit Agreement, dated as of January 29, 1999 

(the "CREDIT AGREEMENT") between Oil-Dri Corporation and Harris Trust and 

Savings Bank. Capitalized terms used and not defined herein have the meanings 

assigned to them in the Credit Agreement. 

 

      The undersigned, [name of Guarantor], a [jurisdiction of incorporation] 

corporation, hereby elects to be a "GUARANTOR" for all purposes of the Credit 

Agreement, effective from the date hereof and the undersigned hereby agrees to 

perform all the obligations of a Guarantor under, and to be bound in all 

respects by the terms of, the Credit Agreement, including without limitation 

Sections 2.6, 9 and 12.15 thereof, as if the undersigned were a direct signatory 

party thereto. 

 

      The undersigned confirms that (i) it is a Domestic Subsidiary of the 

Company, (ii) the execution, delivery and performance by it of this Guaranty is 

within its corporate powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary 

corporate action, requires no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any 

governmental body, agency or official and do not contravene, or constitute a 

default under, any provision of applicable law or regulation or of its charter 

or by-laws or of any agreement or instrument to which the Company or the 

undersigned is a party or is subject, or by which the Company or the 

undersigned, or the Company's or the undersigned's property, is bound, or of any 

judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon it or 

result in the creation or imposition of any lien on any asset of the Company or 

any of its Subsidiaries and (iii) the representations and warranties set forth 

in Section 5 of the Credit Agreement are true and correct as to the undersigned 

and its subsidiaries as of the date hereof. 
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      This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the 

internal laws of the State of Illinois. 

 

                                       Very truly yours, 

 

                                       [NAME OF GUARANTOR] 

 

 

 

                                       By 

                                          Name:   

                                                 ------------------------------ 

                                          Title:  

                                                 ------------------------------ 
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                                 SCHEDULE 4.1 

                          EXISTING LETTERS OF CREDIT 

 

 

                   L/C                      FACE     

   ISSUE DATE     NUMBER    TYPE            AMOUNT           BENEFICIARY 

                                              

- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Renew 07/30/98   33547     Special        $ 78,000   Transport Insurance Company 

                           Purpose 

- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Renew 05/07/98   30710     Special        $100,000   AETNA Casualty 

                           Purpose 

- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Renew 06/30/98   34046     Special        $ 45,325   Travelers Insurance 

                           Purpose 

- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Renew 08/01/98   349520    Special        $100,000   St. Paul Fire & Marine 

                           Purpose 
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                                 SCHEDULE 5.2 

 

                                 SUBSIDIARIES 

 

                         JURISDICTION OF     PERCENTAGE 

        NAME              INCORPORATION      OWNERSHIP          TYPE 

                                                     

 

Oil-Dri Corporation of 

Georgia                      Georgia            100%         Significant 

 

Oil-Dri Production         Mississippi          100%         Significant 

Company 

 

Mounds Investment,           Delaware           100%        Insignificant 

Inc. (formerly 

known as Oil-Dri 

Transportation Co.) 

 

Oil-Dri (U.K.)            United Kingdom        100%        Insignificant 

Limited 

 

Phoebe Products Co.          Delaware           100%        Insignificant 

 

Oil-Dri Corporation           Nevada            100%       Insignificant; 

of Nevada                                                     Inactive 

 

ODC Acquisition Co.          Illinois           100%       Insignificant; 

                                                              Inactive 

 

Oil-Dri S.A.               Switzerland          100%        Insignificant 

 

Favorite Products             Canada            100%        Insignificant 

Company, Ltd.                               (by Oil-Dri 

                                               S.A.) 

 

Blue Mountain              Mississippi          100%        Insignificant 

Production Company                          (by Favorite 

                                              Products) 

 

Ochlocknee Holding            Spain             100%        Insignificant 

Co., S.A. 

 

Ochlocknee Mining             Spain             100%        Insignificant 

Co., S.A. 
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Mounds Production            Illinois         80% (by       Insignificant 

Company, LLC                                  Mounds 

                                            Management, 

                                           Inc.) and 20% 

                                              (by Blue 

                                              Mountain 

                                             Production 

                                              Company) 
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                PROCEDURES LETTER-FLOATING AND FIXED RATE LOANS                 

 

 

 

 

Harris Trust and Savings Bank 

111 West Monroe Street 

Chicago, Illinois 60690 

 

Gentlemen: 

 

      Oil-Dri Corporation of America, a Delaware corporation (the "COMPANY") 

hereby requests that borrowings under its $15,000,000 line of credit granted by 

Harris Trust and Savings Bank be made and documented upon the following terms 

and conditions. 

 

      All borrowings made by us under our line of credit from you shall bear 

interest prior to maturity either (i) at a rate per annum which is equal at all 

times to the rate from time to time announced by you as your prime commercial 

rate, with any change in the interest rate on such borrowings by virtue of a 

change in such prime commercial rate to be and become effective as of and on the 

date of the relevant change in such prime commercial rate (such borrowings being 

hereinafter collectively referred to as the "FLOATING RATE Loans" and 

individually as a "FLOATING RATE LOAN") or (ii) at our request, if you so agree, 

at a short term fixed rate of interest on and subject to the terms hereinafter 

set forth (such borrowings being hereinafter collectively referred to as the 

"FIXED RATE LOANS" and individually as a "FIXED RATE LOAN"). The Floating Rate 

Loans and the Fixed Rate Loans are sometimes hereinafter collectively referred 

to as the "LOANS" and individually as a "LOAN". 

 

      You will from time to time receive telephonic requests for Fixed Rate 

Loans from any one of the persons authorized to borrow on our behalf under the 

terms of this letter, each such request to specify the amount and term of the 

requested Fixed Rate Loan. If you are willing to make a Fixed Rate Loan 

available to us for the amount and for the term requested, you shall advise the 

requesting person of the interest rate at which you are prepared to make such 

Fixed Rate Loan and if the person acting on our behalf indicates that such rate 

is acceptable, the Loan shall be deemed consummated. Each Fixed Rate Loan shall 

be in a minimum amount of $1,000,000.00 and shall mature upon demand, but prior 

to demand, shall mature on the last day of the period for which the interest 

rate applicable to such Fixed Rate Loan shall have been fixed (each such period 

being hereinafter referred to as an "INTEREST PERIOD".) We acknowledge and agree 

that you have no obligation to quote rates or to make or refund any Fixed Rate 

Loan after receiving a request therefor from us and that any Fixed Rate Loan 

made by you to us shall be subject to such other terms and conditions as are 

mutually agreed upon between you and us. 

 

 

 



 106 

 

 

 

 

      We agree that no Fixed Rate Loan may be voluntarily prepaid prior to its 

express maturity date. In the event you shall incur any loss, cost or expense 

(including, without limitation, any loss of profit and any loss, cost or expense 

incurred by reason of the liquidation or reemployment of deposits or other funds 

acquired by you to fund or maintain any Fixed Rate Loan or the relending or 

reinvesting of such deposits or amounts paid or prepaid by us) as a result of 

any payment, (whether voluntary or as a result of a demand hereunder) of a Fixed 

Rate Loan on a date other than the last day of the Interest Period applicable 

thereto, then upon your demand, we shall pay you such amounts as will reimburse 

you for such loss, cost or expense. If you make such a claim for compensation, 

you shall provide to us a certificate setting forth the amount of such loss, 

cost or expense in reasonable detail and such certificates shall be conclusive 

and binding on us as to the amount thereof except in the case of manifest error. 

 

      All borrowings made by us under our line of credit from you shall be 

payable on demand but if no demand is made, each such borrowing shall 

automatically mature (i) on the last day of the Interest Period applicable 

thereto in the case of Fixed Rate Loans and (ii) in the case of Floating Rate 

Loans, on the interest payment date next following the date the Floating Rate 

Loan is made, provided that, the Floating Rate Loans will automatically be 

refunded with new Floating Rate Loans maturing on demand but if no demand is 

made, then on the interest payment date next following the date such new 

Floating Rate Loan is made, unless the line of credit has been terminated or 

expired or you have advised us that you do not desire to effect such a renewal. 

 

      Interest on all borrowings hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a 

year of 360 days and actual days elapsed and shall be payable, in the case of 

Floating Rate Loans, on the 25th day of each month, and in the case of Fixed 

Rate Loans, on the last day of their Interest Period and, if such Interest 

Period is longer than three (3) months, every three (3) months after the Loan is 

made, and, in the case of all Loans, upon demand. 

 

      In the event that the Company fails to pay any portion of a Loan when due 

(whether by lapse of time, upon demand or otherwise), such unpaid amount shall 

thereafter bear interest, which the Company hereby promises to pay at your 

offices in Chicago, Illinois, at a rate per annum which is equal at all times to 

the greater of (i) the rate per annum determined by adding three percent (2%) to 

the rate applicable to such Loan prior to maturity or, (ii) the rate per annum 

determined by adding three percent (2%) to the rate from time to time announced 

by you as your prime commercial rate. 

 

      All borrowings hereunder shall be made against and evidenced by a 

promissory note of the Company payable to your order in the aggregate principal 

amount of $15,000,000, such note to mature upon demand, and to be otherwise in 

the form of Exhibit A attached hereto (the "NOTE"). All borrowings made 

hereunder, the status of such borrowings as Floating Rate Loans or Fixed Rate 

Loans, the rates of interest and Interest Periods applicable to Fixed Rate Loans 

and the repayment of any principal of the borrowings hereunder shall be recorded 

by you on your books and records or, at your option, endorsed on the reverse 

side of the Note or on a schedule thereto and the unpaid principal balance, 

status and interest rates at any time so recorded or endorsed shall be prima 

facie evidence in any court or other proceedings brought to enforce the Note of 

the amount remaining unpaid thereon, the interest rate applicable thereto and 

the status of Loans evidenced thereby. 
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      You agree until further notice that upon oral advice by telephone received 

by you from time to time from authorized persons listed in this letter that we 

wish to borrow money, you will, lend and deposit to our general account with 

you, known as Account Number 367-985-9 (the "ACCOUNT") such sums of money as may 

be mutually agreed upon. Each such request for a borrowing shall specify whether 

we are requesting a Floating Rate Loan or a Fixed Rate Loan. We agree to confirm 

such borrowings in writing by mailing on the same day a letter in the form 

attached hereto as Exhibit B in the case of any Floating Rate Loan and in the 

form attached hereto as Exhibit C in the case of a Fixed Rate Loan, in each case 

signed by any one of the following: Richard M. Jaffee and Daniel S. Jaffee or 

any two of Michael L. Goldberg, Joseph C. Miller, Ricahrd L. Pietrowski and 

Brian P. Curtis . It is understood, however, that pending receipt of such letter 

by you in the ordinary course of the mails, that any sums of money borrowed by 

telephone on advice of an authorized person or a person purporting to be an 

authorized person in accordance with the foregoing arrangement shall immediately 

be credited to the Account, and we shall be obligated to repay to you the sums 

so borrowed at the times and with the interest as set forth in this letter 

notwithstanding that any such borrowing is not confirmed as contemplated above. 

 

      The persons authorized to give you telephonic instructions to lend money 

and repay borrowings in accordance with the foregoing are RICHARD M. JAFFEE, 

CHAIRMAN (SINGLY, BY TELEPHONE OR IN WRITING, INCLUDING BY TELECOPY OR OTHER 

FACSIMILE MEANS); DANIEL S. JAFFEE, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

(SINGLY, BY TELEPHONE OR IN WRITING, INCLUDING BY TELECOPY OR OTHER FACSIMILE 

MEANS); *JOSEPH C. MILLER, VICE CHAIRMAN; *MICHAEL L. GOLDBERG, EXECUTIVE VICE 

PRESIDENT, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND SECRETARY; *RICHARD L. PIETROWSKI, 

TREASURER; BRIAN P. CURTIS, GENERAL COUNSEL AND ASSISTANT SECRETARY . In 

accepting telephonic advices from any of such persons in accordance with the 

terms of this Agreement, you shall be entitled to rely on advices given by any 

person purporting to be any one of such persons and shall have no liability to 

us on account of any action taken by you pursuant to such telephonic advices 

provided you have acted in good faith in connection therewith. You are, of 

course, authorized to lend money to us upon the written (including telecopies or 

other facsimile) instructions of any person and/or employees authorized to 

borrow funds by telephonic advice. 

 

      This Agreement and the arrangements and authorizations herein contemplated 

shall remain in full force and effect, and shall be applicable to any renewals 

of, or replacements or substitutions for, our present revolving line of credit 

from you, unless and until you have received written notice from the Company of 

the termination or modification of this Agreement at your office in Chicago, 

Illinois or unless and until the Company has received such a notice at its 

address as shown on your records from you; provided that no such termination or 

modification by the Company shall affect any transaction which occurred prior to 

the receipt of such notice by you nor shall any such termination or modification 

become effective without your written consent unless and until all amounts which 

shall have been borrowed hereunder shall have been repaid in full. This 

Agreement and your acceptance of this Agreement as hereinafter contemplated do 

not constitute any commitment on your part to make any credit available to the 

Company, it being understood that the making of credit available to the Company 

by you from time to time shall be under and pursuant to the line of credit 

arrangement that this Company has with you and shall be subject to the terms and 

conditions incidental to such line of credit. This Agreement and the rights and 

remedies of the parties hereto shall be governed by the laws of Illinois. 

 

*THE FOLLOWING OFFICERS AND/OR EMPLOYEES OF THE CORPORATION ARE AUTHORIZED AND 

EMPOWERED TO GIVE INSTRUCTIONS TO LEND MONEY AND REPAY BORROWINGS BY MANUAL 

SIGNATURE ONLY WITH A SIGNATURE OF ANY ONE OTHER INCLUDED. 
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      THIS PROCEDURES LETTER REPLACES THAT PROCEDURES LETTER -FLOATING AND FIXED 

RATE LOANS DATED APRIL 10, 1998 (THE "PRIOR LETTER") BETWEEN US, WHICH SHALL BE 

NULL AND VOID AFTER THE DATE HEREOF. ALL OUTSTANDING BORROWINGS UNDER THE PRIOR 

LETTER SHALL BE EVIDENCED BY THE NOTE REFERRED TO ABOVE; PROVIDED THAT NOTHING 

CONTAINED HEREIN SHALL AFFECT OUR OBLIGATION TO REPAY OUTSTANDING BORROWINGS 

UNDER THE PRIOR LETTER. 

 

      If you are in agreement with the foregoing, please sign in the appropriate 

place on the enclosed counterpart and return such counterpart to us, whereupon 

this letter shall become a binding agreement between you and us. 

 

      Dated this 29th day of January 1999. 

 

                                      Very truly yours, 

 

                                      OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA 

 

 

                                      By:  

                                          --------------------------- 

 

                                          Its:  

                                               ---------------------- 

 

 

      Accepted as of the date last above written. 

 

                                      HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK 

 

                                      By:  

                                          --------------------------- 

                                          Its Vice President 
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                                    EXHIBIT A 

 

                                    UNSECURED 

                                   DEMAND NOTE 

 

 

$15,000,000                                          January 29, 1999. 

 

 

 

      ON DEMAND, for value received, the undersigned, Oil-Dri Corporation of 

America, a Delaware corporation (the "COMPANY"), promises to pay to the order of 

HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK (the "BANK") at its offices at 111 West Monroe 

Street, Chicago, Illinois, the principal sum of Fifteen Million and 00/100 

Dollars ($15,000,000), or, if less, so much thereof as may be advanced to the 

Company hereon pursuant to the Procedures Letter hereinafter referred to. 

 

      This Note evidences both Floating Rate Loans and Fixed Rate Loans as such 

terms are defined in that certain Procedures Letter-Floating and Fixed Rate 

Loans bearing even date herewith (the "PROCEDURES LETTER") by and between the 

Company and the Bank as the same may from time to time be amended, renewed or 

extended and the Company hereby promises to pay interest on each Loan evidenced 

hereby at the rate and time specified therefor in the Procedures Letter. All 

capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the same meanings 

herein as such terms are defined in the Procedures Letter. 

 

      Each Loan made under the Procedures Letter by the Bank to the Company, any 

repayment of principal hereon, the status of each such Loan as a Floating Rate 

Loan or a Fixed Rate Loan, the interest rate and, in the case of the Fixed Rate 

Loans, the Interest Period applicable thereto shall be endorsed by the holder 

hereof on the reverse side of this Note or (so long as this Note is held by 

Harris Trust and Savings Bank) recorded on the books and records of the holder 

hereof and the Company agrees that in any action or proceeding instituted to 

collect or enforce collection of this Note, the amount so endorsed on the 

reverse side hereof or recorded on the books and records of Harris Trust and 

Savings Bank shall be prima facie evidence of all such amounts. 

 

      THIS NOTE IS ISSUED IN SUBSTITUTION OF AND REPLACEMENT FOR AND EVIDENCES 

THE INDEBTEDNESS OF THE UNDERSIGNED THAT WAS FORMERLY EVIDENCED BY THAT CERTAIN 

UNSECURED NOTE DATED APRIL 10, 1998, PAYABLE TO THE ORDER OF THE BANK IN ITS 

FACE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $20,000,000.00. 

 

      This Note and the holder hereof are entitled to all the benefits provided 

for under the Procedures Letter, to which reference is hereby made for a 

statement thereof. The Company hereby waives presentment and notice of dishonor. 

The Company agrees to pay to the holder hereof all expenses incurred or paid by 

such holder, including attorney's fees and court costs, in connection with the 

collection of this Note. It is agreed that this Note and the rights and remedies 

of the holder hereof shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the 

laws of Illinois. 

 

                                      OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA 

 

 

                                      By: 

                                          ----------------------------------- 

 

                                          Its:  

                                               ------------------------------ 

 

 



 110 

 

 

 

 

                                    EXHIBIT B 

 

                                  CONFIRMATION 

 

                              (FLOATING RATE LOAN) 

 

 

 

                                                         , 19 

                                      -------------------    --- 

 

 

Harris Trust and Savings Bank 

111 West Monroe Street 

Chicago, Illinois 

 

Attention:  Patrick J. McDonnell 111/10W 

            Facsimile (312) 461-2591 

 

Gentlemen: 

 

      This will confirm the telephone conversation Ms./Mr.___________________ 

had with your office today whereby we arranged under the Procedures Letter 

currently in effect between us for a $__________ Floating Rate Loan. We promise 

to pay such Floating Rate Loan, together with interest thereon as provided for 

in the terms of such Procedures Letter. 

 

      It is our understanding that the proceeds of this Loan have been deposited 

in our account with you, or if the foregoing Loan represents a refunding or 

extension of an outstanding Loan, you have noted the same on your books. 

 

                                      Very truly yours, 

 

                                      OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA 

 

 

                                      By:  

                                          ------------------------------------ 

 

                                          Its: 

                                               ------------------------------- 
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                                    EXHIBIT C 

 

 

                                  CONFIRMATION 

 

                                (FIXED RATE LOAN) 

 

 

 

                                                         , 19 

                                      -------------------    --- 

 

 

Harris Trust and Savings Bank 

111 West Monroe Street 

Chicago, Illinois 

 

Attention:  Patrick J. McDonnell 111/10W 

            Facsimile (312) 461-2591 

 

Gentlemen: 

 

      This will confirm the telephone conversation Ms./Mr.____________________ 

had with your office today whereby we arranged under the Procedures Letter 

currently in effect between us for a $__________ Fixed Rate Loan bearing 

interest at the rate of _____% per annum and maturing _____ days from this date. 

We promise to pay such Loan, together with interest thereon on such maturity 

date, all as provided for in the terms of the Procedures Letter. 

 

      It is our understanding that the proceeds of this Loan have been deposited 

in our account with you, or if the foregoing Loan represents a refunding or 

extension of an outstanding Loan, that the same and the new interest rate and 

maturity has been noted on your books. 

 

                                      Very truly yours, 

 

                                      OIL-DRI CORPORATION OF AMERICA 

 

 

                                      By:  

                                          ----------------------------------- 

                                                 Authorized Signature 

 

 

 


